

Diana Rodrigues Julião Licenciada em Bioquímica

The Effect of Drying Process on Undervalued Brown and Red Seaweed Species: Biochemical Characterization

Dissertação para obtenção do Grau de Mestre em Química Bioorgânica

Orientador: Carlos Manuel Lourenço Cardoso, Investigador, Instituto Português do Mar e da Atmosfera, I.P.

Elo de Ligação: Paula Cristina de Sério Branco, Professora Auxiliar com Agregação, Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia da Universidade Nova de Lisboa

Júri:

Presidente:Prof. Doutora Paula Cristina de Sério BrancoArguente:Doutora Helena Maria Gomes LourençoVogal:Doutor Carlos Manuel Lourenço Cardoso



ii

The Effect of Drying Process on Undervalued Brown and Red Seaweed Species: Biochemical Characterization Diana Julião

西

Diana Rodrigues Julião

Licenciada em Bioquímica

The Effect of Drying Process on Undervalued Brown and Red Seaweed Species: Biochemical Characterization

Dissertação para obtenção do Grau de Mestre em Química Bioorgânica

Orientador: Carlos Manuel Lourenço Cardoso, Investigador, Instituto Português do Mar e da Atmosfera, I.P.

Elo de Ligação: Paula Cristina de Sério Branco, Professora Auxiliar com Agregação, Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia da Universidade Nova de Lisboa

Júri:

Presidente: Prof. Doutora Paula Cristina de Sério Branco Arguente: Doutora Helena Maria Gomes Lourenço Vogal: Doutor Carlos Manuel Lourenço Cardoso

Dezembro 2020

The Effect of Drying Process on Undervalued Brown and Red Seaweed Species: Biochemical Characterization

Copyright© Diana Rodrigues Julião, Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia, Universidade Nova de Lisboa.

A Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia e a Universidade Nova de Lisboa têm o direito, perpétuo e sem limites geográficos, de arquivar e publicar esta dissertação através de exemplares impressos reproduzidos em papel ou de forma digital, ou por qualquer outro meio conhecido ou que venha a ser inventado, e de a divulgar através de repositórios científicos e de admitir a sua cópia e distribuição com objetivos educacionais ou de investigação, não comerciais, desde que seja dado crédito ao autor e editor.

Some of the results presented in this document were submitted to the international journal of Phycological Research for publication and are currently under revision (Annex I).

х

Acknowledgments

A realização desta Dissertação de Mestrado não teria sido possível sem a participação e o contributo direto ou indireto de várias pessoas às quais gostaria de expressar algumas palavras de agradecimento, em particular:

Um agradecimento especial ao meu orientador Dr. Carlos Cardoso, por me ter guiado e apoiado ao longo deste percurso, e pela constante partilha de conhecimento.

Aos restantes investigadores do IPMA, principalmente à Dra. Narcisa Bandarra por me ter permitido realizar a dissertação na sua divisão e à Dra. Cláudia Afonso, por ter participado e me ter auxiliado na realização deste trabalho.

Às minhas amigas Carolina, Cristiana, Jaqueline e Mafalda, pelo apoio constante, e por sempre me animarem e motivarem ao longo de todos estes anos.

Às minhas amigas e companheiras de percurso, Catarina, Cristiana, Filipa e Raquel, por compartilharem comigo as alegrias e tristezas da vida académica, tornando o difícil um pouco mais fácil, e por toda a compreensão e entreajuda.

E por fim, as meus pais, por sempre me apoiarem, e por investirem na minha formação académica.

Abstract

The effect of drying on two brown seaweed (Cystoseira abies-marina, Cystoseira humilis) and two red seaweed species (Asparagopsis armata, Asparagopsis taxiformis), collected from the Azores Archipelago, was evaluated through the study of their proximate and mineral composition, relevant biological activities, such as antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties, and significant bioactives, namely polyphenols and beta-glucans. Ash and protein content ranged from 25-56 g/100g dw and 3.5-13.1 g/100g dw, respectively. Sun-dried C. humilis had the highest moisture decrease. Concerning insoluble dietary fibre content, the genus Cystoseira presented superior concentrations (43.7-53.6 g/100g dw). Contrarily, the soluble dietary fibre content is superior in the Asparagopsis genus (8.0-13.2 g/100g dw). For the proximate composition, no significant differences were detected concerning the drying procedure. Seaweeds from the Cystoseira genus showed high polyphenol levels (176-678mg GAE/100 g dw), exceeding those determined in the Asparagopsis genus, regardless of drying process. This was partially reflected in the antioxidant activity, which showed that extracts from the Cystoseira species were often more antioxidant than those from Asparagopsis species. The influence of the drying technique upon the antioxidant activity was limited, since in many instances there was no effect. Concerning anti-inflammatory activity, in the case of shade-dried samples, C. humilis had a higher activity (>30% COX-2 inhibition) but was not rendered bioaccessible. Indeed, only A. taxiformis displayed anti-inflammatory activity in the bioaccessible fraction, leading to bioaccessibility factors in the 90-100% range. Therefore, though bioactivities were higher in the Cystoseira species, Asparagopsis species also had a positive bioactive potential. Sun-drying produced more negative effects than shade-drying, despite not being very extensive. Regarding elemental composition, iodine was present in a considerable amount in the Asparagopsis genus. Iron had high concentrations in the four species. Regarding contaminants, Cystoseira abies-marina showed high arsenic concentrations. Iodine, bromine, magnesium, and cadmium showed the highest bioaccessibility percentages.

Keywords: Asparagopsis, Cystoseira, Bioaccessibility, Antioxidant, Anti-inflammatory

Resumo

O efeito da secagem de duas algas castanhas (Cystoseira abies-marina, Cystoseira humilis) e duas algas vermelhas (Asparagopsis armata, Asparagopsis taxiformis), coletadas no Arquipélago dos Açores, foi avaliado através do estudo da sua composição proximal e mineral, atividades biológicas relevantes, como propriedades antioxidantes e anti-inflamatórias, e compostos bioativos, nomeadamente polifenóis e beta-glucanos. Obteve-se uma variação de 25-56 g/100g dw relativamente ao teor de cinza e de 3,5-13,1 g/100g dw, relativamente ao teor de proteína. C. humilis seca ao sol ficou mais seca. Quanto ao teor de fibra alimentar insolúvel, o género Cystoseira apresentou concentrações superiores (43.7-53.6 g/100g dw). Pelo contrário, o teor de fibra alimentar solúvel foi superior no género Asparagopsis (8.0-13.2 g/100g dw). O método de secagem não influiu significativamente na composição proximal. As macroalgas do género Cystoseira apresentaram um elevado teor de polifenóis (176-678mg GAE/100g dw), superando os valores obtidos para o género Asparagopsis, independentemente do processo de secagem. Isso refletiu-se parcialmente na atividade antioxidante, pois os extratos de Cystoseira eram frequentemente mais antioxidantes do que os de Asparagopsis. A influência da técnica de secagem sobre a atividade antioxidante foi limitada (em muitos casos sem efeito). Em relação à atividade anti-inflamatória, nas amostras secas à sombra, C. humilis apresentou maior atividade (>30% de inibição da COX-2), mas não se tornou bioacessível. Apenas A. taxiformis exibiu atividade anti-inflamatória na fração bioacessível, com resultados no intervalo de 90-100%. Portanto, embora as bioatividades fossem maiores nas espécies Cystoseira, as espécies Asparagopsis também apresentaram um alto potencial. A secagem ao sol produziu mais efeitos negativos do que a secagem à sombra, apesar de não serem muito significativos. Relativamente à composição elementar, observou-se um elevado teor de iodo nas Asparagopsis. O ferro apresentou elevadas concentrações nas quatro espécies. Em relação aos contaminantes, Cystoseira abies-marina apresentou altas concentrações de arsénio. Iodo, bromo, magnésio e cádmio apresentaram a maior bioacessibilidade.

Palavras-chave: Asparagopsis, Cystoseira, Bioacessibilidade, Antioxidante, Anti-inflamatória

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments	xi
Abstract	. xiii
Resumo	xv
Table of Contents	xvii
List of Figures	.xxi
List of Tables	xxv
List of Abbreviationsx	xvii
1. Introduction	1
1.1. Marine Algae	1
1.2. Marine Macroalgae (or Seaweeds)	1
1.2.1. Brown Algae (Phaeophyta)	2
1.2.2. Red Algae (Rhodophyta)	2
1.3. Studied Species	3
1.3.1. Asparagopsis taxiformis	3
1.3.2. Asparagopsis armata	4
1.3.3. Cystoseira abies-marina	4
1.3.4. Cystoseira humilis	5
1.4. Polysaccharides	5
1.5. Dietary Fibre	7
1.6. Elemental Composition	8
1.7. Antioxidant Properties	. 10
1.8. Bioaccessibility and Bioavailability	. 12
1.9. In vitro digestive model as a tool to assess bioaccessibility	. 13
1.10. Anti-inflammatory Properties	. 14
1.11. Global overview of the potential of bioactivities and applications of the stuc macroalgae	lied . 14
2. Objectives	. 17
3. Materials and Methods	. 19
3.1. Sample collection and preparation	. 19
3.2. Proximate composition	. 20

	3.2.1. Moisture and Ash content	20
	3.2.2. Protein content	21
	3.2.3. Dietary Fibre content	22
	3.2.3.1. Insoluble Dietary Fibre	23
	3.2.3.2. Soluble Dietary Fibre	23
	3.2.3.3. Total Dietary Fibre	24
	3.3. Total Polyphenol content	24
	3.3.1. Extract preparation	24
	3.3.2. Singleton and Rossi assay	25
	3.4. Antioxidant Activity	26
	3.4.1. DPPH method	26
	3.4.2. FRAP method	27
	3.4.3. ABTS method	28
	3.5. Beta-glucans (laminarin) content	29
	3.6. In vitro Digestion Model	31
	3.7. Anti-inflammatory activity	32
	3.7.1. Extract preparation for <i>in vitro</i> anti-inflammatory activity	32
	3.7.2. Cyclooxygenase (COX-2) inhibition method	33
	3.8. Mineral Composition	35
	3.8.1. Microwave-assisted acid digestion	35
	3.8.2. Elemental analysis	35
	3.8.3. Bromine and iodine analysis	36
	3.9. Statistical analysis	36
Res	ults	37
	4.1. Proximate composition	37
	4.2. Total polyphenol content	39
	4.3. Antioxidant activity	39
	4.4. Beta-glucan (laminarin) content	42
	4.5. Anti-inflammatory content	43
	4.6. Elemental Composition	43
	4.7. Bioaccessibility	45

4.

4.7.1. Anti-inflammatory activity	45
4.7.2. Elemental Composition	45
5. Discussion	47
5.1. Proximate Composition	47
5.2. Total polyphenol content	
5.3. Antioxidant Activity	50
5.4 Beta-glucan (laminarin) content	51
5.5. Anti-inflammatory activity	51
5.6. Elemental Composition	52
5.7. Bioaccessibility	54
5.7.1. Anti-inflammatory activity	54
5.7.2. Elemental Composition	55
6. Conclusions and Future Perspectives	57
7. Bibliography	59
8. Annexes	72
9. Additional Information	

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. Structure of floridoside (2-O- α -D-galactopyranosylglycerol) ¹⁶
Figure 1.2. Asparagopsis taxiformis attached to rocks. Azores Islands, Atlantic Ocean.
SeaExpert, 2019
Figure 1.3. Asparagopsis armata attached to rocks, Azores islands, Atlantic Ocean. SeaExpert,
2019
Figure 1.4. Cystoseira abies-marina attached to rocks, Azores islands, Atlantic Ocean.
SeaExpert, 20194
Figure 1.5. Cystoseira humilis, Azores islands, Atlantic Ocean. SeaExpert, 20195
Figure 1.6. Molecular structure of laminarin (or laminaran) ⁶⁶ 6
Figure 1.7. Molecular structure of fucoidan ⁶⁷
Figure 1.8. Monomeric compounds present in alginic acid ⁷⁴ 7
Figure 1.9. G-G blocks and M-M blocks (homopolymeric blocks) present in alginic acid structure.
R=H ⁷⁵ 7
Figure 1.10. Chemical structure of carrageenan ⁷⁸
Figure 1.11. Schematic representation of the calcium-induced gelation of alginate in accordance
with the "egg-box" structure ¹⁰⁰ 9
Figure 1.12. Molecules of (a) caffeic acid and (b) ferulic acid ¹²⁵ 11
Figure 1.13. Structural formulas of representative phlorotannins from marine seaweeds. (1)
phoroglucinol; (2) eckol; (3) fucodiphloroethol G; (4) phlorofucofuroeckol A; (5) 7-phloroeckol; (6)
dieckol; (7) 6,6'-bieckol ¹²¹ 12

Figure 3.1. Sun-dried and shade-dried seaweed biomass of the studied species: (A) Shade-dried Cystoseira abies-marina; (B) Sun-dried Cystoseira abies-marina; (C) Shade-dried Asparagopsis armata; (D) Sun-dried Asparagopsis armata; (E) Shade-dried Cystoseira humilis; (F) Sun-dried Cystoseira humilis; (G) Shade-dried Asparagopsis taxiformis; (H) Sun-dried Asparagopsis Figure 3.2. Greenhouse used for the sun-drying method, where seaweeds are arranged in a Figure 3.5. Crucibles with 1,000 ± 0,005g of duplicated samples of each macroalgae (sun-dried Figure 3.6. Precipitates formed after 1 hour at room temperature, for Asparagopsis taxiformis and Figure 3.7. Precipitates formed after 1 hour at room temperature, for Cystoseira abies-marina Figure 3.8. Supernatant collected from the aqueous extracts, to a final volume of 25mL. From left to right: Sun-dried Asparagopsis taxiformis; Shade-dried Asparagopsis taxiformis; Sun-dried Asparagopsis armata; Shade-dried Asparagopsis armata; Sun-dried Cystoseira humilis; Shade-

dried Cystoseira humilis; Sun-dried Cystoseira abies-marina; Shade-dried Cystoseira abiesmarina. Diana Julião, December 2019......25 Figure 3.9. Supernatant collected from the ethanolic extracts, to a final volume of 25mL. From left to right: Sun-dried Asparagopsis taxiformis; Shade-dried Asparagopsis taxiformis; Sun-dried Asparagopsis armata; Shade-dried Asparagopsis armata; Sun-dried Cystoseira humilis; Shadedried Cystoseira humilis; Sun-dried Cystoseira abies-marina; Shade-dried Cystoseira abiesmarina. Diana Julião, December 2019......25 Figure 3.10. DPPH and its stable form. In the left, 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (free radical) and Figure 3.11. Colour variation during the DPPH reaction. DPPH has a characterized violet colour (A) but when mixed with an antioxidant substance (capable of donating a hydrogen atom) Figure 3.12. Reduction of the ferric-tripyridyltriazine (FeIII-TPTZ) complex to the ferrous (FeII) form by an antioxidant¹⁸¹......27 Figure 3.13. Colour variation in the FRAP reaction. The intense blue colour means that the Fell-TPTZ complex was reduced, indicating the presence of antioxidant activity. Diana Julião, January Figure 3.14. One-electron oxidation of ABTS and the formation of cation radicals (ABTS⁺⁺)¹⁸³.29 Figure 3.15. Colour variation in the ABTS reaction. The ABTS⁺ solution exhibits a blue colour (A) and the loss of this colour indicates the presence of antioxidant agents (B). Diana Julião, January Figure 3.16. (A) Coloration of the D-glucose standard after GOPOD treatment - the pink colour in the mixture indicated the presence of D-glucose, and therefore the presence of β -glucans. (B) Figure 3.17. Final solutions of 1 mg/mL prepared from the supernatant collected from the aqueous extracts. From left to right: Shade-dried Asparagopsis taxiformis; Sun-dried Asparagopsis taxiformis; Shade-dried Asparagopsis armata; Sun-dried Asparagopsis armata; Shade-dried Cystoseira humilis; Sun-dried Cystoseira humilis; Shade-dried Cystoseira abies-Figure 3.18. Final solutions of 1 mg/mL prepared from the bioaccessible extract. From left to right: Shade-dried Asparagopsis taxiformis; Sun-dried Asparagopsis taxiformis; Shade-dried Asparagopsis armata; Sun-dried Asparagopsis armata; Shade-dried Cystoseira humilis; Sundried Cystoseira humilis; Shade-dried Cystoseira abies-marina; Sun-dried Cystoseira abies-Figure 3.19. Reaction catalysed by acetylcholinesterase. Cayman test kit-560131 (Cayman Figure 3.20. Anti-inflammatory activity test plate ready for prostaglandin reading. Diana Julião,

Figure 4.	1. Bioacces	sibility of	the anti-	-inflammatory	activity	in the	studied	seaweed	species
(Asparage	opsis armata	, Asparage	opsis tax	iformis, Cysto	oseira abi	ies-ma	r <i>ina</i> and (Cystoseira	humilis)
either sun	n-dried or drie	ed in the s	hade						45

List of Tables

Table 4.3. Antioxidant activity as measured by DPPH (mg Ascorbic Acid Equivalent/100g dw)

 method in aqueous (Aq.) and ethanolic (Eth.) extracts of the studied seaweed species

 (Asparagopsis armata, Asparagopsis taxiformis, Cystoseira abies-marina, and Cystoseira

 humilis) either sun-dried or dried in shade.

List of Abbreviations

- AA Ascorbic Acid
- ABTS 2,2'-Azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulphonic acid)
- AChE PG-acetylcholinesterase conjugate
- ARA Arachidonic Acid
- AsB Arsenobetaine
- AsIII Arsenite
- AsV Arsenate
- COX-2 Cyclooxygenase-2
- Da Dalton
- DMA Dimethylarsinic Acid
- DNA Deoxyribonucleic Acid
- **DPPH** α,α-Diphenyl-β-picrylhydrazyl
- **DW** Dry Weight
- EC European Commission
- EDTA Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
- ELISA Enzyme- Linked Immunosorbent Assay
- EU European Union
- FAAS Flame Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy
- FRAP Ferric Ion Reducing Antioxidant Power
- **GA** Gallic Acid
- **GAE** Gallic Acid Equivalents
- ICP-MS Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry
- IL Interleukin
- LDL Low-Density Lipoprotein
- **LOD** Limit Of Detection
- LPS Lipopolysaccharides
- MMA Monomethylarsonic Acid
- MRL Maximum Residue Level
- MΩ.cm Megaohms.cm
- NO Nitric Oxide
- NOS Nitric Oxide Synthase
- NSAID's Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs
- PG Prostaglandin
- PGE₂ Prostaglandin E₂
- RNA Ribonucleic Acid
- ROS Reactive Oxygen Species
- SAR Structure-Activity Relationship
- **TNF** Tumour Necrosis Factor
- TPTZ 2,4,6-Tripyridyl-s-triazine

UV – Ultraviolet
W – Watt
WHO – World Health Organization
WW – Wet Weight

1. Introduction

1.1. Marine Algae

Algae are autotrophic organisms that live in water or in moist environments. These organisms have a wide geographical distribution, being mainly abundant in rivers, seas, and lakes. They occupy the euphotic region (i.e., the upper 200 meters of water, where the light is effective to perform photosynthesis). Some algae inhabit in adverse environments and may endure extreme conditions¹.

Algae, whose habitat is in water, may be planktonic (microalgae) – have a small dimension and be suspended in water (microscopic) - or benthic (macroalgae) – be connected to a surface (typically rock) -, and reach a larger size (macroscopic), having the capacity to reach up to 50 meters in length^{1,2}.

1.2. Marine Macroalgae (or Seaweeds)

Seaweeds are autotrophic organisms that belong to the Eukaryota (or Eukarya) domain. They can be classified as Phaeophyta (brown algae), Chlorophyta (green algae) or Rhodophyta (red algae). Their classification is mainly based on their coloration, that can be explained by the expression of different pigments present in their cells, but also based in genomic analysis that justify the maintenance of the phylogenetic structure established, and their nutrient and chemical composition^{3,4}. Brown seaweeds belong to the *phylum* Heterokontophyta (or Ochrophyta) and their pigments are chlorophylls a, c and carotenoids (fucoxanthin's abundance accounts for their brown colour); green seaweeds belong to the *phylum* Chlorophyta, and their pigments are identical to the ones found in terrestrial plants (carotenoids and chlorophylls a, b); red seaweeds belong to the *phylum* Rhodophyta, and have photosynthetic pigments such as carotenoids (zeaxanthin, β -carotene, and lutein), chlorophyll a, and some phycobilins (R-phycoerythrin and R-phycocyanin)^{1,2}.

Similar to plants, seaweeds have in their composition numerous healthy compounds. The fact that they are able to produce secondary metabolites that are known for their biological activities, makes them a source of functional ingredients^{3,5}.

Marine algae are already used for the treatment of a range of health problems. For instance, brown algae may be used against arteriosclerosis, rheumatic processes, and hypertension; green algae may operate as anti-helmintics; and red algae are used as anticoagulants, anti-parasites, and against gastrointestinal problems. This is due to several substances in algae that influence human homeostasis⁶.

There are many benefits in seaweed extracts - they yield substances such as agar-agar (E406), carrageenan (E407) and alginates (E400). Such phytochemical hydrocolloid substances find application mostly due to their rheological properties, in textile, food, paper and dairy sector. They may hold highly relevant bioactive substances^{1,7,8}.

1.2.1. Brown Algae (Phaeophyta)

Brown algae (or Phaeophyta) exhibit a golden-brownish colour⁹. The division Phaeophyta is deemed to encompass 13 orders (Bold & Wynne (1985))¹⁰, yet only three orders, Laminariales, Fucales, and Dictyotales, were previously studied for their phytochemicals¹¹.

The colouring of brown algae can be explained by the importance of fucoxanthin, which overshines other pigments (*i.e.*, chlorophyll a and c and other xanthophylls), showing antioxidant, antidiabetic and anti-inflammatory activities^{11,12}. Moreover, brown algae also have other important categories of secondary metabolites including polyphloroglucinol polyphenolic compounds¹³ and non-polyphenolic, non-polar secondary metabolites such as terpenes¹⁴, besides being rich in polysaccharides such as fucoidans and laminarins, and alginates.

Sulfur-containing carbohydrates from seaweeds may also show anti-coagulant, antitumour, anti-thrombotic, and anti-viral activities. These biomolecules act in the immune and inflammatory systems, shield cells from viral infection and have anti-proliferative effects on them¹¹.

1.2.2. Red Algae (Rhodophyta)

Red algae (or Rhodophyta) encompasses 5000–6000 species of mostly multicellular organisms. Phylogenetically they are the oldest division of lower plants^{15,16}. They inhabit mainly marine environments.

A mixture of biochemical and ultrastructural features makes these algae distinct among other eukaryotic lineages. More precisely, the fact that the photosynthetic pigment is chlorophyll a, being light led to the reactive area by phycobiliproteins (phycoerythrin, allophycocyanin and phycocyanin). Pigments are involved in hemi-spherical protein complexes – phycobilisomes - attached to the surface of thylakoids^{4,15,17,18}.

Galactans are the major polysaccharides present in Rhodophyceae. While agar contain D- and L-galactose, carrageenan is composed only by D-galactose¹⁹. Agars and carrageenans are prepared industrially from algae in large quantities and are used as gelling and stabilizing agents^{20,21}. Red algal galactans often show potent antiviral, antitumor and antioxidant activities^{16,22,23}.

Taxonomically, red algae are classified into two classes: Bangiophyceae and Florideophyceae²⁴. Floridean starch isolated from the latter class, after which it is named, is a special type of starch that contains only amylopectin. Members of Bangiophyceae may, however, have both amylose and amylopectin in their starch granules²⁴.

Floridean starch hold several low-molecular glycosides, that act not only as primary photosynthetic reserve products, but also as osmoregulators. Floridoside (2-O- α -D-galactopyranosylglycerol) (Figure 1.1) may be considered the most commonly distributed substance of this group^{16,25}.





As to neutral structural polysaccharides, red algae is composed by cellulose, a linear (4)-linked-D-glucan, found in the cell walls in moderate amounts (usually less than 10%), mannans and xylans^{16,26}.

1.3. Studied Species

1.3.1. Asparagopsis taxiformis

Asparagopsis taxiformis (Delile) Trevisan de Saint-Léon, also known as Supreme Limu (Figure 1.2)²⁷, is a red seaweed, from the *phylum* Rhodophyta, *subphylum* Eurhodophytina, *class* Florideophyceae, *subclass* Rhodymeniophycidae, *order* Bonnemaisoniales and *family* Bonnemaiosoniaceae²⁸. The colour of this seaweed can vary from yellowish red to dark red. Its structure possesses a base with rigid erect branches covered in numerous soft and fuzzy branchlets that get shorter near the top. *Asparagopsis* is salted and may be eaten cooked or raw – displaying a spicy flavour and an intense odour²⁹.

Asparagopsis inhabits reefs at one metre (and more) depth. It has a wide distribution across temperate and tropical marine coastal ecosystems³⁰ – they have populations spread in Atlantic, Mediterranean, and Indo-Pacific regions³¹.

Asparagopsis species show strong antimicrobial features³¹⁻³². This genus produces a variety of biomolecules, such as acrylates and ketones, that may be bioactives^{31,32,33}. Their production is linked to the capacity of algae to avoid autotoxicity by storing them in specialized storage structures³¹.



Figure 1.2. Asparagopsis taxiformis attached to rocks. Azores Islands, Atlantic Ocean. SeaExpert, 2019.

1.3.2. Asparagopsis armata

Asparagopsis armata Harvey (Figure 1.3)², is a red seaweed from the *phylum* Rhodophyta, *subphylum* Eurhodophytina, *class* Florideophyceae, *subclass* Rhodymeniophycidae, *order* Bonnemaisoniales and *family* Bonnemaisoniaceae²⁸. *A. armata* is native to the Southern Hemisphere (Australia and New Zealand) but is also present in Northern Hemisphere. Nowadays, it has expanded almost to all marine environments. It is described as a gametophyte plant that occurs in June-September, with a pale purplish-red colour that changes to orange when the seaweed is removed from water.

A. armata extract shows antioxidant and antibacterial activities. It is used in many cosmeceuticals, presenting anti-cancer activity^{1,34,35}, and it is collected from the wild or cultivated for the extraction of hydrocolloids^{1,36}. *Asparagopsis* species are present in the Atlantic and the Pacific area, where they find dermo-cosmetical and pharmaceutical applications³⁷. The extracts of this seaweed may contain anti-parasite³⁸, antiviral^{39,40}, antimycotic³⁴, and antimicrobial^{34,41,42} compounds.



Figure 1.3. Asparagopsis armata attached to rocks, Azores islands, Atlantic Ocean. SeaExpert, 2019.

1.3.3. Cystoseira abies-marina

Cystoseira abies-marina (S.G. Gmelin) (Figure 1.4) is a brown seaweed from the *phylum* Ochrophyta, *class* Phaeophyceae, *subclass* Fucophycidae, *order* Fucales and *family* Sargassaceae²⁸.

This species has a characteristic cylindrical axle⁴³. *C. abies-marina* is mostly present in Macaronesia in areas subjected to wave energy. Its extracts display antioxidant^{44,45,46}, antimicrobial¹, and cytotoxic⁴⁴ activity.



Figure 1.4. Cystoseira abies-marina attached to rocks, Azores islands, Atlantic Ocean. SeaExpert, 2019.

1.3.4. Cystoseira humilis

Cystoseira humilis Schousboe ex Kutzing (Figure 1.5) is a brown seaweed from the *phylum* Ochrophyta, *class* Phaeophyceae, *subclass* Fucophycidae, *order* Fucales and *family* Sargassaceae²⁸. *C. humilis* is distinguished by the existence of air-vesicles.

Within the *order* Fucales, this seaweed is distinguished by its broad dispersion. It is found in the three main oceans. *C. humilis* extracts have antibacterial, antioxidant and cytotoxic activity^{47-48,149}. *C. humilis* is considered rich in biomolecules for medical, cosmeceutical and food uses⁵⁰.



Figure 1.5. Cystoseira humilis, Azores islands, Atlantic Ocean. SeaExpert, 2019.

1.4. Polysaccharides

Polysaccharides are broadly distributed in nature, where they have a role in structureforming skeletal compounds (for instance, cellulose, hemicellulose and pectin in algae and plants); storage compounds (for example, starch and dextrins in plants) and water-binding compounds (such as agar, pectin and alginate in plants)⁵¹.

Marine algae have in their constitution storage and cell wall polysaccharides. The cell wall polysaccharides mostly consist of cellulose, hemicelluloses and neutral polysaccharides⁷. Both cell wall and storage polysaccharides are species specific: brown algae contain alginic acid, laminarin (β -1,3 glucan), sargassan and fucoidan (sulphated fucose); and red algae have xylans, agars, carrageenans, floridean starch (amylopectin-like glucan) and water-soluble sulphated galactan^{7.6.8}.

Polysaccharides may demonstrate anti-tumour, antiviral and antioxidant activities. Besides that, they also show anticoagulant properties, prevent obesity and diabetes, and hypocholesterolemic action^{6,52-53}. These molecules are crucial in the food industry, regarding food texturing, and are responsible for characteristics such as viscosity and consistency, having commercial applications in food processing, both in natural and modified forms, as thickeners, stabilisers for emulsions and dispersions, emulsifiers and as coating substances to protect sensitive food from undesired change^{8,54}.

Among the great number of polysaccharides present in seaweeds, laminarin, fucoidan, alginic acid and carrageenan have stood out for their numerous applications.

Laminarin (or laminaran) (Figure 1.6) is defined as a linear water-soluble polysaccharide encompassing 20 to 25 glucose units, consisting of (1,3)- β -D-glucan with randomly intra-chain $\beta(1,6)$ branching⁵⁵. Two kinds of laminarin chains have been described: M or G. M chains terminate with a mannitol residue, while G chains terminate with a glucose residue^{11,56}. Most laminarins are considered dietary fibres⁵⁶. These polysaccharides show antibacterial, anti-tumour, anticoagulant, anticancer, and immunomodulatory activities⁵⁷.



Figure 1.6. Molecular structure of laminarin (or laminaran)⁵⁸.

Fucoidans (Figure 1.7), mostly found in brown seaweeds, are fucose-based sulfurcontaining polysaccharides, displaying different proportions of mannose, galactose, and glucose. Their constituents are linked by $\alpha(1\rightarrow 2)$ -bonds⁵⁹. Fucoidans are mainly found in *Laminariales* and *Fucales* species and constitute 25–30% of seaweed dry weight (dw)⁶⁰.

Possibly, this sulfated polysaccharide is not found in the other two main seaweed groupings. They have shown antioxidant, anticoagulant, antiallergic, anticancer, antiviral, and other activities⁶¹.



Figure 1.7. Molecular structure of fucoidan⁵⁹.

Alginic acid (or alginate) comprises a group of polysaccharides containing 1,4-linked β -D-mannuronic (i.e. M block) and α -L-guluronic acid (i.e. G block) residues (Figure 1.8). These residues are grouped at variable proportions in G-G blocks and M-M blocks (homopolymeric blocks) (Figure 1.9) and M-G blocks (heteropolymeric blocks)⁶². Mannuronic acid forms $\beta(1\rightarrow 4)$ linkages, while guluronic acid forms $\alpha(1\rightarrow 4)$ linkages. These linkages tend to create a sterical hindrance around the carboxylic acid groups⁶³. As a result, M blocks create linear domains, whereas G blocks are responsible for a more inflexible structure (folded regions)^{64,65}.

Alginate from brown seaweeds has the capacity to chelate metal ions, thereby generating viscous solutions, that are used in the food and pharmaceutical industries¹¹.



Figure 1.8. Monomeric compounds present in alginic acid⁶⁶.



Figure 1.9. G-G blocks and M-M blocks (homopolymeric blocks) present in alginic acid structure. R=H⁶⁷.

Carrageenan (Figure 1.10) comprises sulfur-containing linear galactans, present in some species of marine red algae²¹. These compounds consist of dimers of an $\alpha(1\rightarrow 4)$ -linked D-galactopyranose residue (D) or 3,6-anhydro-D-galactopyranose residue (DA) and a $\beta(1\rightarrow 3)$ -linked D-galactopyranose residue (G)⁶⁸.

They are used in the pharmaceutical and food industries, as viscosity-building, texturizing, and gel-forming ingredients⁶⁹.



Figure 1.10. Chemical structure of carrageenan⁷⁰.

1.5. Dietary Fibre

According to the European Union regulation (EU) No 1169/2011, "fibre" can be defined as carbohydrates with >3 monomeric units, that remain undigested or unabsorbed at the small intestine. Dietary fibres can have beneficial physiological effects⁷¹.

Non-digestible polysaccharides are called dietary fibre, which represents an extremely heterogeneous group of compounds. Dietary fibres have diverse formula components and structures as well as properties and bioactivities. All the compounds that belong to the dietary fibre group, except for lignin, are polysaccharides that belong to the carbohydrate group, such as

pectins, hemicelluloses, mucilages, cellulose and, in some cases, also and resistant starch and oligosaccharides⁵¹.

Usual seaweed carbohydrates remain undigested after passing through the various digestive compartment and, therefore, belong to the group of dietary fibres⁷².

Seaweeds are richer in fibre than most terrestrial vegetable foods. Seaweed fibre consumption is advisable, since it: (1) contributes to the development of the beneficial intestinal microflora⁷³⁻⁷⁴; (2) acts as an anti-hyperglycemic agent⁷⁵; and (3) decreases the risk of colon cancer⁷⁶. Edible seaweeds contain 33–62% dietary fibre (dw), being largely soluble^{8,77}.

1.6. Elemental Composition

Minerals can be defined as the constituents that remain as ash, after the combustion of plant and animal tissues.

Macroalgae are capable of accumulating essential minerals such as sodium (Na), magnesium (Mg), selenium (Se), copper (Cu), cobalt (Co), phosphorous (P), molybdenum (Mo), iodine (I), manganese (Mn), potassium (K), iron (Fe), calcium (Ca) and zinc (Zn)⁷⁸. All these minerals, that are essential for human nutrition, are available in dietary seaweeds – they can offer minerals frequently absent from freshwater and plants/vegetables that grow in soils with a low mineral content.

As for human health maintenance, I as a role in growth and development, since it is involved in the production of thyroid hormones⁷⁹. Fe and Mn are part of various metabolic processes⁸⁰. Similarly, Cu is vital for skin strength, and for upkeep of blood vessels, epithelial and connective tissues, as it is a part of many enzymes. Besides that, it is involved in haemoglobin, myelin and melanin synthesis^{81,82}. Br has important functions in the formation of collagen IV and in the activation of α -amylase in saliva. Zn is also vital for growth and development, besides regulating immune response^{80,81}.

As for plant and algal cells, Fe is important in plant metabolism as it is required in photosynthesis and chlorophyll synthesis⁸³. Cu is required for photosynthetic electron transport, mitochondrial respiration and oxidative stress responses^{84,85}. Zn is an enzyme cofactor and as an important role in proteins that control DNA expression⁸⁶.

The mineral uptake process of macroalgae is dependent upon the content and/or type of polysaccharides in the cell wall. Brown algae has a high capacity for mineral uptake⁸⁷. This as to do with the fact that the polysaccharides in their cell wall are mostly composed of alginates and sulphated polysaccharides. Alginates gel if in presence of multivalent cations. The propensity of alginates to bind divalent cations - Cd²⁺, Co²⁺, Cu²⁺, Fe²⁺, Ni²⁺, Pb²⁺, Zn²⁺, Ca²⁺ - augments with the guluronic acid level (G content)⁸⁸. The "zigzag" structure⁸⁹ – "egg-box" structure (Figure 1.11) – explains the enhanced affinity of polyguluronic acid residues toward divalent ions. This structure has the capacity to accommodate Ca²⁺ (and other cations) more easily.


Figure 1.11. Schematic representation of the calcium-induced gelation of alginate in accordance with the "egg-box" structure⁹⁰.

It is considered that alginates create a well-organised solution network, in the presence of Ca²⁺, or other cations, through the dimerization of the polyguluronic sequences (GG blocks). This polyguluronic sections allow for the connection of chains, on coordination sites, that form cavities, where the cations can be accommodated^{91,92}. Since different algae species have in their structure alginates with different M and G contents, the physico-chemical properties of alginates can vary significantly. Alginates with a higher GG concentration have the capacity to form stronger gels. The specific affinity for divalent metal ions and the respective gelling ability have been claimed to augment as follows: MM block<MG block<GG block^{59,63,90}.

Likewise, agar and carrageenan, found in the cell walls of red algae, can establish a connection with cations through their hydroxyl and sulfate anionic groups and therefore accumulate them, though not so effective as alginates and other polysaccharides⁹³.

Due to macroalgae strong bioadsorptive abilities, elemental concentrations can reach values 10-100 times higher than those of terrestrial plants. There is a wider range in elemental content, not observed in edible terrestrial plants, that may be linked to variables such as seaweed phylum, locations, time of harvest, and environmental variability⁹⁴.

Regarding Na and K, most algae present higher concentrations when compared to vegetables. Despite that, they usually show low Na/K ratios – this low ratios are of great importance regarding heart and cardiovascular system, because low Na/K ratios are recognized as reductors of blood pressure⁹⁵. However, very substantial concentrations of Na are still considered a major shortcoming regarding macroalgae as food, since Na intake is already high in many developed and developing countries^{82,96}. Ca and P, alongside Mg, are also present in high concentrations in seaweed, surpassing values obtained for fruits and vegetables. P is found at the same levels in the major seaweed groupings, presenting contents that are in the 0.5-7 g/kg dw range⁸². Seaweeds, especially brown algae, can also accumulate high levels of I. The introduction of macroalgae in diet may be a major route to guarantee the recommended I intake every day. An upper limit for I intake of 600 µg/day in the case of adults and of 200 µg/day for children of 1-3 years has been set⁹⁷. The seaweed consumption must follow the limit recommendations, since the consumption of more than the upper limit of 600 µg/day (adults) and 200 µg/day (small infants) may cause poisoning effects that have been related to the health complications such as thyroid cancer, hyperthyroidism or hypothyroidism⁸⁰.

In addition, macroalgae may also store hazardous elements in their tissues, namely, arsenic (As) and antimony (Sb), cadmium (Cd), mercury (Hg), lead (Pb), tin (Sn), aluminium (Al), and strontium (Sr).

In European countries, according to the European Commission Regulation (EC) No 396/2005, for Hg, a maximum residue level (MRL) for seaweed is set at 0.01 mg/kg⁹⁷. The Regulation EC No 629/2008 of the European Commission, which was established for food supplements whose formulation is only or mainly constituted by dried macroalgae or macroalgae-derived products, set a maximum level of Cd allowed of less than 3 mg/kg dw⁹⁷. This authority (EC No. 744/2012) has also set the maximum arsenic content in complementary feed and/or a feed meal at 40 and 10 mg/kg (presupposing 12% humidity), respectively, and the maximum Pb levels of 15 mg/kg (12% humidity) for phosphates and calcareous marine algae⁹⁸.

As and Sb constitute a major contamination problem in macroalgae. Even though antimony, when compared to arsenic, is less abundant in nature, their chemistry and toxicity are similar⁹⁹. Arsenic can occur in four oxidation states - As(V), As(III), As(0), and As(-III) -, that are organic or inorganic. In seaweed, organic As is mainly found as arsenosugars, but also as methyl forms [monomethylarsonic acid (MMA), dimethylarsinic acid (DMA), and arsenobetaine (AsB)], whereas the inorganic As is mainly found as arsenate (As(V)) and arsenite (As(III))¹⁰⁰. Organic As shows almost no toxicity, whereas inorganic As is hazardous. It is linked to various diseases, encompassing the cardiovascular system and cancer^{100,101}. The toxicity of arsenic compounds is shown to be reliant on factors such as oxidation number, particle size physical state, and rate of absorption into cells¹⁰². Usually a high toxicity is associated with the low oxidation number while high methylation is associated with a low toxicity. The decreasing toxicity order can therefore be presented as: arsenite > arsenate > monomethylarsonic acid > dimethylarsinic acid¹⁰⁰. Cd, Hg, and Pb are also metals known for their harmful effects upon human health. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), Cd exposure may disturb calcium metabolism and lead to cancer¹⁰³. Hg exposure can disturb the neuronal function, leading to numerous diseases at the immune, gastrointestinal, and nervous level¹⁰⁴. Pb exposure is not as harmful as Cd and Hg, despite binding easily to proteins and can consequently lead to enzymatic breakdown and also disturb neuronal function, mostly of small children⁸².

1.7. Antioxidant Properties

An antioxidant is a compound that is able to give an electron to a highly reactive radical and eliminate it, therefore limiting its ability to cause cellular harm. These antioxidants are capable of interacting with free radicals, thus terminating their chain reactions (free radicals scavenging property) and protecting vital molecules. Some antioxidants result from the organism's metabolic activity, such as glutathione and ubiquinol, while other antioxidants, for instance, ascorbic acid and β -carotene, can be attained from the diet^{105,106}.

Antioxidant properties are determined by the capacity of a bioactive molecule to protect an organism from damage caused by free radicals. The fact that free radicals are able to operate as oxidants and reductants makes them very reactive and unstable¹⁰⁵. Oxygen-based free radicals – Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) – comprise the superoxide radical (O₂[•]), hydroxyl radical (•OH), peroxyl radical (ROO[•]), and nitric oxide radical (NO[•])^{107,108}. Consequently, too much ROS may trigger negative effects as their toxicity makes them capable of oxidizing biologically relevant molecules (*i.e.*, lipids, proteins, enzymes, DNA and RNA), causing an extensive oxidative damage on cells and tissues^{105,108}. This oxidative damage is connected with a variety of chronic diseases in humans, related to aging, carcinogenesis and atherosclerosis, including myocardial infarction, cancer, diabetes, as well as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases^{108,109}.

It should be noted that seaweeds hardly show serious photodynamic damage during metabolism despite growing in harsh environments, under sunlight and high oxygen levels that may generate ROS, this proves that defence systems and substances are available to seaweeds – they can produce bioactive compounds to defend themselves against external factors¹⁰⁹⁻¹¹⁰.

Phenolic compounds impart the most antioxidant properties to plants, including seaweeds, as their antioxidant activity is mainly manifested through a sub-class of this phenolic compounds, denominated phlorotannins¹¹¹. The capacity of these compounds to inactivate free radicals is justified by its structure-activity relationship (SAR). Hence, there are differences between the antioxidant properties of different phenolic molecules that are ascribable to their specific SAR¹¹². This group of compounds is central in plant and algae defence as they are involved in systems that fight bacteria and stresses, for instance, ultraviolet (UV) radiation³.

Phenolic acids have high antioxidant capacity and are easily digested and absorbed by the human organism. Caffeic acid (Figure 1.12 (a)) and ferulic acid (Figure 1.12 (b)) – phenolic acids usually found in the diet – circulate as derived molecules, namely in sulfate and glucuronate forms, after their absorption from the gastrointestinal tract¹¹³.



Figure 1.12. Molecules of (a) caffeic acid and (b) ferulic acid¹¹⁴.

Phlorotannins exist mainly in seaweed, which usually have up to approximately 15% per algae dw¹¹⁵. Besides being produced by algae secondary metabolism, these molecules are structurally important for cell walls¹¹⁶. They result from the polymerization of phoroglucinol (Figure 1.13 (1)) (1,3,5-trihydroxybenzene) molecules and are synthetized by the polyketide pathway in seaweed¹¹⁰. These compounds are very hydrophilic and their molecular size is variable¹¹⁷. Brown seaweeds contain a varied range of phloroglucinol-derived phenolic substances. According to the bonds formed, phlorotannins may be termed: fucols (containing a phenyl bond); fucophloroethols (ether and phenyl bonds); fuhalols and phlorethols (ether bond); and eckols (dibenzodioxin bond). Compounds such as eckol (Figure 1.13 (2)), fucodiphloroethol G (Figure 1.13 (3)), phlorofucofuroeckol A (Figure 1.13 (4)), 7-phloroeckol (Figure 1.12 (5)), dieckol (Figure 1.13 (6)), and 6,6'-bieckol (Figure 1.13 (7)) belong to the group identified phlorotannins in brown seaweed^{110,117}. Phlorotannins from brown algae present higher antioxidant activity when compared to other polyphenols derived from terrestrial plants³.



Figure 1.13. Structural formulas of representative phlorotannins from marine seaweeds. (1) phoroglucinol; (2) eckol; (3) fucodiphloroethol G; (4) phlorofucofuroeckol A; (5) 7-phloroeckol; (6) dieckol; (7) 6,6'-bieckol¹¹⁰.

1.8. Bioaccessibility and Bioavailability

Bioaccessibility and bioavailability are concepts that correlate with food digestion and nutrient absorption¹¹⁸. After ingestion, food is exposed to different processes that can transform compounds then released into the systemic circulation⁸². When assessing if a certain compound is valuable for human health, its concentration is not enough, as its total amount does not mirror its bioaccessibility¹¹⁹.

The term bioaccessibility refers to the appropriate release of nutrients and other components, including bioactives, from the food matrix, because of gastrointestinal tract conditions (oral cavity, gastric environment, and intestinal lumen)^{118,120}. The bioaccessibility of a compound depends on the consumer physiological conditions (e.g., age and health) and the composition of food (matricial aspect)¹²⁰. The compounds that are available in the human body may differ from the pre-digestion ones, as only the bioaccessible fraction (compounds freed after digestion) becomes accessible for function and/or accumulation. Therefore, the compounds that remain in the human body can be quite different from ingested amount¹¹⁹.

Bioaccessibility can be determined with an *in vitro* digestion system which simulates the human digestive function. Despite being less exact than *in vivo* methodologies, this model is rapid, easy to use and inexpensive^{120,121}.

Bioavailability correlates with bioaccessibility in the way that for a molecule to be bioavailable, it as to be bioaccessible, - it was to be freed from the food matrix in the digestion process, along with absorption by the intestinal cells and transport to target tissue(s) ¹²². Still, the fact that a molecule is bioaccessible does not guarantee its bioavailability, that is, its absorbance and transport in the systemic circulation⁸².

The term bioavailability combines bioactivity and bioaccessibility, in which bioaccessibility relates to the food matrix release, digestion modifications, absorption trough intestinal wall and pre-systemic metabolism, while bioactivity involves transport, assimilation and metabolism to and by the target tissue, and processes related to biomolecular interactions^{123,124}. Reported studies show that the food product, processing or preparation can change the oral bioaccessibility of compounds¹²⁵. The bioaccessibility and bioavailability assessment of seaweeds is an important step to help define its nutritional values¹²³.

The determination of the bioaccessibility and bioavailability of macroalgae mineral content is of great importance, mainly due to the possible presence of toxic elements, but also because of the many advantages of nutritionally important minerals, trace elements and bioactive elements.

The bioaccessibility of elements depends on its chemical form¹²⁶, as well as particularities in the food matrix¹²¹. It represents the fraction of the element, which is freed from the food matrix and is considered as an index of maximal oral bioavailability¹²¹. The bioavailability, as above mentioned, represents the fraction of elements that is incorporated into systemic circulation and is distributed within the target sites¹²⁵. The elements' bioavailability may be compromised due to their interaction with dietary fibres, that are not absorbable. They interact with negatively charged polysaccharides, namely alginates and carrageenan, forming non-soluble adducts, consequently reducing bioavailability¹²⁷.

1.9. In vitro digestive model as a tool to assess bioaccessibility

Digestion is a complex process that generates novel compounds that are absorbed by the human body. These nutrients are needed for energy, growth and cell repair¹²³.

Enzymes have a critical role in the breakdown of ingested nutrients. Main enzymes are α -amylase in the mouth, pepsin in the stomach, and trypsin, α -chymotrypsin, pancreatin (mixture of proteases, amylase, and lipase) and lipase, alongside bile (constituted by phospholipids, acids and salts, cholesterol, and electrolytic components that ensure a pH of 5-6), in the small intestine^{123,128,129}. Various methodologies have been developed for this purpose - *in vivo* and *in vitro* techniques are the major groups of techniques for bioaccessibility determination¹³⁰.

In vivo digestion models can be performed using two approaches, either executing overall balance studies or quantifying the concentration of the focal substances^{130,131}. Despite being the most accurate models, both strategies rely on human and animal tests with the goal of attaining

their bioaccessibility assessments, reason why ethical issues arise, as potentially harmful substances may be used in the model, besides being technically difficult and costly¹²⁹.

In vitro digestion models make it possible to closely simulate the biotransformation occurring in the gastrointestinal tract, using a laboratory controlled environment under reproducible and accurate conditions¹³². These models include numerous aspects, namely, enzyme levels, pH values, duration, and sodium chloride concentrations¹²⁹.

1.10. Anti-inflammatory Properties

Inflammation happens when damaging stimuli, such as tissue damage, pathogens, or destructive chemicals occur. It can be included as a part of a non-specific and defensive response¹³³. The inflammation purpose is to protect the tissues against the damaging stimuli previous mentioned by removing the trigger of inflammation and stimulating the cell restoration mechanisms¹³⁴. Inflammation may be acute or chronic^{135,136}. In the inflammatory mechanism, various defence cells release high quantities of nitric oxide (NO), cytokines, such as interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) and tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- α . These compounds cause some harm to the tissues, while activating macrophages in auto-immune diseases, etc¹³⁷⁻¹³⁸. PGE₂ is a vital inflammatory mediator that is generated through the catalysis of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2)¹³⁹. Macrophages are pivotal during inflammation controlling various immunopathological effects, for instance, the enhanced formation of inflammatory mediators, namely, IL-6, IL-1IS, COX-2 and TNF- α , and cytokines¹⁴⁰.

The inflammatory response is vital when opposing infection. However, the effects caused by inflammation, especially in the case of the chronic phase can cause health issues, such as rheumatoid arthritis and atherosclerosis¹⁴¹⁻¹⁴². Consequently, anti-inflammatory compounds have an important role for the mitigation of inflammatory disorders. Consumption of food containing anti-inflammatory substances has a long tradition¹⁴³. Anti-inflammatory drugs, as most commercialized drugs, can have side effects – as an example: Aspirin can cause stomach bleeding; COX-2 inhibitor Vioxx® and Celebrex® can cause heart problems; and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID's) were reported as a cause of many deaths yearly¹⁴⁴⁻¹⁴⁵. Hence, the discovery of new anti-inflammatory drugs from marine algae could bring developments to the sector of biomedical research and industry.

The fact that algae bioactive compounds have the capacity to counteract inflammatory harmful effects and, therefore, replace the synthetic drugs in use, makes them, nowadays, a major focal area of medicinal research.

1.11. Global overview of the potential of bioactivities and applications of the studied macroalgae

The macroalgae studied in this work - *Asparagopsis taxiformis*, *Asparagopsis armata*, *Cystoseira abies-marina* and *Cystoseira humilis* – have shown, since their first studies, a number of properties that are beneficial for human health and use/application. Nowadays, these algae are

used for their nutraceutical compounds that find various applications in the pharmaceutical, cosmetic, and food industries.

When referring to *Cystoseira abies-marina*, this macroalgae is used directly for food and as a fertilizer¹. Both *C. abies-marina* and *C. humilis* extracts show antibacterial, antifungal, antimicrobial and antioxidant properties, given the existence of bioactive molecules, such as phlorotannins^{44,50,146,147}.

Asparagopsis armata extract shows powerful antioxidant and antibacterial activities. Their bioactives have anti-cancer properties, besides holding antifungal, antimicrobial and antiviral activities^{1,50}. Asparagopsis taxiformis is characterized by their anticoagulant, anticyanobacterial, antifouling, antifungal and antimicrobial activities^{1,148,149,150}. This macroalgae distinguishes itself from other algae for their anti-methanogenic activity – the brominated compounds (in particular, the compound bromoform), present in the genus Asparagopsis display an effective ability to inhibit archaebacterial metabolism. According to Roque *et al.* (2019)¹⁵¹, methane production in the cattle rumen, and consequent emission, can be reduced by approximately 90% by incorporating 5% *A. taxiformis* in cattle feed. The inclusion of *A. taxiformis* in feed may help in solutions against climate change, as methane from cattle contributes significantly to the planetary methane emissions and this gas may be a more harmful greenhouse gas than CO_2^{152} .

The characteristics known and listed above make for the importance of studying and deepening the knowledge about these macroalgae.

2. Objectives

Despite seaweeds still being undervalued marine resources, these organisms have been receiving a growing attention over the years by the scientific community due to reported studies that confirm their nutraceutical and biotechnological potential. Many seaweed species, however, are still lacking in-depth studies to obtain information about their bioactive compounds, as factors such as geographical origin, seaweed phylum, and environmental, seasonal, and physiological variations can affect their composition and properties.

The objective of this work was to perform a bioprospection study on *Asparagopsis taxiformis*, *Asparagopsis armata*, *Cystoseira abies-marina* and *Cystoseira humilis*, four undervalued macroalgae, from the Azorean Archipelago. This involved their chemical characterization through the determination of their proximate composition. Besides that, an assessment of their biological activity (including bioaccessibility) was carried out, performing the determination of antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities, but also involved analysis of total phenolic content and β -glucans (laminarin) levels. Lastly, the elemental composition was analysed, as well as the mineral bioaccessibility.

This study was also designed to evaluate the effect of the drying process (sun-drying *vs* shade-drying) on the biological activities and bioactive contents of aqueous and ethanolic extracts.

3. Materials and Methods

3.1. Sample collection and preparation

The studied species were the red seaweeds *Asparagopsis taxiformis* and *Asparagopsis armata*, and the brown seaweeds *Cystoseira abies-marina* and *Cystoseira humilis*. All seaweeds were dried, both in the sun and in the shade (Figure 3.1).

They were harvested from the Azores Archipelago (Portugal), located in the Atlantic Ocean, more specifically on the Faial island - *Asparagopsis taxiformis* was harvested from the wild in Pasteleiro (Faial), in which the sun- and shade-dried portions were collected on April 2019; *Asparagopsis armata* was collected in Castelo Branco (Faial), where the sun-dried portion was collected on May 2019 and the shade-dried portion was collected on June 2019; *Cystoseira abies-marina* and *Cystoseira humilis* were collected in Lajinha (Faial), where the shade-dried and sundried portions of both seaweeds where collected on June 2019.



Figure 3.1. Sun-dried and shade-dried seaweed biomass of the studied species: (A) Shade-dried Cystoseira abies-marina; (B) Sun-dried Cystoseira abies-marina; (C) Shade-dried Asparagopsis armata; (D) Sun-dried Asparagopsis armata; (E) Shade-dried Cystoseira humilis; (F) Sun-dried Cystoseira humilis; (G) Shade-dried Asparagopsis taxiformis; (H) Sun-dried Asparagopsis taxiformis. Diana Julião, October 2019.

The sun-drying method is performed in a greenhouse (Figure 3.2), where the macroalgae are arranged in a horizontal position. The greenhouse daytime temperature ranges from 28°C to 35°C and in the night the temperature ranges from 18°C to 22°C. Regarding the moisture content, it is of about 90% in the first drying day, while in the subsequent days, the content decreases to 50-60%. The shade-drying method is performed in a solar dryer (Figure 3.3) with two ventilators that promote a horizontal ventilation, using only the heat generated from solar panels. A resistance is connected if there is little sun or to speed up the drying process. The macroalgae are arranged in a horizontal position. Concerning the moisture content, the initial content is of about 90%, decreasing progressively until 15%. The solar dryer temperature with the solar panels and the connected resistance usually ranges from 35°C to 40°C. Regarding the drying time, sun-

drying had the duration of approximately of three days, while shade-drying had the duration of approximately two days.



Figure 3.2. Greenhouse used for the sun-drying method, where seaweeds are arranged in a horizontal position. SeaExpert, 2020.



Figure 3.3. Solar dryer used in the shade-drying method. SeaExpert 2020.

The seaweeds were ordered by the Portuguese Institute for the Sea and Atmosphere (IPMA) from the company SeaExpert based in Faial island, Azores, Portugal. Appropriate amounts of each seaweed were freeze-dried, homogenised, and stored at -80°C until further analysis.

3.2. Proximate composition

3.2.1. Moisture and Ash content

The determination of the content of moisture and ash was based on AOAC methods¹⁵³. Ash is a reduced inorganic residue obtained from the incineration of biological material – it is composed by the minerals obtained from the destruction of organic matter. The parameters moisture and ash indicate the amount of water and inorganic material in the samples studied.

After heating the crucibles for 30 minutes and cooling them on a desiccator for another 30 minutes, they were weighed, and the weight registered. The macroalgae were weighed from 2g to 5g, depending on their morphology and volume. Each macroalgae sample was divided in four crucibles, two duplicates for the macroalgae dried in the sun and two crucibles for the macroalgae dried in the shade. Samples were then left in the oven (Memmert, Model ULE 500, Schwabach, Germany) overnight and weighted after cooling in a desiccator. The moisture content of each sample was calculated according to the formula 3.1:

% Moisture
$$\left(\% \frac{m}{m}\right) = \frac{m_1 - m_2}{m_1 - m_3} \times 100 (3.1)$$

Where:

m1 = Crucible mass with moist sample (g)

m2 = Crucible mass with dry sample (g)

m3 = Crucible mass (g)

The crucibles with the dried samples were placed in the muffle furnace (Heraeus, Model MR170-E, Hanau, Germany) at 550°C overnight. The crucibles were then removed from the muffle and placed in the desiccator to cool for 40 minutes, weighed, and then placed again in the muffle furnace for 30 minutes at the same temperature. If the weight doesn't change or increases, less than 0.001g, the ash determination is completed (Figure 3.4). On the other hand, if the weight decreases, the crucibles with the samples return to the muffle furnace for an additional weighing. The ash content in dry matter basis of each sample was calculated according to the formula 3.2.

$$\% Ash\left(\% \frac{m}{m}\right) = \frac{m1-m2}{m3-m2} \times 100 (3.2)$$

Where:

m1 = Crucible mass with ash (g)

m2 = Crucible mass (g)

m3 = Crucible mass with dry sample (g)



Figure 3.4. Crucibles with ash at the end of the procedure. Diana Julião, October 2019.

3.2.2. Protein content

The protein level was quantified by the Dumas method¹⁵⁴, using a conversion factor of nitrogen into protein of 5.0 in the macroalgae samples¹⁵⁵. This method is based on the combustion

of a sample of known mass in the presence of oxygen, inside a high temperature chamber (900°C). The nitrogen percentage of the samples was calculated based on thermal conductivity.

The procedure consisted on weighting approximately 100mg of each seaweed in duplicate, and placing them in a LECO FP-528 analyser (LECO Corporation, St, Joseph, MI, USA), which performed the entire combustion process and calculated the nitrogen percentage and the corresponding protein percentage for each sample. Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) was used to calibrate the standards.

3.2.3. Dietary Fibre content

The determination of total, soluble and insoluble dietary fibre was done with the application of an enzymatic procedure, using the K-TDFR-100A/K-TDFR-200A 04/17 assay kit by Megazime (Megazyme, Bray, Ireland).

Firstly, $1,000 \pm 0,005g$ of duplicated samples of each macroalgae (sun-dried and shadedried) were weighted (Figure 3.5), 40mL of MES-TRIS blend buffer (pH 8.2) was added to each sample, and the resulting mixtures were stirred.



Figure 3.5. Crucibles with $1,000 \pm 0,005$ g of duplicated samples of each macroalgae (sun-dried and shade-dried). Diana Julião, October 2019.

Each solution was then subjected to a sequential heat-stable enzymatic digestion, with the application of the Megazyme kit. In the first place, each solution was incubated with 50µL of thermostable α -amylase in a water bath (Büchi Laboratoriums-Technik AG, Model 461, Flawil, Switzerland), at 98-100°C, for 30 minutes, with continuous agitation. The solutions were then removed from the hot water bath and cooled to 60°C. Following, for second incubation, 100µL of protease was added and attained mixture was left in a water bath at 60 ± 1°C, for 30 minutes, with continuous agitation. The solutions were again removed from the hot water bath and 5mL of 0,561 N HCl was added to the mixture with constant agitation to obtain a final pH of 4.1-4.8, measured using a pH meter (Mettler Toledo, Model SevenCompact, Greifensee, Switzerland). Finally, in the third incubation, 200µL of amyloglucosidase was added to each solution, and those solutions were then left in a water bath at 60 ± 1°C, for 30 minutes agitation.

3.2.3.1. Insoluble Dietary Fibre

The filtration setup was prepared by weighing Gooch fritted crucibles containing a thin layer of Celite®, and afterwards, wet and redistribute the bed of Celite® in the crucibles using distilled water. Suction was then applied to the crucibles to draw the Celite® onto the fritted glass.

The enzyme mixtures previous prepared were filtered through the crucibles into a kitasato. The residues that remained in the crucibles were washed twice with 10mL of distilled water pre-heated to 70°C, and the filtrates were transferred to a pre-tared beaker and saved for soluble dietary fibre determination (3.2.3.2). The residues in the crucibles were then washed twice with 10mL 96%, v/v, ethanol, and acetone.

The crucibles containing the residues were dried overnight in an oven (Memmert, Model ULE 500, Schwabach, Germany) at 103°C and cooled in a desiccator for approximately 1 hour. The crucibles containing Celite® and the dietary fibre residue were weighted.

For the determination of the protein content, approximately 70mg of sample from each crucible were weighed. The remaining content was weighed and used for the ash determination. The methodologies used for the determination of the protein and ash content were the same as used for the total macroalgae biomass determinations.

3.2.3.2. Soluble Dietary Fibre

The filtrates obtained in the insoluble dietary fibre procedure, that were transferred and saved in a pre-tared beaker, were weighted. Distilled water was added to adjust the weight of the combined solution of filtrate and water washings to 80g, and 4 volumes (320mL) of 96%, v/v, ethanol, pre-heated to 60°C, was added. The precipitates were allowed to form at room temperature for 1 hour (Figure 3.6 and Figure 3.7).



Figure 3.6. Precipitates formed after 1 hour at room temperature, for Asparagopsis taxiformis and Asparagopsis armata, sun-dried and shade-dried. Diana Julião, November 2019.



Figure 3.7. Precipitates formed after 1 hour at room temperature, for Cystoseira abies-marina and Cystoseira humilis, sun-dried and shade-dried. Diana Julião, November 2019.

The filtration setup was prepared by weighing Gooch fritted crucibles, containing a thin layer of Celite®, and afterwards, wet and reorganise the Celite® in the crucibles using 78%, v/v, ethanol. Suction was then applied to the crucibles to attract the Celite® onto the fritted glass.

The precipitated enzyme digest formed for 1 hour (room temperature) was filtered and the residues that remained in the crucibles were washed successively twice with 15mL of 78%, v/v, ethanol, 15mL of 96%, v/v, ethanol, and 15mL of acetone.

The crucibles containing the residues were dried overnight in an oven (Memmert, Model ULE 500, Schwabach, Germany) at 103°C and cooled in a desiccator for approximately 1 hour. The crucibles containing Celite® and the dietary fibre residue were weighed.

3.2.3.3. Total Dietary Fibre

The soluble and insoluble dietary fibre contents were corrected by the subtraction of protein and ash contents in the residues and the values of the total dietary fibre were obtained from the sum of the values obtained for the insoluble dietary fibre and soluble dietary fibre¹⁵².

3.3. Total Polyphenol content

3.3.1. Extract preparation

The phenolic compounds extraction from the seaweed biomass was executed with two selected solvents - 96% ethanol, v/v, and water Milli-Q – as they belong to the group of safe and environmentally friendly solvents and are the most effective among them. Other solvents included in this group are: 2-propanol, 1-butanol, ethyl acetate and 2-propyl acetate¹⁵⁶.

For the preparation of the extracts, 1.25g of dried seaweed biomass was weighted in duplicates to centrifuge tubes, and 25mL of water Milli-Q was added to one of the duplicates and 25mL of 96% ethanol, v/v, was added to the other. The solutions were homogenised in a Unidrive X1000 Homogenizer Drive (CAT Scientific Inc., California, USA), at a velocity of 30,000 rpm for 1 minute, and agitated overnight in an IKA-VIBRAX-VXR (IKA-Labortechnik, Staufen, Germany) orbital shaker, at a velocity of 200 rpm. After centrifugation at 4°C, for 10 minutes, at a velocity of 5000x*g*, in a KUBOTA 6800 centrifuge (KUBOTA, Tokyo, Japan), the supernatant was collected with a Pasteur pipette and completed to a final volume of 25mL (Figure 3.8 and 3.9).



Figure 3.8. Supernatant collected from the aqueous extracts, to a final volume of 25mL. From left to right: Sun-dried *Asparagopsis taxiformis*; Shade-dried *Asparagopsis taxiformis*; Sun-dried *Asparagopsis armata*; Shade-dried *Asparagopsis armata*; Sun-dried *Cystoseira humilis*; Shade-dried *Cystoseira humilis*; Shade-dried *Cystoseira humilis*; Sun-dried *Cystoseira abies-marina*; Shade-dried *Cystoseira abies-marina*. Diana Julião, December 2019.



Figure 3.9. Supernatant collected from the ethanolic extracts, to a final volume of 25mL. From left to right: Sun-dried *Asparagopsis taxiformis*; Shade-dried *Asparagopsis taxiformis*; Sun-dried *Asparagopsis armata*; Shade-dried *Asparagopsis armata*; Sun-dried *Cystoseira humilis*; Shade-dried *Cystoseira humilis*; Shade-dried *Cystoseira humilis*; Sun-dried *Cystoseira abies-marina*; Shade-dried *Cystoseira abies-marina*. Diana Julião, December 2019.

3.3.2. Singleton and Rossi assay

The polyphenol content was determined with an adapted version of the Singleton and Rossi method. The Folin-Ciocalteu reagent was used for this method¹⁵⁷.

The Folin-Ciocalteu reagent has a yellow coloration when in its non-reduced form and is formed by a combination of phosphomolybdic acid (H₃PMo₁₂O₄₀) and phosphotungstic acid (H₃PW₁₂O₄₀) that forms chromogens by reacting with phenols and non-phenolic reducing compounds. The chromogens oxotungstate and oxomolybdate can be detected spectrophotometrically because in alkaline conditions they exhibit a blue colouring proportional to the concentration of polyphenols¹⁵⁸.

A volume of 100µL of each macroalgae extract (aqueous and ethanolic) was pipetted into a vial, in triplicate. To each vial was added 600µL of water Milli-Q and 150µL of twice-diluted Folin-Ciocalteu reagent, and the samples were left in the dark for 5 minutes at room temperature. Subsequently, 750µL of a 2% w/v sodium carbonate solution were added. After being left to react for 1 hour and 30 minutes in the dark at room temperature, absorbance of the samples at 750nm was measured in a Helios Alpha model (Unicam, Leeds, UK) UV-Vis spectrophotometer. The standard used was Gallic acid (GA) (Sigma, Steinheim, Germany) and the phenolic content was expressed as gallic acid equivalents (mg GAE/100g dw) by using a calibration curve of gallic acid (Annex III and IV).

3.4. Antioxidant Activity

3.4.1. DPPH method

The DPPH method was developed by Blois $(1958)^{159}$ to measure antioxidant activities, using a stable free radical α,α -diphenyl- β -picrylhydrazyl (DPPH•; C₁₈H₁₂N₅O₆, M=394.3 g/mol) (Figure 3.10). It is based on the measurement of antioxidant scavenging capacity against this stable free radical. The odd electron of the nitrogen atom in DPPH is reduced through the reception of a hydrogen atom from antioxidants by the hydrazine. DPPH is characterized as a stable free radical because of the delocalisation of the spare electron, which means that the molecules do not dimerise.

The delocalisation is also responsible for the deep violet colour, with an absorption in ethanol solution at approximately 520nm. Mixing DPPH with a solution that contains a substance that can donate a hydrogen atom, leads to the formation of the reduced form of DPPH – α , α -diphenyl- β -picrylhydrazine (DPPH; C18H13N5O6, M = 395.3 g/mol) - with a yellow coloration¹⁶⁰⁻¹⁶¹.



Figure 3.10. DPPH and its stable form. In the left, 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (free radical) and in the right, 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazine (nonradical)¹⁶⁰.

To start the analysis, 1mL of each extract, aqueous and ethanolic, – as prepared in 3.3.1. - was pipetted in triplicate to a tube, and 2mL of DPPH (Sigma, Steinheim, Germany) 0.15mM methanolic solution was added and the sample was stirred in a vortex. After being left to react for 30 minutes in the dark at room temperature (Figure 3.11), absorbance of the samples at 517nm was measured in a Helios Alpha model (Unicam, Leeds, UK) UV-Vis spectrophotometer. For the blank, water and ethanol 96%, v/v, were used.

Radical scavenging activity was determined by the following formula 3.3¹⁶¹:

% Inhibition =
$$\frac{A0 - Asample}{A0} \times 100 (3.3)$$

Where:

A0 = Absorption of the blank Asample = Absorption of the sample

Results were expressed in mg of ascorbic acid equivalents (AA Eq) per g of seaweed (dw) using a calibration curve of ascorbic acid (Annex V and VI).



Figure 3.11. Colour variation during the DPPH reaction. DPPH has a characterized violet colour **(A)** but when mixed with an antioxidant substance (capable of donating a hydrogen atom) gradually becomes yellow **(B)**. Diana Julião, December 2019.

3.4.2. FRAP method

The Ferric Ion Reducing Antioxidant Power (FRAP, also Ferric Reducing Ability of Plasma) is a method developed by Benzie & Strain (1996)¹⁶². As described by the authors, this method is based on a redox-linked colorimetric reaction where the oxidizing species reacts with the antioxidant instead of the "substrate", that is, the antioxidant (reductant) reduces the oxidant, inactivating it. In this case, one reactive species is reduced at the expense of the oxidation of another.

This method is based on antioxidants reduction, at low pH, of the ferric-tripyridyltriazine (Fe^{III}-TPTZ) complex to the ferrous (Fe^{II}) form (Figure 3.12), creating a very intense navy-blue colour with an absorption maximum at 593nm, that confirms the presence of a reductant (antioxidant). The absorbance measured tests the amount of iron reduced and can be correlated with the reducing ability of the antioxidants present in the sample.

To perform this method, the solutions prepared were a 300 mM trihydrate sodium acetate buffer (pH 3.6), a 10 mM 2,4,6-Tripyridyl-s-triazine (TPTZ) solution in 40 mM HCl, and a 20 mM FeCl₃.6H₂O solution. The FRAP regent was then prepared by adding 300 mM trihydrate sodium acetate buffer (pH 3.6), 10 mM 2,4,6-Tripyridyl-s-triazine (TPTZ) solution, and 20 mM FeCl₃.6H₂O solution in a 10:1:1 (v/v/v) proportion, respectively. Firstly, the FRAP reagent was prepared in a 230:23:23 proportion, and in the second time, with a 150:15:15 proportion.



Figure 3.12. Reduction of the ferric-tripyridyltriazine (FeIII-TPTZ) complex to the ferrous (FeII) form by an antioxidant¹⁶³.

To start the analysis, 100µL of each extract, aqueous and ethanolic, – as prepared in 3.3.1. - was pipetted in triplicate to a tube, and 3mL of FRAP reagent was added. The mixture was vortexed and incubated for 30 minutes in the dark on a 37°C bath (Büchi Laboratoriums-Technik AG, Model 461, Flawil, Switzerland). Absorbance of the coloured product (ferrous-tripyridyltriazine complex) (Figure 3.13) was then measured at 595nm in a Helios Alpha model (Unicam, Leeds, UK) UV-Vis spectrophotometer. For the blank, water and ethanol 96%, v/v, were used. Iron Sulphate (FeSO₄.7H₂O) was used as standard and the antioxidant content was expressed in µmol of iron(II) sulphate equivalents per g of seaweed (dw) (µmol iron sulphate/g dw) through the calibration curve of iron(II) sulphate (Annex VII).



Figure 3.13. Colour variation in the FRAP reaction. The intense blue colour means that the Fe^{III}-TPTZ complex was reduced, indicating the presence of antioxidant activity. Diana Julião, January 2020.

3.4.3. ABTS method

The ABTS method is applied for the measurement of antioxidant activity and is based on the generation of the ABTS [2,2'-azino-bis-(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid)] radical cation. The method used was described by Re *et al.* (1999)¹⁶⁴, where the generation of ABTS⁺⁺ by oxidation of ABTS (Figure 3.14) with potassium persulfate, involves the direct production of the blue/green ABTS⁺⁺ chromophore, that as an absorption maximum at wavelengths 645nm, 734nm and 815nm.

Depending on the reaction time, antioxidant activity and antioxidant concentration, the pre-formed radical cation ABTS⁺⁺ is reduced by the presence of hydrogen-donating antioxidants to a certain extent. The extent of decolorization observed, that can be translated as the inhibition percentage of the ABTS⁺⁺ radical cation (Figure 3.15), is determined as a function of concentration *versus* time and calculated according to the Trolox reactivity (standard), under identical conditions^{164,165}.



Figure 3.14. One-electron oxidation of ABTS and the formation of cation radicals (ABTS⁺⁺)¹⁶⁵.

To perform this method was prepared a 2.45 mM potassium persulfate solution, a 5 mM sodium phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) and a 7 mM ABTS⁺ solution - a specific solution required for this procedure - that was put together by weighing 10mg of ABTS and dissolving it in 2,6mL of the 2.45 mM potassium persulfate solution, then incubated in the dark at room temperature overnight and finally diluting it with 5 mM sodium phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) to obtain a final absorbance value of 0.7 ± 0.02 at 734nm.

To start the analysis, 20µL of each extract, aqueous and ethanolic, – as prepared in 3.3.1. - was pipetted in triplicate to a tube, and 2mL of 7 mM ABTS⁺ solution was added. The mixture was vortexed and incubated for 6 minutes in a 30°C bath (Büchi Laboratoriums-Technik AG, Model 461, Flawil, Switzerland) in the dark. Absorbance of the coloured product was then measured at 734nm in a Helios Alpha model (Unicam, Leeds, UK) UV-Vis spectrophotometer. For the blank, water and ethanol 96% w/w were used. Trolox was used as standard and the antioxidant content was expressed in µmol of Trolox equivalents (Trolox Eq) per 100g of seaweed (dw) (µmol eq Trolox/100g dw) using a calibration curve of Trolox (Annex VIII).



Figure 3.15. Colour variation in the ABTS reaction. The ABTS⁺ solution exhibits a blue colour (A) and the loss of this colour indicates the presence of antioxidant agents (B). Diana Julião, January 2019.

3.5. Beta-glucans (laminarin) content

The quantification of laminarin in seaweed samples was carried out through the measurement of glucose concentration released after enzymatic hydrolysis of laminarin. The method was achieved by using a mixed-linkage beta-glucan assay kit and procedure K-BGLU 08/18 supplied by Megazyme (Bray, Ireland).

To perform the procedure, 80-120mg of each sample was weighed in triplicate and mixed with 0.2mL of ethanol 50%, v/v, and 4mL of 20 mM sodium phosphate buffer (pH 6.5). The mixture was vortex and, on mixing, immediately incubated in a boiling water bath (Büchi Laboratoriums-Technik AG, Model 461, Flawil, Switzerland) for 60 seconds. The mixture was vortexed, incubated for 2 minutes at a 100°C bath, vortexed again and incubated in a 50°C bath for 5 minutes. A volume of 0.2mL of lichenase enzyme was added to each tube and the mixture was vortexed and incubated in a stirring water bath for 1 hour at 50°C with regular vigorous stirring on a vortex. A volume of 0.1mL of 200 mM sodium acetate buffer (pH 4) was added and the mixture was vortexed. The tubes were allowed to equilibrate at room temperature for 5 minutes and centrifuged at 1000×g for 10 minutes on a KUBOTA 6800 centrifuge (KUBOTA, Tokyo, Japan). From each sample tube, 0.1mL aliquots were dispensed into the bottom of 3 test tubes, and 0.1mL of β -glucosidase enzyme in 50 mM sodium acetate buffer (pH 4) was added to two of the three test tubes. To the third test tube was added 0.1mL of 50 mM acetate buffer (pH 4) - this tube act as a blank as β -glucosidase is not present to catalyse the hydrolysis of the glycosidic blonds. All test tubes were incubated in a 50°C water bath (Büchi Laboratoriums-Technik AG, Model 461, Flawil, Switzerland) for 10 minutes. A volume of 3mL of GOPOD (glucose oxidase/peroxidase) reagent was added, and the test tubes were again incubated in a 50°C water bath for 20 minutes (Figure 3.16). Finally, the absorbance was measured at 510nm in a Helios Alpha model (Unicam, Leeds, UK) UV-Vis spectrophotometer. β -glucan from oats, supplied in the assay kit was used as a standard. Results were expressed in %, w/w, according to the formula 3.4 supplied by the kit:

$$\beta - \text{glucans}\left(\%\frac{W}{W}\right) = \Delta \text{Abs} \times \frac{F}{W} \times FV \times 0.9 (3.4)$$

Where:

 $\Delta Abs = Absorbance$ after β -glucosidase treatment (reaction) minus reaction blank absorbance;

F = Factor for the conversion of absorbance values to μg of glucose = 100 (μg of D-glucose).

absorbance of 100 μg od D–glucose'

FV = Final volume (i.e., 9.4mL);

W = Weight in mg of the analysed sample;

0.9 = Factor to convert from free D-glucose, as determined, to anhydro-D-glucose, as occurs in β -glucan.



Figure 3.16. (A) Coloration of the D-glucose standard after GOPOD treatment - the pink colour in the mixture indicated the presence of D-glucose, and therefore the presence of β -glucans. **(B)** Coloration of the samples after GOPOD treatment. Diana Julião, January 2020.

3.6. In vitro Digestion Model

An *in vitro* digestion model that includes three steps, which simulate the digestive human processes in the mouth, stomach, and small intestine, was applied to determine the bioaccessible antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity, and essential elements/mineral content. This model was developed by Versantvoort *et al.* (2004)¹⁶⁶ and consequently modified by Afonso *et al.* (2015)¹²⁴. The composition of digestive juices – saliva, gastric, duodenal and bile – was prepared according to Afonso *et al.* (2015)¹²⁴.

The chemicals Na₂SO₄, KCI, NaCI, NaH₂PO₄, CaCl₂, NaHCO₃, HCI, KH₂PO₄ and MgCl₂•6H₂O, utilized in the preparation of the digestive fluids, were purchased from Merck (Darmstadt, Germany), while NH₄CI was purchased from Fluka (Buchs, Switzerland). The remaining reagents were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA). Trypsin, and α -chymotrypsin from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) were also added to the duodenal juice. The quantities of these two enzymes were estimated according to the work reported by Gatellier and Santé-Lhoutellier (2009)¹⁶⁷.

Initially, it was weighed 0.5g of each macroalgae (sun-dried and shade-dried) in duplicate and added 4mL of the artificial saliva at a pH 6.8 \pm 0.2 for 5 minutes. Afterwards, 8mL of artificial gastric juice (pH 1.3 \pm 0.02 at 37 \pm 2°C) was added, and subsequently the pH was adjusted to a final pH of 2.0 \pm 0.1 with a pH meter (Mettler Toledo, Model SevenCompact, Greifensee, Switzerland). Then, the samples were placed in a head-over-heels movement in a model Roto-Shake Genie (Scientific Industries Inc., Bohemia, NY, USA) (37 rpm at 37 \pm 2°C) for 2 hours to simulate digestion conditions. After cooling down, a mixture of 8mL of duodenal juice (pH 8.1 \pm 0.2 at 37 \pm 2°C), 4mL of bile (pH 8.2 \pm 0.2 at 37 \pm 2°C), and 1.3mL of HCO₃ solution (1 M) was added simultaneously. The final pH of the mixture was set at pH 6.5 \pm 0.5 and then agitated for a further 2 hours period in a head-over-heels movement (37 rpm at 37 \pm 2°C). The obtained solution was centrifuged in a Sigma 3K30 centrifuge (Sigma Laborzentrifugen GmbH, Osterode am Harz, Germany) at about 2750×*g* during 5 minutes in order to separate the non-digested from the bioaccessible fraction. The various bioactives and elemental contents were then analysed in the bioaccessible fraction.

To estimate the constituent (C) percentage in the bioaccessible fraction the following formula 3.5 was used:

% C bioacessible =
$$\frac{\text{mC bioacessible}}{\text{mC initial}} \times 100 (3.5)$$

Where:

mC = mass of the constituent in the initial or bioaccessible fraction of the macroalgae.

3.7. Anti-inflammatory activity

3.7.1. Extract preparation for *in vitro* anti-inflammatory activity

The anti-inflammatory activity of sun-dried and shade-dried *Asparagopsis taxiformis*, *Asparagopsis armata*, *Cystoseira humilis* and *Cystoseira abies-marina* was determined in aqueous extracts and in the bioaccessible fractions obtained from the *in vitro* digestion model described in 3.6.

Approximately 200mg of each seaweed was weighed and homogenized with 2mL of Milli-Q water, using a Unidrive X1000 Homogenizer Drive (CAT Scientific Inc., California, USA) at a velocity of 30,000 rpm for 1 minute. The macroalgae Asparagopsis armata sun-dried and shadedried, Asparagopsis taxiformis shade-dried, Cystoseira humilis sun-dried and shade-dried and Cystoseira abies-marina shade-dried formed a gelatinised solution with 2mL of Milli-Q water, therefore, another 2mL was added and they were then subjected to another homogenisation at a velocity of 30,000 rpm for 1 minute. The mixtures were exposed to a heat treatment (80°C for 1 hour) and centrifuged in a KUBOTA 6800 centrifuge (KUBOTA, Tokyo, Japan) for 10 minutes (4°C, 3000xg). The supernatant was collected, and the solvent was evaporated using a nitrogen stream at room temperature using a model Reacti-Therm III nº18940 nitrogen evaporation unit (Pierce, East Lyme, CT, USA). Besides the supernatant, 5mL of each bioaccessible extract was also evaporated using a nitrogen evaporator. The residue was directly dissolved in 100% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) to prepare a stock solution with a concentration of 10 mg/mL. To totally dissolve the residues, the solutions were homogenised using a Unidrive X1000 Homogenizer Drive (CAT Scientific Inc., Paso Robles, CA, USA) at a velocity of 30,000 rpm for 1 minute. From the stock solutions, final solutions of 1 mg/mL were prepared (Figure 3.17 and 3.18).



Figure 3.17. Final solutions of 1 mg/mL prepared from the supernatant collected from the aqueous extracts. From left to right: Shade-dried *Asparagopsis taxiformis*; Sun-dried *Asparagopsis taxiformis*; Shade-dried *Asparagopsis armata*; Sun-dried *Asparagopsis armata*; Shade-dried *Cystoseira humilis*; Sun-dried *Cystoseira humilis*; Sun-dried *Cystoseira humilis*; Sun-dried *Cystoseira abies-marina*; Sun-dried *Cystoseira abies-marina*. Diana Julião, June 2020.



Figure 3.18. Final solutions of 1 mg/mL prepared from the bioaccessible extract. From left to right: Shadedried *Asparagopsis taxiformis*; Sun-dried *Asparagopsis taxiformis*; Shade-dried *Asparagopsis armata*; Sundried *Asparagopsis armata*; Shade-dried *Cystoseira humilis*; Sun-dried *Cystoseira humilis*; Shade-dried *Cystoseira abies-marina*; Sun-dried *Cystoseira abies-marina*. Diana Julião, June 2020.

3.7.2. Cyclooxygenase (COX-2) inhibition method

Cyclooxygenase (COX, also called Prostaglandin H Synthase or PGHS) is a bifunctional enzyme that has COX and peroxidase activities. The COX part of the enzyme converts arachidonic acid to a hydroperoxyl endoperoxide (PGG₂), while peroxidase activity part reduces the endoperoxide to the corresponding alcohol (PGH₂), the precursor of prostaglandins (PGs), thromboxanes, and prostacyclins.

COX-2 is an isoform of COX, responsible for, under acute inflammatory conditions, the biosynthesis of PGs.

The COX inhibitor screening assay directly measures the amount of Prostaglandin F2 α (PGF_{2 α}) generated from arachidonic acid (ARA, 20:4 ω 6) in the cyclooxygenase reaction.

This assay is based in a competitive ELISA, where PG-acetylcholinesterase (AChE) conjugate (PG tracer) and PGs compete for a restricted quantity of PG antiserum. The amount of PG tracer that is capable of binding to the PG antiserum is inversely proportional to the concentration of PG, as the concentration of the PG tracer is constant while the concentration of PG varies. The rabbit antiserum-PG (either free or tracer) complex formed binds to a mouse monoclonal anti-rabbit antibody that is attached to the well. The addition of the Ellman's reagent – that consists of acetylthiocholine and 5,5'-dithio-*bis*-(2-nitrobenzoic acid) – causes the enzymatic reaction between AChE and acetylthiocholine, that produces thiocholine, while the following reaction between thiocholine and 5,5'-dithio-bis-(2-nitrobenzoic acid) produces 5-thio-2-nitrobenzoic acid, which has a strong absorbance at 412nm (Figure 3.19).



Figure 3.19. Reaction catalysed by acetylcholinesterase. Cayman test kit-560131 (Cayman Chemical Company, Ann Arbor, MI, USA).

The seaweed extracts were tested at 1 mg/mL using a commercial cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitory screening assay kit, Cayman test kit-560131 (Cayman Chemical Company, Ann Arbor, MI, USA). A volume of 10µl of each extract or DMSO was used. The reaction tubes were then incubated for 10 minutes in a 37°C bath (Büchi Laboratoriums-Technik AG, Model 461, Flawil, Switzerland). The reaction was initiated by addition of 10µl of arachidonic acid 10 mM and each reaction tube was incubated at 37°C for 2 minutes. It was terminated by the addition of 30µl of saturated stannous chloride.

The microplate was completed by pipetting the wells correspondent to the blank (Ellman's reagent), non-specific binding (non-immunological binding of the tracer to the well), maximum binding (maximum amount of tracer that the antibody on the absence of the free analyte), total activity (total enzymatic activity of the AChE-linked tracer), prostaglandin screening standards, background COX-2, COX-2 100% initial activity and COX-2 inhibitor macroalgae samples. The prostanoid produced was quantified spectrophotometrically (415nm) in a Model 680 Microplate Reader (BIO-RAD Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA) via enzyme immunoassay (ELISA) after an 18-hour incubation, washing, addition of Ellman's reagent, and further 90-minute incubation (Figure 3.20). Results were expressed as a percentage of inhibition of COX-2.



Figure 3.20. Anti-inflammatory activity test plate ready for prostaglandin reading. Diana Julião, June 2020.

3.8. Mineral Composition

The mineral composition of the initial and bioaccessible samples was analysed at the Faculty of Pharmacy of the University of Porto.

3.8.1. Microwave-assisted acid digestion

Samples mineralization was performed using an MLS 1200 Mega Milestone (Sorisole, Italy) microwave digestion system equipped with an HPR-1000/10 S rotor. Approximately 300mg of homogenized dried sample were directly weighed into a microwave oven PTFE vessel and 4mL of nitric acid (HNO₃ 69% w/v, Trace *SELECT*[®], Fluka, France) and 1mL of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂, 30–32% w/w, Primar[™], for Trace Metal Analysis, Fisher Chemical, Loughborough, UK) were added. The vessels were closed, and a microwave oven program was performed as follows: 1 minute at 250W, 2 minutes at 0W, 5 minutes at 250W, 5 minutes at 400W and 5 minutes at 650W. After cooling, the sample solutions were diluted to 50mL with ultrapure water (>18.2 MΩ.cm at 25°C), obtained with an arium® pro system (Sartorius, Goettingen, Germany), in decontaminated plastic volumetric flasks. Samples blanks were prepared in the same way. Each sample was digested in triplicate.

For analytical quality control purposes, the same procedure of acid digestion was applied to the certified reference material (CRM) ERM-CD200 seaweed to check the accuracy of the procedure. The results obtained were in good agreement with the certified values (ranged from 96.0% to 107.8%).

3.8.2. Elemental analysis

Elemental analysis was carried out by flame atomic absorption spectroscopy (FAAS) using an AAnalyst 200 instrument (Perkin-Elmer, Uberlingen, Germany) and by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) using an iCAP[™] Q instrument (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany). The elements Na and K were determined by FAAS. The remaining elements were analyzed by ICP-MS using the following elemental isotopes (m/z ratios): ²⁶Mg, ³¹P, ³⁴S, ⁴³Ca, ⁵²Cr, ⁵⁵Mn, ⁵⁶Fe, ⁶⁵Cu, ⁶⁶Zn, ⁷⁵As, ¹¹¹Cd and ²⁰⁸Pb. The elemental isotopes ⁴⁵Sc, ⁸⁹Y, ¹⁴¹Pr, ¹⁵⁹Tb and ¹⁷⁵Lu were used as internal standards (IS).

Calibration standards for FAAS analysis were prepared from QC Std 3 (100 mg/L) multielement standard solution (SCP Science, Baie-d'Urfé, Quebec, Canada). Calibration standards for ICP-MS analysis were prepared from a 10 mg/L multi-element standard solution (Periodic table mix 1, Sigma-Aldrich, Buchs, Switzerland). The IS solution was prepared by diluting the multi-element standard solution Periodic table mix 3 (10 mg/L, Sigma-Aldrich, Buchs, Switzerland) to obtain a final concentration of 100 μ g/L in 2% HNO₃. This solution was added to both samples and calibration standard solutions to obtain a final IS concentration of 10 μ g/L.

3.8.3. Bromine and iodine analysis

Dried samples (approximately 100mg) were weighed directly in borosilicate glass tubes (16x125 mm) previously washed with 0.5% (v/v) TMAH and rinsed with ultrapure water. Bromine and iodine extraction were performed according to the European Standard EN 15111:2007¹⁶⁸.

Bromine and iodine were analyzed by ICP-MS¹⁶⁹ using an iCAPTM Q instrument (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany) and the elemental isotopes ⁷⁹Br and ¹²⁷I were monitored. The ICP-MS instrument was equipped with a MeinhardTM TQ + quartz nebulizer (Golden, CO), a Peltier-cooled baffled cyclonic spray chamber, a standard quartz torch and standard twocone interface design (nickel sample and skimmer cones). High-purity argon (99.9997 %; Gasin, Portugal) was used as the nebulizer and plasma gas. The ICP-MS instrument operational parameters were as follow: RF power 1550 W; plasma gas flow (14 L/min); auxiliary gas flow (0.8 L/min); nebulizer flow rate (1.02 L/min). The internal standard (IS) used was the elemental isotope ¹²⁵Te and the standard solutions tellurium (TraceCERT[®], 1000 mg/L, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MA, USA), iodide and bromide (both TraceCERT[®], 1000 mg/L, Supelco, Bellefonte, PA) were used for the preparation of the internal standard and calibration standard solutions, respectively.

3.9. Statistical analysis

The statistical analysis was achieved using STATISTICA 7 (Stat-sof, Inc., USA, 2004) and the results were expressed as average \pm standard deviation.

To test the normality and homogeneity of variance of data, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov's test, and Cochran's C-test (Cochran C., Hartley, Bartlett) were used, respectively. Data that validated these assumptions were analysed by factorial ANOVA distribution using the Tukey HSD to determine the difference in the constituent's contents between species, drying procedure, and extracts (ethanolic and aqueous). For all statistical tests the significance level (α) was 0.05.

4. Results

4.1. Proximate composition

The results obtained regarding the proximate crude composition of the seaweed species *A. armata, A. taxiformis, C. abies-marina,* and *C. humilis,* either sun-dried or shade-dried, are exhibited in Table 4.1.

Table 4.1. Proximate crude composition (g/100g dry weight for ash, protein, moisture before and after homogenization and lyophilization, and insoluble, soluble and total dietary fibre) of the studied seaweed species (*Asparagopsis armata, Asparagopsis taxiformis, Cystoseira abies-marina, and Cystoseira humilis*) either sun-dried or dried in the shade.

Crude composition	Drying Procedure	Asparagopsis armata	Asparagopsis taxiformis	Cystoseira abies- marina	Cystoseira humilis
		(g/100g dw)	(g/100g dw)	(g/100g dw)	(g/100g dw)
Ach	Sun-dried	49.8 ± 1.0^{aA}	56.2 ± 1.0 ^{bA}	28.1 ± 2.5 ^{cA}	26.3 ± 1.2 ^{cA}
A511	Shade- dried	42.1 ± 0.3 ^{aB}	52.6 ± 1.3 ^{bA}	27.7 ± 1.9 ^{cA}	25.4 ± 1.5 ^{cA}
Protein	Sun-dried	10.7 ± 0.1 ^{aA}	13.1 ± 0.4 ^{bA}	3.5 ± 0.2^{cA}	3.7 \pm 0.1 ^{cA}
Fiotein	Shade- dried	12.1 ± 0.5 ^{aB}	11.1 ± 0.3ª ^B	3.8 ± 0.2^{bA}	3.8 ± 0.5^{bA}
Moisture (before homogenization and lyophilization) Moisture (after homogenization and lyophilization)	Sun-dried	10.4 ± 0.1^{aA}	8.4 ± 1.0^{aA}	9.7 ± 0.4^{aA}	14.4 ± 0.6 ^{bA}
	Shade- dried	12.1 ± 0.7 ^{aA}	7.7 ± 0.4^{bA}	6.4 ± 0.5^{bB}	11.2 ± 0.0 ^{aB}
	Sun-dried	3.3 ± 0.0^{aA}	5.3 ± 0.0^{bA}	6.2 ± 0.0^{cA}	4.5 ± 0.0^{dA}
	Shade- dried	6.2 ± 0.3^{aB}	$4.4 \pm 0.0^{\text{bB}}$	5.0 ± 0.0^{cB}	4.8 ± 0.1^{bcA}
Insoluble	Sun-dried	23.8 ± 4.3^{aA}	20.4 ± 0.0^{aA}	53.6 ± 3.6^{bA}	47.2 ± 3.0 ^{bA}
Fibre	Shade- dried	18.7 ± 5.2 ^{aA}	18.7 ± 9.7ªA	47.6 ± 3.1 ^{bA}	43.7 ± 3.0 ^{bA}
Soluble Dietary Fibre	Sun-dried	10.3 ± 5.9 ^{aA}	13.1 ± 0.0^{aA}	6.1 ± 3.4^{aA}	5.5 ± 3.4^{aA}
	Shade- dried	13.2 ± 4.6^{aA}	8.0 ± 4.3^{aA}	4.8 ± 3.9^{aA}	5.2 ± 5.5^{aA}
Total	Sun-dried	34.1 ± 10.2ª ^A	33.5 ± 0.0^{aA}	59.7 ± 7.0^{aA}	52.7 ± 6.4 ^{aA}
Fibre	Shade- dried	31.9 ± 9.7 ^{aA}	26.7 ± 14.0 ^{aA}	52.4 ± 7.0^{aA}	49.0 ± 8.5 ^{aA}

Data: average \pm standard deviation. Different lowercase letters in the same row represent statistical differences (p<0.05) between seaweed species. Different uppercase letters in the same column represent statistical differences (p<0.05) between drying procedures.

According to the ash content, the *Asparagopsis* genus has an overall higher concentration, since the results obtained for this genus were 50-120% higher than the results acquired for the *Cystoseira* genus, despite the drying method. Sun-dried *A. taxiformis* presented

the highest ash concentration, of $56.2 \pm 1.0 \text{ g/100g dw}$, with the shade-dried version being the second highest, with a concentration of $52.6 \pm 1.3 \text{ g/100g dw}$. As to the drying procedure, no significant differences were detected, despite the slightly superior concentrations in the sun-dried process.

As to the protein content, one can continue to observe that the concentration values are, once more, higher in the *Asparagopsis* genus, despite the drying method, and the highest protein concentration is 13.1 ± 0.4 g/100g dw, observed in sun-dried *A. taxiformis*. No effect of the drying procedure was detected either generally or for each seaweed species.

The moisture content decreased in a general way from before to after homogenization and lyophilization, as expected, as lyophilization is a process based on the removal of water through the sublimation process. It can be observed that, before homogenization and lyophilization, both *A. taxiformis* and *C. abies-marina* have a lower moisture content, when compared with *C. humilis* and *A. armata*, as well as the lowest moisture decrease, when observing the moisture content after homogenization and lyophilization. Sun-dried *C. humilis* has the highest moisture decrease, of approximately 69%. The macroalgae sun-dried *A. armata* presented the lowest moisture value, after homogenization and lyophilization.

Concerning the insoluble dietary fibre content, the genus *Cystoseira* as an overall superior concentration of 98-187%, when compared with the *Asparagopsis* genus. When observing the drying procedure variable, it is noticeable that all the four sun-dried macroalgae have a slightly higher insoluble dietary fibre concentration, despite the difference not being significative. Contrarily, in the soluble dietary fibre content, the genus *Asparagopsis* has a concentration 30-175% higher. When comparing the results for insoluble and soluble dietary fibre, it can be observed that the four species, either sun-dried or shade-dried, have a higher concentration of insoluble dietary fibre. As to the total dietary fibre, the *Cystoseira* genus as a general higher concentration. No significant differences were detected as to the drying procedure or regarding the genus and species.

4.2. Total polyphenol content

The results obtained regarding the total phenolic content of the seaweed species *A. armata*, *A. taxiformis*, *C. abies-marina*, and *C. humilis*, either sun-dried or shade-dried is exhibited in Table 4.2.

Extract	Drying Procedure	Asparagopsis armata	Asparagopsis taxiformis	Cystoseira abies-marina	Cystoseira humilis
		(mg GAE/100g dw)	(mg GAE/100g dw)	(mg GAE/100g dw)	(mg GAE/100g dw)
Aqueous -	Sun-dried	87 ± 8 ^{aA}	85 ± 4^{aA}	463 ± 13 ^{bA}	454 ± 74^{bA}
	Shade- dried	115 ± 16 ^{aA}	85 ± 7 ^{aA}	639 ± 113 ^{cA}	386 ± 123 ^{bA}
Ethanolic -	Sun-dried	134 ± 22 ^{aA}	123 ± 15 ^{aA}	176 ± 46^{aA}	471 ± 21 ^{bA}
	Shade- dried	169 ± 32 ^{aA}	141 ± 19 ^{aA}	598 ± 116 ^{bB}	678 ± 51 ^{bB}

Table 4.2. Total polyphenol content (in mg GAE/100g dw) measured in aqueous (Aq.) and ethanolic (Eth.) extracts of the studied seaweed species (*Asparagopsis armata, Asparagopsis taxiformis, Cystoseira abiesmarina,* and *Cystoseira humilis*) either sun-dried or dried in shade.

Data: average \pm standard deviation. Different lowercase letters in the same row represent statistical differences (p<0.05) between seaweed species. For each extract, different uppercase letters in the same column represent statistical differences (p<0.05) between drying procedures.

Concerning the aqueous extracts, seaweeds from the *Cystoseira* genus showed higher polyphenol levels than those from the *Asparagopsis* genus despite the drying method. When observing the results from the shade-dried procedure, *C. abies-marina* showed the highest polyphenol level, exceeding 600mg GAE/100g dw, when shade-dried. Results achieved with *Asparagopsis* did not surpassed 115mg GAE/100g dw. No effect of the drying procedure was detected either generally or for each seaweed species.

As to the ethanolic extracts, phenolic contents were higher than determined in the aqueous extracts in the case of *Asparagopsis* seaweeds. Despite this remark, one can continue to observe that there is still a visible difference between the phenolic contents obtained for the two genera, with exception of sun-dried *C. abies-marina*. Shade-drying enabled higher total polyphenol levels in the *Cystoseira* genus, reaching 598-678mg GAE/100g dw.

4.3. Antioxidant activity

The antioxidant activity of the studied seaweed species (*A. armata, A.taxiformis, C. abies-marina,* and *C. humilis*) either sun-dried or shade-dried, measured by the DPPH, FRAP, and ABTS methodologies is presented in Tables 4.3, 4.4, and 4.5, respectively.

Concerning the DPPH method, the drying procedure produced differences in the antioxidant activity of the aqueous extracts, concerning *C. abies-marina and A. taxiformis* (lower values in the shade-dried seaweed). In the sun-dried samples from the aqueous extracts, both *Cystoseira* species exhibited a very similar value, with higher DPPH values than *A. armata*, being

A. taxiformis intermediate. Concerning the shade-dried samples, the *C. humilis* corresponding extracts had a higher antioxidant capacity than the others, followed by *A. armata*.

Regarding the ethanolic extracts, it is observed a similar tendency of *Cystoseira* species to display higher antioxidant DPPH values, when compared with the *Asparagopsis* species. The highest values were measured for the sun-dried *C. humilis* and shade-dried *C. abies-marina*, whose DPPH inhibition corresponded to 0.19 ± 0.00 mg AA Eq/g dw and 0.20 ± 0.00 mg AA Eq/g dw, respectively. On the contrary, the ethanolic extracts of *A. taxiformis* showed the lowest DPPH values.

Table 4.3. Antioxidant activity as measured by DPPH (mg Ascorbic Acid Equivalent/100g dw) method in aqueous (Aq.) and ethanolic (Eth.) extracts of the studied seaweed species (*Asparagopsis armata, Asparagopsis taxiformis, Cystoseira abies-marina, and Cystoseira humilis*) either sun-dried or dried in shade.

Extract	Drying Procedure	Asparagopsis armata	Asparagopsis taxiformis	Cystoseira abies-marina	Cystoseira humilis
		(mg AA Eq/100g dw)	(mg AA Eq/100g dw)	(mg AA Eq/100g dw)	(mg AA Eq/100g dw)
Aqueous -	Sun-dried	0.09 ± 0.08^{aA}	0.21 ± 0.03^{abA}	0.33 ± 0.02^{bA}	0.32 ± 0.02^{bA}
	Shade- dried	0.16 ± 0.06^{abA}	0.06 ± 0.10^{aA}	0.11 ± 0.01 ^{aB}	0.28 ± 0.06^{bA}
Ethanolic -	Sun-dried	0.07 ± 0.01^{bA}	<lod< td=""><td>0.16 ± 0.00^{cA}</td><td>0.19 ± 0.00^{dA}</td></lod<>	0.16 ± 0.00^{cA}	0.19 ± 0.00^{dA}
	Shade- dried	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>0.20 ± 0.00^{dB}</td><td>0.07 ± 0.01^{cB}</td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>0.20 ± 0.00^{dB}</td><td>0.07 ± 0.01^{cB}</td></lod<>	0.20 ± 0.00^{dB}	0.07 ± 0.01 ^{cB}

Data: average \pm standard deviation. Different lowercase letters in the same row represent statistical differences (p<0.05) between seaweed species. For each extract, different uppercase letters in the same column represent statistical differences (p<0.05) between drying procedures. LOD stands for Limit Of Detection.

The contrast between the two seaweed genera is largely replicated by the FRAP method results of both types of extract. There is a stronger pre-eminence of *C. humilis* in the case of FRAP, since it yield the highest antioxidant activities in the aqueous extract of shade-dried samples $(151.0 \pm 18.4 \mu mol Fe^{2+} Eq/g dw)$ and sun-dried samples $(62.8 \pm 4.4 \mu mol Fe^{2+} Eq/g dw)$, as well as in the ethanolic extracts of sun- and shade-dried extracts, $75.3 \pm 3.14 \mu mol Fe^{2+} Eq/g dw$, and $248.9 \pm 4.4 \mu mol Fe^{2+} Eq/g dw$, respectively. According to the results obtained, *C. abies-marina* extracts generated second best activities, as measured by the FRAP method. The values for the *Asparagopsis* seaweed species were typically lower, with the highest value being $8.1 \pm 1.7 \mu mol Fe^{2+} Eq/g dw$ for *A. armata* in an ethanolic extract, shade-dried. The drying procedure only affected *Cystoseira* samples, but in a very consistent and clear way. Sun drying more than halved FRAP antioxidant activity.

Table 4.4. Antioxidant activity as measured by FRAP (μ mol Fe²⁺ eq./g dw) method in aqueous (Aq.) and ethanolic (Eth.) extracts of the studied seaweed species (*Asparagopsis armata, Asparagopsis taxiformis, Cystoseira abies-marina,* and *Cystoseira humilis*) either sun-dried or dried in shade.

Extract	Drying Procedure	Asparagopsis armata	Asparagopsis taxiformis	Cystoseira abies-marina	Cystoseira humilis
		(µmol Fe²+ Eq/g dw)	(µmol Fe²+ Eq/g dw)	(µmol Fe²+ Eq/g dw)	(µmol Fe²+ Eq/g dw)
Aqueous -	Sun-dried	4.6 ± 0.4^{aA}	4.0 ± 0.2^{aA}	50.4 ± 2.8^{bA}	62.8 ± 4.4^{bA}
	Shade- dried	5.4 ± 0.3^{aA}	3.9 ± 0.5^{aA}	114.2 ± 10.6 ^{bB}	151.0 ± 18.4 ^{cB}
Ethanolic -	Sun-dried	6.1 ± 4.3^{aA}	3.2 ± 3.8^{aA}	12.8 ± 0.2^{aA}	75.3 ± 3.1^{bA}
	Shade- dried	8.1 ± 1.7 ^{aA}	5.6 ± 0.7^{aA}	47.9 ± 7.8^{bB}	248.9 ± 4.4 ^{cB}

Data: average \pm standard deviation. Different lowercase letters in the same row represent statistical differences (p<0.05) between seaweed species. For each extract, different uppercase letters in the same column represent statistical differences (p<0.05) between drying procedures.

In the case of the ethanolic extracts, antioxidant activity measured by the ABTS method show trends similar to the DPPH and FRAP ones. In the aqueous extracts, the situation is almost opposite.

Indeed, the results obtained for the *Cystoseira* species in the ethanolic extracts are higher, expressing a greater antioxidant activity (as measured by the ABTS method) than those of the *Asparagopsis* species, regardless of the type of drying procedure. The antioxidant activity of the *Asparagopsis* species varies from $6.9 \pm 0.5\mu$ mol Trolox Eq/g dw to $14.1 \pm 0.9\mu$ mol Trolox Eq/g dw, while *Cystoseira* species varies from $28.2 \pm 4.3\mu$ mol Trolox Eq/g dw to $60.6 \pm 2.9\mu$ mol Trolox Eq/g dw. Hence, there is a sharp divide between both genera.

The discrepancy between genera is also verified in the aqueous extracts from the ABTS method. However, while no antioxidant activity was determined in the two *Cystoseira* species, ABTS values in the aqueous extracts of *A. armata* and *A. taxiformis* exceeded the corresponding values in the ethanolic extracts. Furthermore, whenever drying affected ABTS levels, sun-dried samples' values were 20-50% lower than the results of the shade-dried seaweed.

Table 4.5. Antioxidant activity as measured by ABTS (µmol Trolox Equivalent/g dw) method in aqueous (Aq.) and ethanolic (Eth.) extracts of the studied seaweed species (*Asparagopsis armata, Asparagopsis taxiformis, Cystoseira abies-marina, Cystoseira humilis*) either sun-dried or dried in shade.

Extract	Drying Procedure	Asparagopsis armata	Asparagopsis taxiformis	Cystoseira abies-marina	Cystoseira humilis
		(µmol Trolox Eq/g dw)	(µmol Trolox Eq/g dw)	(µmol Trolox Eq/g dw)	(µmol Trolox Eq/g dw)
Aqueous -	Sun-dried	18.8 ± 0.3 ^{cA}	14.3 ± 0.2^{bA}	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
	Shade- dried	18.8 ± 1.3 ^{bA}	17.6 ± 2.3 ^{bB}	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Ethanolic -	Sun-dried	6.9 ± 0.5^{aA}	8.7 ± 2.9^{aA}	28.2 ± 4.3^{bA}	59.2 ± 0.7 ^{cA}
	Shade- dried	14.1 ± 0.9 ^{aB}	9.7 ± 0.5^{aA}	57.3 ± 0.7 ^{bB}	60.6 ± 2.9^{bA}

Data: average \pm standard deviation. Different lowercase letters in the same row represent statistical differences (p<0.05) between seaweed species. For each extract, different uppercase letters in the same column represent statistical differences (p<0.05) between drying procedures. LOD stands for Limit Of Detection.

4.4. Beta-glucan (laminarin) content

Beta-glucan (or laminarin) is a water-soluble polysaccharide⁵⁵. It was first found in *Laminaria* species and is considered to be the food reserve of all brown algae¹¹. Their content can reach up to 32–35 %, w/dw¹⁷⁰.

The results obtained for *Cystoseira*, presented in Table 4.6, are justified by the fact that the genus *Cystoseira* does not belong to the group of brown seaweed genera that typically contain beta-glucan in their constitution. Therefore, the results are within expectations. On the contrary, the significant values in the two *Asparagopsis* species require further analysis. Floridean starch, a storage polysaccharide in red seaweeds, does not seem to be an interferent, since it is an α -1,4-glucosidic linked glucose homopolymer with α -1,6-branches²⁴, while beta-glucan is composed of β -(1 \rightarrow 3)-linked glucose, containing randomly β -(1 \rightarrow 6) intra-chain branching, with a ratio of approximately 3:1¹⁷⁰.

Table 4.6. Beta-glucan	content (in	%, dw) of	the stu	idied seaw	eed species	(Asparagopsis	armata,
Asparagopsis taxiformis,	Cystoseira	abies-marina	a, and	Cystoseira	humilis) eith	er sun-dried or	dried in
shade.							

Drying	Asparagopsis	Asparagopsis	Cystoseira	Cystoseira
Procedure	armata	taxiformis	abies-marina	humilis
_	[Beta-glucan]	[Beta-glucan]	[Beta-glucan]	[Beta-glucan]
	(%, dw)	(%, dw)	(%, dw)	(%, dw)
Sun-dried	0.72 ± 0.05^{cA}	0.39 ± 0.03^{bA}	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Shade- dried	0.25 ± 0.02^{bB}	$0.32 \pm 0.05^{\text{cB}}$	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>

Data: average \pm standard deviation. Different lowercase letters in the same row represent statistical differences (p<0.05) between seaweed species. Different uppercase letters in the same column represent statistical differences (p<0.05) between drying procedures. LOD stands for Limit Of Detection.

4.5. Anti-inflammatory content

The chosen seaweed species (*A. armata, A. taxiformis, C. abies-marina, and C. humilis*) either sun-dried or shade-dried were also studied with respect to the anti-inflammatory activity of their aqueous extracts, as shown in Table 4.7.

The aqueous extracts of *A. armata,* sun-dried and shade-dried, and sun-dried *C. abies-marina* does not have inhibitory capacity of COX-2. Within sun-dried samples, *Cystoseira humilis* has a 26 \pm 12% of inhibition of COX-2, with *Asparagopsis taxiformis* possessing approximately half of *C. humilis* inhibitory capacity. In the case of shade-dried samples, *C. humilis* had a higher anti-inflammatory activity — exceeding 30% of inhibition— than *A. armata*, being the other two species at an intermediate level. An effect of the drying procedure on this bioactivity was only observed in the case of *C. abies-marina*, suggesting a detrimental impact of sun-drying.

Table 4.7. Anti-inflammatory activity (% inhibition of COX-2) in aqueous extracts of the studied seaweed species (*Asparagopsis armata, Asparagopsis taxiformis, Cystoseira abies-marina, and Cystoseira humilis*) either sun-dried or dried in shade.

Extract	Drying Procedure	Asparagopsis armata	Asparagopsis taxiformis	Cystoseira abies-marina	Cystoseira humilis
		(% inhibition)	(% inhibition)	(% inhibition)	(% inhibition)
Aqueous -	Sun-dried	<lod< td=""><td>15 ± 5^{aA}</td><td><lod< td=""><td>26 ± 12^{aA}</td></lod<></td></lod<>	15 ± 5 ^{aA}	<lod< td=""><td>26 ± 12^{aA}</td></lod<>	26 ± 12 ^{aA}
	Shade- dried	<lod< td=""><td>16 ± 9^{abA}</td><td>13 ± 2^{abB}</td><td>37 ± 14^{bA}</td></lod<>	16 ± 9^{abA}	13 ± 2 ^{abB}	37 ± 14 ^{bA}

Data: average \pm standard deviation. Different lowercase letters in the same row represent statistical differences (p<0.05) between seaweed species. Different uppercase letters in the same column represent statistical differences (p<0.05) between drying procedures. LOD stands for Limit Of Detection.

4.6. Elemental Composition

The chosen seaweed species (*A. armata, A. taxiformis, C. abies-marina*, and *C. humilis*) either sun-dried or shade-dried were also studied regarding their elemental composition of the aqueous extracts, as shown in Table 4.8.

Concerning essential elements, in the Asparagopsis genus, iodine was the most abundant microelement and sodium the most abundant macro element. In the Cystoseira genus, iron presented the highest concentration regarding microelements, while potassium was the most abundant macro element. Besides that, it is the most abundant mineral found in *Cystoseira humilis* and *Cystoseira abies-marina*. In *Asparagopsis taxiformis* and *Asparagopsis armata*, iodine was the most abundant mineral, with concentrations ranging from 4645.3 ± 119.6 mg/kg dw to 5735 ± 49.2 mg/kg dw. Potassium shows a higher concentration in the *Cystoseira* genus, 37-42% more when compared to the *Asparagopsis* genus. However, the *Asparagopsis* genus are shown to be significantly richer in sodium, manganese, zinc, and bromine. Copper concentrations were similar in the four studied species, being equally found in a low quantity. Regarding contaminant elements, it is noted the high amount of arsenic found in *Cystoseira abies-marina*.

 $(332.2 \pm 11.1 \text{ mg/kg dw in } C. abies-marina sun-dried and 367.8 \pm 14.0 \text{ mg/kg dw in } C. abies-marina shade-dried. The lead and cadmium concentrations were similar in the four studied species, being equally found in a low quantity. In respect to the drying methods, there is no significant differences that suggest its effect on the results obtained.$

Table 4.8. Mineral composition obtained for aqueous extracts of the studied seaweed species (*Asparagopsis armata, Asparagopsis taxiformis, Cystoseira abies-marina,* and *Cystoseira humilis*) either sun-dried or dried in shade. Concentration of sodium (Na), magnesium (Mg), phosphorus (P), sulphur (S), potassium (K), calcium (Ca), chromium (Cr), manganese (Mn), iron (Fe), copper (Cu), zinc (Zn), arsenic (As), bromine (Br), cadmium (Cd), iodine (I) and lead (Pb) are displayed.

Minerals	Drying Procedure	Asparagopsis armata	Asparagopsis taxiformis	Cystoseira abies- marina	Cystoseira humilis
Na	Sun-dried	105.0 ± 4.1 ^{bA}	115.3 ± 3.0 ^{aA}	28.5 ± 0.6^{cA}	31.4 ± 0.2 ^{cA}
(g/kg dw)	Shade-dried	85.6 ± 0.7^{bB}	97.8 ± 0.7^{aB}	30.0 ± 0.7^{cA}	29.5 ± 0.1 ^{cA}
Mg	Sun-dried	9.8 ± 0.6^{bA}	9.2 ± 0.1^{bA}	7.0 ± 0.2^{aA}	12.6 ± 0.3 ^{cA}
(g/kg dw)	Shade-dried	9.5 ± 0.3^{bA}	9.2 ± 0.3^{bA}	7.2 ± 0.2^{aA}	11.7 ± 0.5 ^{cA}
Р	Sun-dried	2.1 ± 0.1 ^{aA}	1.7 ± 0.1 ^{bA}	0.5 ± 0.0^{dA}	0.6 ± 0.0^{cA}
(g/kg dw)	Shade-dried	2.0 ± 0.0^{aA}	1.7 ± 0.1 ^{bA}	0.3 ± 0.1 ^{dA}	0.6 ± 0.0^{cA}
S	Sun-dried	36.0 ± 1.5 ^{aA}	25.3 ± 0.7^{bA}	14.3 ± 0.4 ^{cA}	16.1 ± 0.6 ^{cA}
(g/kg dw)	Shade-dried	31.9 ± 0.8 ^{aB}	25.9 ± 0.9^{bA}	14.8 ± 0.3 ^{cA}	15.2 ± 0.4 ^{cA}
K	Sun-dried	14.2 ± 0.4^{aA}	14.7 ± 0.2 ^{aA}	71.0 ± 1.5 ^{cA}	64.1 ± 1.0 ^{bA}
(g/kg dw)	Shade-dried	13.5 ± 0.4^{aA}	14.0 ± 0.1 ^{aA}	65.8 ± 1.0 ^{bB}	65.1 ± 1.5 ^{bA}
Ca	Sun-dried	14.6 ± 0.6^{aA}	14.9 ± 0.9 ^{aA}	15.2 ± 0.6 ^{aA}	18.1 ± 0.7 ^{bA}
(g/kg dw)	Shade-dried	22.3 ± 0.5^{aB}	17.7 ± 1.2 ^{bcB}	16.2 ± 0.4 ^{cA}	18.7 ± 0.8^{bA}
Cr	Sun-dried	2.0 ± 0.3^{bA}	13.4 ± 0.6^{aA}	0.8 ± 0.0^{cA}	0.7 ± 0.0^{cA}
(mg/kg dw)	Shade-dried	5.8 ± 0.4^{aB}	5.0 ± 0.2^{aB}	0.8 ± 0.0^{bA}	0.8 ± 0.0^{bA}
Mn	Sun-dried	21.3 ± 1.5 ^{bA}	51.3 ± 4.8 ^{aA}	2.0 ± 0.1 ^{cA}	5.2 ± 0.6^{cA}
(mg/kg dw)	Shade-dried	36.9 ± 1.5 ^{aB}	27.4 ± 2.1 ^{bB}	2.2 ± 0.1 ^{cA}	4.8 ± 0.3^{cA}
Fe	Sun-dried	557.9 ± 54.1 ^{bA}	1705.8 ± 74.5 ^{aA}	168.8 ± 3.0^{dA}	294.8 ± 10.2 ^{cA}
(mg/kg dw)	Shade-dried	1073.0 ± 81.1 ^{aB}	917.7 ± 15.2 ^{bB}	188.0 ± 2.5 ^{cA}	280.1 ± 7.0 ^{cA}
Cu	Sun-dried	2.6 ± 0.1 ^{aA}	2.6 ± 0.1 ^{aA}	0.6 ± 0.0^{bA}	0.7 ± 0.1 ^{bA}
(mg/kg dw)	Shade-dried	3.5 ± 0.1 ^{aB}	2.1 ± 0.1 ^{bB}	0.7 ± 0.7^{cA}	0.8 ± 0.0^{cA}
Zn	Sun-dried	96.6 ± 2.8 ^{aA}	17.4 ± 0.3^{bA}	4.4 ± 0.1 ^{cA}	6.3 ± 0.3^{cA}
(mg/kg dw)	Shade-dried	36.3 ± 0.9 ^{aB}	11.2 ± 0.4 ^{bB}	4.7 ± 0.1 ^{cA}	6.3 ± 0.2^{cA}
As	Sun-dried	16.4 ± 0.8 ^{aA}	12.9 ± 0.1 ^{aA}	332.2 ± 11.1 ^{cA}	48.1 ± 1.2 ^{bA}
(mg/kg dw)	Shade-dried	18.5 ± 0.8 ^{aB}	11.3 ± 0.1 ^{aA}	367.8 ± 14.0 ^{cB}	58.9 ± 1.2 ^{bB}
Br	Sun-dried	32.6 ± 0.8^{bA}	52.2 ± 0.7 ^{aA}	0.6 ± 0.0^{cA}	0.8 ± 0.0^{cA}
(g/kg dw)	Shade-dried	59.2 ± 0.7 ^{aB}	45.5 ± 0.4^{bB}	0.4 ± 0.0^{cA}	0.9 ± 0.0^{cA}
Cd	Sun-dried	0.6 ± 0.0^{aA}	0.3 ± 0.0^{cA}	0.3 ± 0.0^{cA}	0.4 ± 0.0^{bA}
(mg/kg dw)	Shade-dried	0.5 ± 0.0 ^{aB}	0.3 ± 0.0^{bB}	0.2 ± 0.0^{bB}	0.4 ± 0.0^{aA}
l (ma/ka dw)	Sun-dried	4645.3 ± 119.6 ^{bA}	5735.7 ± 49.2 ^{aA}	88.4 ± 1.6 ^{cA}	103. 5 ± 3.3 ^{cA}
(mg/kg dw)	Shade-dried	5734.1 ± 54.4 ^{aB}	5122.4 ± 25.4 ^{bB}	47.0 ± 0.7^{cA}	99.6 ± 0.5^{cA}
Pb	Sun-dried	0.7 ± 0.0^{bA}	1.3 ± 0.0^{aA}	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
(mg/kg dw)	Shade-dried	1.8 ± 0.1 ^{aB}	1.7 ± 0.1 ^{aB}	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>

Data: average \pm standard deviation. Different lowercase letters in the same row represent statistical differences (p<0.05) between seaweed species. For each element and species, different uppercase letters in the same column represent statistical differences (p<0.05) between drying procedures. LOD stands for Limit Of Detection.
4.7. Bioaccessibility

4.7.1. Anti-inflammatory activity

The bioaccessibility of studied bioactives/bioactivities was determined. However, only anti-inflammatory activity was detected in the bioaccessible fractions of the seaweeds digested *in vitro*. Accordingly, anti-inflammatory activity bioaccessibility was calculated for the four seaweed species (*A. armata, A. taxiformis, C. abies-marina,* and *C. humilis*) either sun-dried or shade-dried (Figure 4.1). Both sun- and shade-dried *A. armata* as well as sun-dried *C. abies-marina* did not show any anti-inflammatory activity in their biomass (Table 4.7), thus this bioactivity was also not found in the respective bioaccessible fractions. Moreover, bioaccessibility factor was also zero for other samples (shade-dried *C. abies-marina* and both samples of *C. humilis*). Only *A. taxiformis* samples displayed anti-inflammatory activity in the bioaccessible fraction. This activity was similar in sun- and shade-dried samples and only slightly lower than the values prior to digestion, thus rendering bioaccessibility factors in the 90-100% interval.



Figure 4.1. Bioaccessibility of the anti-inflammatory activity in the studied seaweed species (Asparagopsis armata, Asparagopsis taxiformis, Cystoseira abies-marina and Cystoseira humilis) either sun-dried or dried in the shade.

4.7.2. Elemental Composition

The chosen seaweed species (*A. armata, A. taxiformis, C. abies-marina, and C. humilis*) either sun-dried or shade-dried were also studied with respect to bioaccessible elemental composition of their aqueous extracts, as shown in Table 4.9.

Concerning essential elements, bromine was the element found to have the highest bioaccessibility percentage on all four studied species, sun-dried and shade-dried, ranging from 84.0 ± 2.8% in sun-dried C. abies-marina to 101.5 ± 0.7% in C. shade-dried abies-marina. Besides that, high percentages were also obtained for magnesium and iodine. The Asparagopsis genus presented high values concerning calcium (28.5 ± 4.9-40.0 ± 9.9%). In contrast, the Cystoseira genus presented low results for calcium. Zinc and iron also presented low bioaccessibility percentages for the four seaweed species. The value obtained for zinc bioaccessibility with respect to sun-dried A. armata – $38.5 \pm 2.1\%$ – is in disagreement with the remaining values obtained for this element $-0.0 \pm 0.0\%$. The values attained for copper were significant in the Asparagopsis genus (37.5 ± 7.8-40.0 ± 5.7%), but low in the Cystoseira genus. Regarding contaminant elements, arsenic displays high results in all four seaweed species, ranging from 55.0 ± 2.8% in shade-dried C. humilis to 86.5 ± 0.7% in shade-dried A. taxiformis. Cadmium also shows high percentages in the four seaweeds, from 33.5 ± 0.7% in shade-dried C. humilis to 67.5 ± 2.1% in sun-dried A. taxiformis. Lead presented low concentrations in the four seaweeds studied. With respect to the drying methods, there are few significant differences that suggest its influence in the results obtained.

Table 4.9. Elemental bioaccessibility obtained for aqueous extracts after *in vitro* digestion. Of the studied seaweed species (*Asparagopsis armata, Asparagopsis taxiformis, Cystoseira abies-marina, and Cystoseira humilis*) either sun-dried or dried in the shade.

Minerals	Drying Procedure	Asparagopsis armata	Asparagopsis taxiformis	Cystoseira abies- marina	Cystoseira humilis
		(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
Mg	Sun-dried	63.5 ± 3.5 ^{aA}	67.5 ± 7.8 ^{aA}	58.5 ± 0.7 ^{aA}	63.5 ± 0.7^{aA}
	Shade-dried	62.5 ± 2.1 ^{abA}	70.5 ±0.7 ^{aA}	55.5 ± 0.7 ^{bA}	63.5 ± 0.7^{abA}
S	Sun-dried	33.0 ± 1.4^{aA}	48.0 ±8.5 ^{aA}	34.0 ± 4.2^{aA}	40.0 ± 1.4^{aA}
	Shade-dried	45.0 ± 0.0^{aA}	44.0 ±2.8 ^{aA}	26.5 ± 2.1 ^{bA}	35.5 ± 3.5^{abA}
Ca	Sun-dried	28.5 ± 4.9^{abA}	40.0 ±9.9 ^{aA}	1.0 ± 1.4 ^{cA}	13.0 ± 0.0^{bcA}
	Shade-dried	30.0 ± 5.7^{abA}	38.0 ±1.4 ^{aA}	<lod< td=""><td>13.5 ± 2.1^{bcA}</td></lod<>	13.5 ± 2.1 ^{bcA}
Cr	Sun-dried	7.0 ± 4.2^{abA}	2.0 ±1.4 ^{abA}	4.0 ± 5.7^{bA}	6.0 ± 2.8^{bA}
	Shade-dried	21.0 ± 0.0^{aB}	4.5 ±0.7 ^{bA}	<lod< td=""><td>1.0 ± 1.4^{bA}</td></lod<>	1.0 ± 1.4 ^{bA}
Fe	Sun-dried	4.5 ± 0.7^{abA}	2.0 ±0.0 ^{bA}	3.5 ± 2.1 ^{abA}	6.0 ± 0.0^{aA}
	Shade-dried	3.5 ± 0.7^{abA}	4.0 ±0.0 ^{abA}	1.0 ± 0.0^{aA}	7.0 ± 1.4^{bA}
Cu	Sun-dried	40.0 ± 5.7^{aA}	37.5 ±7.8 ^{aA}	<lod< th=""><th><lod< th=""></lod<></th></lod<>	<lod< th=""></lod<>
	Shade-dried	38.0 ± 5.7^{aA}	38.5 ±12.0 ^{aA}	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Zn	Sun-dried	38.5 ± 2.1 ^{aA}	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
	Shade-dried	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
As	Sun-dried	76.5 ± 3.5 ^{aA}	82.5 ±10.6 ^{aA}	66.0 ± 8.5^{aA}	65.5 ± 2.1 ^{aA}
	Shade-dried	77.5 ± 2.1 ^{aA}	86.5 ±0.7 ^{aA}	67.5 ± 0.7^{abA}	55.0 ± 2.8 ^{bA}
Br	Sun-dried	89.0 ± 2.8^{aA}	94.0 ±5.7 ^{aA}	84.0 ± 2.8^{aA}	90.0 ± 1.4 ^{aA}
	Shade-dried	100.0 ± 0.0 ^{aB}	98.5 ±2.1 ^{aA}	101.5 ± 0.7 ^{aB}	91.0 ± 1.4 ^{aA}
Cd	Sun-dried	44.5 ± 2.1 ^{aA}	67.5 ±2.1 ^{bA}	50.0 ± 4.2^{aA}	43.5 ± 2.1 ^{aA}
	Shade-dried	46.5 ± 2.1 ^{bA}	65.5 ±2.1 ^{aA}	42.5 ± 0.7^{bcA}	33.5 ± 0.7 ^{cB}
Ι	Sun-dried	73.0 ± 2.8^{aA}	74.5 ±3.5 ^{aA}	35.5 ± 0.7 ^{cA}	49.0 ± 0.0^{bA}
	Shade-dried	76.0 ± 4.2^{aA}	64.5 ±0.7 ^{bB}	57.0 ± 0.0^{bB}	40.5 ± 2.1 ^{cA}
Pb	Sun-dried	<lod< td=""><td>5.5 ±0.7^{bA}</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	5.5 ±0.7 ^{bA}	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
	Shade-dried	3.5 ± 0.7^{bB}	8.5 ±0.7 ^{aA}	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>

Data: average \pm standard deviation. Different lowercase letters in the same row represent statistical differences (p<0.05) between seaweed species. For each element and species, different uppercase letters in the same column represent statistical differences (p<0.05) between drying procedures. LOD stands for Limit Of Detection.

5. Discussion

5.1. Proximate Composition

According to Kumar et al. (2011)¹⁷¹, the ash content in macroalgae can reach up to 55%, and the values obtained in the present work are in concordance with this observation. A study with Asparagopsis taxiformis collected in the Hawaiian islands report an ash content value of 36.0%¹⁷². Another study presents for *A. taxiformis* an ash value of 44.4% when collected in the Azores islands¹⁵². The values presented in literature are lower than the values obtained in this study (56.2 \pm 1.0 g/100g dw for sun-dried A. taxiformis and 52.6 \pm 1.3 g/100g dw for shade-dried A. taxiformis). Literature for Asparagopsis armata is very scarce, however, the values obtained for this macroalgae (49.8 \pm 1.0 g/100g dw for sun-dried A. armata and 42.1 \pm 0.3 g/100g dw for shade-dried A. armata) are in agreement with the literature presented for A. taxiformis. As for the Cystoseira genus, studies report an ash value of 23.9 g/100g dw for C. tamariscifolia and 20.4 g/100g dw for *C. humilis*, both collected in Portugal¹⁷³, while Fonseca et al. (2020)¹⁷⁴ reported a value of 25.2 ± 0.4 g/100g dw for sun-dried C. abies-marina. The results obtained in the present study for C. humilis and C. abies-marina agree with the literature presented. Other macroalgae from the order Fucales also present similar ash content - Fucus vesiculosus and Sargassum obtusifolium, with reported values of 30.10 \pm 0.20 g/100g dw⁹⁴ and 28.9 \pm 0.4 g/100g dw, respectively¹⁷².

The protein content, one of the major biochemical components of macroalgae, is variable, and the highest contents are generally found in green (Chlorophyta) and red (Rhodophyta) seaweeds (10-30% dw) in comparison to brown (Phaeophyceae) seaweeds (5-15% dw)¹⁷⁵.

Previous studies with *Asparagopsis taxiformis* show slightly higher protein levels - 18.7 \pm 0.1 g/100g dw, from macroalgae also collected in the Azores islands¹⁵² and 17.55 \pm 0.11 g/100g dw from macroalgae collected in the Madeira Archipelago¹⁷⁶ – when compared with the results obtained in this study (13.1 \pm 0.4 g/100g dw for sun-dried *A. taxiformis* and 11.1 \pm 0.3 g/100g dw for shade-dried *A. taxiformis*). A study with *Asparagopsis armata* reports a protein content of 18.3 g/100g dw¹⁵¹, a value also slightly higher than the results obtained (10.7 \pm 0.1 g/100g dw for sun-dried *A. armata* and 12.1 \pm 0.5 g/100g dw for shade-dried *A. armata*). Vizetto-Duarte *et al.* (2016)¹⁷³ presented a value of 10.34 g/100g dw, for *Cystoseira humilis* protein content and Fonseca *et al* (2020)¹⁷⁴ reported a protein content of 7.4 \pm 0.2 g/100g dw for sun-dried *Cystoseira abies-marina*. Both values are higher when compared with the values obtained for *C. humilis* and *C. abies-marina*, in the present work (Table 4.1). However, Catarino *et al.* (2018)⁷⁹ reported for the brown algae *Fucus vesiculosus* a range of 1-11 g/100g dw for protein content, meaning that, the values obtained were lower than expected but, nevertheless, similar values have been reported for brown algae.

The moisture content of fresh marine algae is very high and can account for up to 94% of the biomass⁸. Fresh *Cystoseira humilis* has a moisture content that reaches up to 57.06% ww¹⁷³ and *Asparagopsis taxiformis*, 90.4% ww¹⁷². When the macroalgae goes through a drying process, its moisture content decreases significantly. Literature presents a value of 4.50 ± 0.20 g/100g dw

for *Asparagopsis taxiformis* moisture content, after lyophilization¹⁷⁶. This value agrees with the results obtained (5.3 \pm 0.0 g/100g dw for sun-dried *A. taxiformis* and 4.4 \pm 0.0 g/100g dw for shade-dried *A. taxiformis*). The values attained for *Asparagopsis armata* (3.3 \pm 0.0 g/100g dw for sun-dried *A. armata* and 6.2 \pm 0.3 g/100g dw for shade-dried *A. armata*) also agree with the value present in literature for *A. taxiformis*. The higher values obtained for *A. armata* and *A. taxiformis* before lyophilization and homogenization, when compared with the results from after lyophilization and homogenization, are expected, as lyophilization is a process in which water is frozen, followed by its removal from the sample, initially by sublimation (primary drying) and then by desorption (secondary drying)¹⁷⁷. Fonseca *et al.* (2020)¹⁷⁴ presented a value for sun-dried *C. abies-marina* moisture content of 6.2 \pm 0.0 g/100g dw and *Sargassum muticum*, from the *order* Fucales, was reported to have a moisture content of 9.6 \pm 0.1 g/100g dw¹⁷⁵, values similar to those obtained for *Cystoseira humilis* and *Cystoseira abies-marina*, before lyophilization and homogenization and homogenization for *Sustaina* and *Sargasum muticum*.

The content of total dietary fibre in macroalgae may range from 33–50 g/100g dw⁷². Literature for *Asparagopsis taxiformis* shows a value for: insoluble dietary fibre of $15.7 \pm 0.7\%$ dw; soluble dietary fibre of $4.6 \pm 0.1\%$ dw; and total dietary fibre of $20.1 \pm 0.9\%$ dw¹⁵². Results obtained for *A. taxiformis* and *A. armata* are similar (Table 4.1), but slightly higher when compared with the values reported in literature. One can remove the possibility that the results are dissimilar due to variations in the determination method since the determination of dietary fibre in both cases was accomplished using the same enzymatic procedure (based on the kit from Megazyme). *Fucus vesiculosus*, from the *order* Fucales, is presented in literature with an insoluble dietary fibre content of $40.3 \pm 1.0\%$ dw, a soluble dietary fibre content of $9.8 \pm 0.8\%$ dw and a total dietary fibre content of $50.1 \pm 1.8\%$ dw⁷². Moreover, Fonseca *et al.* (2020)¹⁷⁴ reported for sun-dried *C. abies-marina* a total dietary fibre of 46.2 g/100g dw, a soluble dietary fibre of 1.8 g/100g dw and an insoluble dietary fibre of 44.4 g/100g dw. These values are similar to the values obtained for both *Cystoseira humilis* and *Cystoseira abies-marina* (Table 4.1), as no significant differences with respect to the drying method or in between *Cystoseira* species were observed.

5.2. Total polyphenol content

The phenolic content in macroalgae is not consistent since factors like habitat, maturity and time of the year are known to affect their bioactive compounds. This is shown by Chkhikvishvili & Ramazanov (2000)¹⁷⁸, that reported a range of 30-3,000mg GAE/100 g dw for phenolic contents in seaweed.

Values reported by Nunes et al. $(2018)^{179}$ for *Asparagopsis taxiformis* phenolic content – 470-620mg GAE/100g dw, when in aqueous extracts, and 1430-1710mg GAE/100g dw, in ethanolic extracts – are higher when compared with the results obtained in this study. However, the concentration of phenolic content attained for *A. taxiformis* in the ethanolic extracts is higher when compared with the aqueous extracts, as in the results presented in the current study. Moreover, results reported by Regal *et al.* (2020)¹⁵² are in the range of values obtained in this study, presenting a phenolic concentration of 119 ± 8mg GAE/100g dw for aqueous extracts and

a concentration of 49 ± 1 mg GAE/100g dw for ethanolic extracts, despite the results for the aqueous extracts being superior in this case.

In the case of *Asparagopsis armata*, literature presents results, using methanol and dichloromethane as solvents, with a phenolic content of 207 ± 0.6 mg GAE/100g dw and 1421 \pm 1.4 mg GAE/100g dw, respectively¹⁸⁰. The discrepancy observed supports the importance of the solvent choice.

Brown seaweeds are sometimes reported to have low phenolic content in the range of 25-218 mg GAE/100g dw, determined in aqueous extracts and using phosphate buffer (pH 7.0), as disclosed by Demirel *et al.* (2012)¹⁸¹. In the case of the *Cystoseira* genus, Fariman *et al.* (2016)¹⁸² reported for *C. indica* a range of 80-130g GAE/100g dw for aqueous extracts. Despite this results, Pinteus *et al.* (2017)¹⁸⁰ show that the *Cystoseira* genus may present very high phenolic contents (>1,000mg GAE/100 g dw in aqueous extracts), even surpassing the current study's results.

Furthermore, while for the red seaweed *Kappaphycus alvarezii* values were quite low, not exceeding 60mg GAE/100g dw¹⁸³, the comparison of *K. alvarezii* dried by different methods revealed higher phenolic content in shade-dried samples than in sun-dried ones. Such effect was only observed in the ethanolic extracts of the Azorean *Cystoseira* seaweeds.

The divergence of the phenolic content within the same species is presented in literature, through the comparison of different values obtained for the phenolic content of macroalgae. This variability may be related to UV radiation level variability (depending on geographic location and season), since higher UV exposure may lead to higher phenolic contents¹⁸⁴.

Concerning the drying process, it is stated that an intense and/or prolonged exposure to high temperatures may be responsible for a significant loss of natural antioxidants in raw materials from plants, as most of the compounds are relatively unstable¹⁸⁵. The decrease in phenolic content, after the drying process, can be ascribed to the binding of polyphenols with other compounds (e.g. proteins) or to alterations in their chemical structure. These findings are in concordance with results reported by other researchers, who suggested that polyphenols are thermolabile and irreversible chemical changes can occur in their content due to extended heat treatments¹⁸⁶. The sun-drying process may have further reduced the level of ethanol soluble phenolic substances in Cystoseira seaweeds. Sun-drying is strongly dependent on the weather and the length of the day. The phytochemical content might suffer a stronger reduction because of the long drying time (3 to 4 days under direct sunlight). Its slower drying rate also likely increased the leaching effect and prolonged exposure time to air. In literature, it is claimed that ascorbate, tocopherols and carotenoids are affected by dehydration, whether by sun or artificial heat sources, as a result of exposure to UV light, heat, and air¹⁸⁷. Nevertheless, Rajauria et al. (2010)¹⁸⁸ and Norra et al. (2017)¹⁸⁹ reported a substantial increase in the phenolic content and antioxidant activity when exposed to higher temperatures. The difference caused by the drying and its particular process, translated into the different values present in the literature related to the phenolic content, either leading to lower or unchanged levels, as in the current study, or to higher levels. As a result, further research is needed.

5.3. Antioxidant Activity

The combination of three different methods for the assessment of the antioxidant activity allows a broader knowledge of the antioxidant capacity of each macroalgae studied.

Concerning the DPPH method, there was a not inconsiderable antioxidant activity in the macroalgal extracts. Regal et al. (2020)¹⁵² disclosed for the aqueous extracts of Asparagopsis taxiformis values in the range of 14-46mg AA Eq/100g dw. The results obtained in this study for sun-dried A. taxiformis and shade-dried A. armata are in agreement with the presented results. Both types of extract of Cystoseira abies-marina are also in agreement with literature¹⁷⁴. Regarding Cystoseira humilis and Asparagopsis armata, there are no published results and, therefore, comparison is not possible. Literature concerning the FRAP method is more scarce, and if available, the few results are in agreement with the values obtained in the present study, as observed for C. abies-marina¹⁷⁴. Lastly, taking into account the ABTS method, Campos et al. (2019)¹⁹⁰ reported results analogous to the ones obtained in the present work. These authors reported higher ABTS values in the aqueous extracts than in the ethanolic extracts. Likewise, Regal et al. (2020)¹⁵² presented, for A. taxiformis, an aqueous extract with higher antioxidant activity (8.4 \pm 1.4µmol Trolox Eq/ g dw), as measured by ABTS, when compared with the ethanolic extract (2.6 \pm 0.4µmol Trolox Eq/ g dw). These values were lower for *A. taxiformis*, in comparison with the current study. In relation to C. abies-marina, the results presented by Fonseca et al. $(2020)^{174}$ for aqueous extracts – 43 ± 1µmol Trolox Eq/g dw – show a starker divergence when compared with the current ABTS results. These disagree with the phenolic content, DPPH, and FRAP results, which point to a strong antioxidant activity of the aqueous extracts of C. abiesmarina. Hence, further research is required.

In the present study, the drying method did not affect most results in these three methods, having a scarce influence. Despite, in most cases, the sun-drying method affected negatively the antioxidant activity (as it is measured by ABTS and FRAP), in the case of the DPPH method, there was an increase in the antioxidant activity when the macroalgae were exposed to sundrying, with respect to shade-dried samples. As previously mentioned in 5.2., Norra et al. (2017)¹⁸⁹ and Rajauria et al. (2010)¹⁸⁸ reported an enhancement of the antioxidant activity when the sun drying method was applied, contradicting the proposition that sun-drying lowers the antioxidant potential. According to Ling et al. (2015)¹⁸³, DPPH also yielded an higher antioxidant activity for K. alvarezii when sun-dried, thus opposing the variation measured by FRAP and ABTS. These two last methods largely agree with the phenolic content, just as in the current study¹⁸³. Therefore, it is possible that sun-drying may induce a steep reduction of the levels of some bioactive components in the seaweed biomass that affect antioxidant potential assessed by FRAP and ABTS, but may trigger the formation of other compounds that may enhance antioxidant activity measured by the DPPH methods. The results presented in the current study, on Azorean macroalgae, show substantial agreement in the antioxidant activity determined by different methods, especially if the aqueous extracts measured by ABTS are not considered in the comparison.

While FRAP only reflects antioxidants acting through single electron transfer, ABTS enables the evaluation of antioxidant activity by single electron transfer (direct reduction of ABTS⁺⁺) or radical quenching by hydrogen atom transfer¹⁹¹. In addition, ABTS has been deemed more sensitive than DPPH, being divergent results between these two methods a common finding¹⁹². Taking into account that the used methods – DDPH, FRAP and ABTS –, are not equivalent and reflect different antioxidant properties, the observed convergence in their results is significant. Furthermore, there was some degree of convergence of the antioxidant activity with the total phenolic content. Namely, higher values for the two *Cystoseira* species. Since phenolic compounds act as antioxidants through single electron transfer, FRAP may correlate with the concentration of phenolic substances in the seaweed biomass, which seems to be empirically supported by the current study's results. Likewise, Alcalde *et al.* (2019)¹⁹³ have observed a correlation between phenolic content and FRAP (R=0.92), thus suggesting that the two parameters provide similar information. For other antioxidant assays, poorer correlations were obtained, meaning that there were divergences. The differences in the sensitivities to compounds in the assays seem to underlie these observations¹⁹³.

5.4 Beta-glucan (laminarin) content

Beta-glucans are storage polysaccharides present in brown seaweed (e.g., *Laminaria* or *Saccharina* spp.) and their content can represent up to 32–35%, w/dw. They are linear polysaccharides composed of β -(1 \rightarrow 3)-linked glucose, containing randomly β -(1 \rightarrow 6) intra-chain branching, with a ratio around 3:1^{131,170}. The *Cystoseira* results obtained in this study are expected as this brown seaweed genus typically does not contain beta-glucan compounds. However, the significant values in the two *Asparagopsis* species require further study. Floridean starch, a storage polysaccharide in red seaweeds, does not seem to be an interferent, since it is an α -1,4-glucosidic linked glucose homopolymer with α -1,6-branches²⁴.

5.5. Anti-inflammatory activity

Studies that focus on the anti-inflammatory activity of macroalgae are relatively scarce and the methodologies used vary, including *in vitro* and *in vivo* assessments^{190,194-195}. The comparison of results, obtained from different studies, is, thus, difficult. Despite the complications, there are studies reporting anti-inflammatory activity in brown seaweeds ^{196,197}.

For instance, Yang *et al.* (2010)¹⁹⁷ reported anti-inflammatory activity in ethyl acetate extracts of *Petalonia binghamiae*. This macroalgae inhibited lipopolysaccharide-induced nitric oxide (NO) and prostaglandin E2 (PGE₂) production, and reduced lipopolysaccharide-induced expressions of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) at the protein level in a concentration-dependent manner. In another case, Kang *et al.* (2012) suggested that sargaquinoic acid, a compound isolated from *Sargassum siliquastrum*, a brown algae from the Sargassacea *family*, specifically prevents nitric oxide (NO) production in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated macrophages, via modulation of different signalling pathways.

Moreover, Oh *et al.* (2016)¹⁹⁸, reported that ethanolic extracts of *Sargassum serratifolium*, at low concentrations, efficiently inhibited the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines and inflammatory mediators. This inhibitory effect on the expression of inflammatory mediators suggested its potential as a therapeutic agent for treating neuroinflammatory diseases.

For the seaweed species selected to the current study, almost no literature is available. A study by Oumaskour *et al.* (2013)¹⁹⁹ measured anti-inflammatory activity through the inhibition rate of the phospholipase A2 enzyme. A dichloromethane/ methanol (50:50) *Asparagopsis armata* extract presented a 100% inhibition of phospholipase A2 activity. These results contrast with the results obtained in the present study, where *A. armata* shows an absence of inhibition of COX-2. The difference in the results obtained for the same macroalga species demonstrates that, just as with the antioxidant properties, a compound that as the capacity to hinder a specific enzyme, may be harmless to another enzyme.

As said before, there are a varied group of methodologies used for the determination of anti-inflammatory activity, and the ones presented above are different from the one used in the current study, where the activity of the enzyme COX-2 was reduced by inhibition.

The anti-inflammatory activity of green seaweeds was tested using the same method as in the present work, based on the inhibition of COX-2. The seaweed aqueous extracts (10% w/v) were dissolved in DMSO (1 mg/mL) and the COX-2 activity inhibition ranged between 31 and $45\%^{195}$. A COX-2 inhibition of $40 \pm 7\%$ by aqueous extracts of *Petalonia binghamiae* was also reported¹⁹⁰. These values are similar to those attained with the aqueous extracts of the Azorean *C. humilis*.

Once again, as observed in antioxidant activity, the sun-drying method did not induce much more damage when compared to the shade-drying method. It is possible to assume that the sun-drying method is not a determining factor in the anti-inflammatory bioactivity of the compounds present in the studied seaweeds, that is, they may be less susceptible to heat and UV light. Actually, there are many groups of compounds that display anti-inflammatory activity, such as phenolic compounds, carotenoids and quinones²⁰⁰. However, no correlation is observed between phenolic concentration in the aqueous extracts (Table 4.2) and their anti-inflammatory activity, so it is possible that other compounds, such as quinones, are responsible for the anti-inflammatory activity of *C. humilis* and other seaweed species^{200,201}.

5.6. Elemental Composition

Macroalgae are capable of accumulating minerals essential for human nutrition that are usually absent from freshwater and crops grown in soils deprived from minerals⁷⁸. However, it is important to analyse the mineral composition of seaweeds, since, when in excess, minerals can have toxic/poisoning effects.

Concerning the elemental composition, results found for the *Cystoseira* genus agree with the available literature, especially regarding the high potassium concentrations. More specifically, Vizetto-Duarte *et al.* (2016)¹⁷³ reported values between 16 g/kg dw and 60 g/kg dw for five *Cystoseira* species and Rupérez (2002)⁹⁴ reported a value of 85.5 g/kg dw for *Cystoseira trinodis*.

Values for calcium (9.43-26.5 g/kg dw), magnesium (5.7-18.5 g/kg dw) and sodium (7.6-16.4 g/kg dw) are also reported by Vizetto-Duarte *et al.* (2016)¹⁷³. The values obtained in the present work for the *Cystoseira* genus are within the ranges presented in literature for calcium and magnesium, but the results attained for sodium are higher, when compared with the literature presented. However, *Fucus vesiculosus*, a macroalga species from the order *Fucales*, is presented in literature with a sodium concentration of 54.6 g/kg dw⁹⁴, a value higher than those obtained for the *Cystoseira* genus. As for the *Asparagopsis* genus, values for calcium (6.1 g/kg dw)²⁰², potassium (14.7 g/kg dw) ²⁰², magnesium (8 g/kg dw)²⁰³ and sodium (66 g/kg dw)²⁰³, were also reported. The results presented for potassium and magnesium are in concordance with the results obtained for calcium and sodium are higher than the values in literature. The *Asparagopsis* genus shows high levels of sodium are higher than the values in literature. The *Asparagopsis* genus shows high levels of sodium in their constitution, varying from 85.6 ± 0.7 g/kg dw to 115.3 ± 3.0 g/kg dw. Even taking into account the issue of seaweed washing with either fresh or salt water, high sodium levels may be assumed as a weakness of seaweed consumption^{82,96}.

Moreover, values for iron, manganese, and zinc were reported by Vizetto-Duarte *et al.* (2016)¹⁷³. The iron results attained in this study for the *Cystoseira* genus are similar to the values presented in literature (109.6-508.1 mg/kg dw). However, the results obtained for manganese and zinc are lower than the results presented in literature (14.3-398.5 mg/kg dw for manganese and 9.4-720.5 mg/kg dw for zinc). Machado *et al.* (2014)²⁰² reported a sulphur value of 13.1 g/kg dw for *Cystoseira trinodis* and Rupérez (2002)⁹⁴ presented a value for copper concentration in *Fucus vesiculosus* (<5 mg/kg dw). These values agree with the results presented in this work for the *Cystoseira* genus. Roque *et al.* (2019)²⁰³ reported, for *A. taxiformis*, concentration values concerning zinc (23.7 mg/kg dw), iron (6241 mg/kg dw), manganese (112.7 mg/kg dw) and copper (8.7 mg/kg dw). The zinc concentration reported is in agreement with the values obtained in the present work, regarding *A. taxiformis* and *A. armata*; as for iron, manganese, and copper, the results obtained in the present study for *A. taxiformis* and *A. armata* are lower. Regarding phosphorus, this mineral is present in similar ranges in brown and red seaweeds, with different concentrations ranging from 0.5 to 7 g/kg dw⁸². The results obtained in the present work agree with the range presented.

Concerning the *Asparagopsis* genus, the iodine concentration values obtained in the present work are high, ranging from 4645.3 \pm 119.6 mg/kg dw to 5735 \pm 49.2 mg/kg dw. Nunes *et al.* (2018)¹⁷⁹ also reported an extremely high value for iodine concentration in *Asparagopsis taxiformis* (11600 \pm 300 mg/kg dw). The Scientific Committee on Food established an upper limit for iodine intake of 0.6 mg a day for adults⁹⁷, which means that with the high levels obtained for the *Asparagopsis* genus in the present work, an adult can only consume 0.11-0.13g a day of these seaweeds.

The high arsenic level found in *C. abies-marina* deserves a special attention. Fonseca *et al.* $(2020)^{174}$ also reported high values for sun-dried *C. abies-marina* (340 ± 0 mg/kg dw), also harvested in the Faial island (Azores Archipelago). Nevertheless, the results found in literature for arsenic concentration in seaweeds are generally much lower. For instance, *Cystoseira barbata*

harvested from different regions of the Black Sea, showed arsenic concentrations between 3.85 mg/kg dw and 5.55 mg/kg dw²⁰⁴. High arsenic levels were found, however, in *C. barbata* collected from the Venice lagoon (242 ± 104 mg/kg dw, with a maximum of 360 mg/kg dw), but those high levels are justified by the high pollution present in that area²⁰⁵. It has been claimed that *C. barbata* is an arsenic hyperaccumulating species (As contents exceeding 100 mg/kg dw). This may also apply to *C. abies-marina*. Considering this species was harvested in the Azores islands, a region that is not heavily polluted, further research, including arsenic speciation, is needed¹⁷⁴.

A higher content of sodium and potassium is usually found in algae, when compared with vegetables, but Na/K ratios found are lower. *A. armata* and *A. taxiformis* show a Na/K ratio between 2.3 and 7.4, while *C. humilis* and *C. abies-marina* show a 0.5 ratio. This is interesting from a nutritional point of view as it can be observed that the Na/K ratio found in the *Cystoseira* genus is below 1.0 and low ratios are shown to promote the decrement of blood pressure. However, the intake of diets with a high Na/K ratio have been related to hypertension^{95,206}. The values obtained for the *Cystoseira* genus are in agreement with the literature presented for five *Cystoseira* species $(0.15-0.97)^{173}$.

The Ca/Mg ratio is also important concerning calcium absorption as a deficient magnesium intake can lead to an excessive accumulation of calcium in soft tissues, consequently resulting in arthritis and appearance of kidney stones²⁰⁷⁻²⁰⁸. The Ca/Mg ratio in the *Asparagopsis* genus ranged from 1.5 to 2.3, while in the *Cystoseira* genus it ranged from 1.4 to 2.3. The low ratios found in all four seaweeds suggest that calcium and magnesium are present in similar concentrations.

Regarding contaminant elements, the European Commission Regulation set the maximum allowed levels of cadmium to be less than 3 mg/kg dw in food supplements that are exclusively or mainly composed of dried seaweed or seaweed-derived products⁹⁷ and established the maximum arsenic levels in complementary feed and/or a complete feed meal at 40 mg/kg and 10 mg/kg, respectively⁹⁸. Regarding cadmium, the four studied seaweeds show levels below the maximum allowed. However, concerning arsenic, only the *Asparagopsis* genus shows values below the maximum allowed for complementary feed. These results stand out because, as already mentioned, *A. taxiformis* shows anti-methanogenic activity and, according to Roque *et al.* (2019)¹⁵¹, the production of methane in cattle rumen can decrease up to 90% by incorporating 5% *A. taxiformis* organic matter in dairy cattle feed.

5.7. Bioaccessibility

5.7.1. Anti-inflammatory activity

Regarding the bioaccessibility of the anti-inflammatory activity, there are no published results that allow for a comparison with the results obtained in the present work, especially with the methodology used - inhibition of COX-2. A study with green seaweeds, using the same methodology, reported values not significantly different from zero for anti-inflammatory bioaccessibility, as *Chaetomorpha linum* presented the highest bioaccessibility, of approximately

30%¹⁹⁵. Low values were also observed in the present study regarding *Cystoseira* species. Thus, it is important to further analyse the high bioaccessibility results obtained for *A. taxiformis*.

Regarding *Cystoseira* species, preparation of more refined extracts for nutraceutical and pharmacological applications or seaweed processing through decoction to produce a tisane — especially in the case of *C. humilis*, which exhibited a substantial anti-inflammatory activity before digestion — may represent a solution to the poor bioaccessibility, thereby making the anti-inflammatory compounds available for absorption at the gastrointestinal tract.

5.7.2. Elemental Composition

The determination of elemental bioaccessibility in macroalgae is of great importance, mainly due to the possible presence of toxic elements, but also because of the many advantages of nutritionally important minerals and trace elements. Low bioaccessibility percentages were expected as the human digestive enzymes have an inability in breaking down the polysaccharides in algal cell walls.

lodine, bromine, magnesium, and cadmium showed the highest bioaccessibility percentages. The results for iodine concerning *A. taxiformis* are of interest since, as before mentioned, this macroalgae has a high concentration regarding this element and the upper limit established for iodine intake is only of 0.6mg a day for adults⁹⁷. In contrast, copper, zinc, and lead, regarding the *Cystoseira* genus, showed to be not bioaccessible. The discrepancy observed in the result presented for zinc regarding sun-dried *A. armata* (38.5 \pm 2.1% dw) may be due to a methodological error when analysing the sample. Arsenic showed a significant bioaccessibility percentage.

Desideri *et al.* $(2018)^{121}$ also reported high bioaccessibility values for cadmium and arsenic in two brown seaweeds – a cadmium bioaccessibility percentage of 91.0 ± 24.9% dw and an arsenic percentage of 45.9 ± 0.72% dw, were presented for *Aschophyllum nodosum*, while for *Fucus vesiculosus*, was reported a cadmium bioaccessibility percentage of 86.5 ± 16.6% dw and an arsenic percentage of 48.5 ± 2.9 %.

As for the low iron bioaccessibility, Boato *et al.* (2002)²⁰⁹ observed that fruit juices high in polyphenols content displayed limited bioavailability of iron by forming iron–polyphenol complexes, preventing absorption by the cells. Knowing that *C. abies-marina and C. humilis* have a high polyphenolic content, the low bioaccessibility of iron observed may be due to the formation of such complexes. To explain the low bioaccessibility of other minerals, Taboada *et al.* (2010)²⁰⁶ suggested that binding of certain minerals to the polysaccharides present in seaweeds may limit its absorption.

6. Conclusions and Future Perspectives

The analysis of bioactive contents and bioactivity levels in the samples of the four studied seaweed species - *Asparagopsis taxiformis*, *Asparagopsis armata*, *Cystoseira abies-marina* and *Cystoseira humilis* - subjected to alternative drying processes offered valuable insights regarding the nutraceutical and biotechnological potential of these undervalued marine resources.

The seaweeds from the Cystoseira genus showed high polyphenol levels (176-678mg GAE/100 g dw), which clearly surpassed those measured in the Asparagopsis genus regardless of the used drying process. This was partially reflected in the antioxidant activity, as determined by DPPH and FRAP methods, which pointed to a tendency for Cystoseira species to generate more antioxidant extracts. The influence of the drying technique upon the antioxidant activity was relatively limited, since in many instances there was no effect. In any case, there was substantial agreement in the antioxidant activity as determined by different methods, especially if the aqueous extracts measured by ABTS are excluded from the comparison. Concerning anti-inflammatory activity, sun-dried and shade-dried A. armata as well as sun-dried C. abies-marina did not show any inhibitory capacity of COX-2. In the case of shade-dried samples, C. humilis had a higher anti-inflammatory activity (>30 % COX-2 inhibition) than A. armata, being the other two species at an intermediate level. However, this activity in C. humilis was not rendered bioaccessible. Indeed, only A. taxiformis displayed anti-inflammatory activity in the bioaccessible fraction, leading to bioaccessibility factors in the 90-100% interval. Therefore, though bioactivities were higher in the studied species of the Cystoseira genus, Asparagopsis species and, in particular, A. taxiformis, also had a valuable bioactive potential. Sun-drying produced more negative effects than shade-drying, but these effects were not very extensive.

Minerals like bromine, magnesium, and iodine, showed high bioaccessibility in all four macroalgae. From the contaminant analyses, it can be stated that *Cystoseira abies-marina* displayed high levels of arsenic. Moreover, it is to note its high bioaccessibility values, which may be an additional concern.

Future work should aim at the preparation of more refined extracts or seaweed processing through decoction to produce a tisane as ways to improve bioaccessibility and ensure nutraceutical applications. Therefore, it would also be of interest to develop potential nutraceutical/functional products, as well as proceed with their bioaccessibility studies. Besides that, it would be relevant to specify arsenic in *C. abies-marina*, for a improved assessment of the risk related to this seaweed consumption, and proceed with a more in-depth analysis regarding *A. taxiformis* brominated compounds, such as bromoform, due to their anti-methanogenic activity. This specific research should include the identification and detailed quantification of these brominated compounds and the assessment of their bioaccessibility.

7. Bibliography

- Akaike, T. Springer Handbook of Marine Biotechnology. Marine Functional Food (Springer Dordrecht Heidelberg, 2015). doi:10.3920/978-90-8686-658-8
- Pereira, L. Edible Seaweeds of the World. Edible Seaweeds of the World (2016). doi:10.1201/b19970
- 3. Cox, S., Abu-Ghannam, N. & Gupta, S. An assessment of the antioxidant and antimicrobial activity of six species of edible Irish seaweeds. *Int. Food Res. J.* **17**, 205–220 (2010).
- Minhas, A., Kaur, B. & Kaur, J. Genomics of algae: Its challenges and applications. Pangenomics: Applications, Challenges, and Future Prospects (Elsevier Inc., 2020). doi:10.1016/b978-0-12-817076-2.00013-5
- Kuda, T., Taniguchi, E., Nishizawa, M. & Araki, Y. Fate of water-soluble polysaccharides in dried Chorda filum a brown alga during water washing. *J. Food Compos. Anal.* 15, 3–9 (2002).
- Murata, M. & Nakazoe, J. Production and Use of Marine Algae in Japan. JARQ 35, 281– 290 (2001).
- Pal, A., Kamthania, M. C. & Kumar, A. Bioactive Compounds and Properties of Seaweeds—A Review. *Open Access Libr. J.* 01, 1–17 (2014).
- Holdt, S. L. & Kraan, S. Bioactive compounds in seaweed: functional food applications and legislation. *J. Appl. Phycol.* 23, 543–597 (2011).
- 9. Wehr, J. D. Brown Algae. Freshwater Algae of North America (Elsevier Inc., 2003). doi:10.1007/0-387-28875-9_59
- Bold, H. C. (Harold C. & Wynne, M. J. Introduction to the algae: structure and reproduction. (Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, c1985., 1985).
- Gupta, S. & Abu-Ghannam, N. Bioactive potential and possible health effects of edible brown seaweeds. *Trends Food Sci. Technol.* 22, 315–326 (2011).
- Waghmode, A. V. & Kumbar, R. R. Phytochemical Screening and Isolation of Fucoxanthin Content of Sargassum ilicifolium. *Int. J. Pure Appl. Biosci.* 3, 218–222 (2015).
- 13. Ahn, M. J. *et al.* Inhibition of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase and protease by phlorotannins from the brown alga Ecklonia cava. *Biol. Pharm. Bull.* **27**, 544–547 (2004).
- Siamopoulou, P. *et al.* Diterpenes from the brown algae Dictyota dichotoma and Dictyota linearis. *Phytochemistry* 65, 2025–2030 (2004).
- 15. De Clerck, O., Bogaert, K. A. & Leliaert, F. Diversity and Evolution of Algae. Primary Endosymbiosis. Advances in Botanical Research **64**, (2012).
- 16. Usov, A. I. *Polysaccharides of the red algae. Advances in Carbohydrate Chemistry and Biochemistry* **65**, (Elsevier Inc., 2011).
- Yoon, H. S., Müller, K. M., Sheath, R. G., Ott, F. D. & Bhattacharya, D. Defining the major lineages of red algae (Rhodophyta). *J. Phycol.* 42, 482–492 (2006).
- Saunders, G. W. & Hommersand, M. H. Assessing red algal supraordinal diversity and taxonomy in the context of contemporary systematic data. *Am. J. Bot.* **91**, 1494–1507

(2004).

- 19. Percival, E. The polysaccharides of green, red and brown seaweeds: Their basic structure, biosynthesis and function. *Br. Phycol. J.* **14**, 103–117 (1979).
- Whistler, R. L. & BeMiller, J. N. Industrial Gums: Polysaccharides and Their Derivatives: Third Edition. Industrial Gums: Polysaccharides and Their Derivatives: Third Edition (Academic Press, 1993). doi:10.1016/C2009-0-03188-2
- 21. Silva, F. R. F. *et al.* Anticoagulant activity, paw edema and pleurisy induced carrageenan: Action of major types of commercial carrageenans. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **79**, 26–33 (2010).
- Carlucci, M. J., Ciancia, M., Matulewicz, M. C., Cerezo, A. S. & Damonte, E. B. Antiherpetic activity and mode of action of natural carrageenans of diverse structural types. *Antiviral Res.* 43, 93–102 (1999).
- Carlucci, M. J., Scolaro, L. A., Errea, M. I., Matulewicz, M. C. & Damonte, E. B. Antiviral activity of natural sulphated galactans on herpes virus multiplication in cell culture. *Planta Med.* 63, 429–432 (1997).
- 24. Yu, S. *et al.* Physico-chemical characterization of floridean starch of red algae. *Starch/Staerke* **54**, 66–74 (2002).
- 25. Kirst, G. O. Low MW carbohydrates and ions in rhodophyceae: Quantitative measurement of floridoside and digeneaside. *Phytochemistry* **19**, 1107–1110 (1980).
- Hon, D. N. S. Cellulose: a random walk along its historical path. *Cellulose* 1–25 (1994). doi:10.1007/BF00818796
- Chapman, D. & Chapman, V. Seaweeds and their Uses. London & New York: Chapman & Hall (1980). doi:10.7326/0003-4819-149-10-200811180-00010
- 28. Guiry, M. *et al.* Algaebase :: Listing the World's Algae. (1996). Available at: https://www.algaebase.org/. (Accessed: 9th April 2020)
- 29. Novaczek, I. A Guide to the Common Edible and Medicinal Sea Plants of the Pacific Islands. *Univ. South Pacific* (2001).
- Machado, L. *et al.* Identification of bioactives from the red seaweed Asparagopsis taxiformis that promote antimethanogenic activity in vitro. *J. Appl. Phycol.* 28, 3117–3126 (2016).
- Marino, F. *et al.* Preliminary study on the in vitro and in vivo effects of Asparagopsis taxiformis bioactive phycoderivates on teleosts. *Front. Physiol.* 7, 1–11 (2016).
- Bansemir, A., Blume, M., Schröder, S. & Lindequist, U. Screening of cultivated seaweeds for antibacterial activity against fish pathogenic bacteria. *Aquaculture* 252, 79–84 (2006).
- Woolard, F. X., Moore, R. E. & Roller, P. P. Halogenated acetic and acrylic acids from the red alga Asparagopsis taxiformis. *Phytochemistry* 18, 617–620 (1979).
- Ballesteros, E., Martin, D. & Uriz, M. J. Biological Activity of Extracts from Some Mediterranean Macrophytes. *Bot. Mar.* 35, 481–486 (1992).
- Zubia, M., Fabre, M. S., Kerjean, V. & Deslandes, E. Antioxidant and cytotoxic activities of some red algae (Rhodophyta) from Brittany coasts (France). *Bot. Mar.* 52, 268–277 (2009).

- Haslin, C., Lahaye, M. & Pellegrini, M. Chemical composition and structure of sulphated water-soluble cell-wall polysaccharides from the gametic, carposporic and tetrasporic stages of Asparagopsis armata Harvey (Rhodophyta, Bonnemaisoniaceae). *Bot. Mar.* 43, 475–482 (2000).
- Kraan, S. & Barrington, K. A. Commercial farming of Asparagopsis armata (Bonnemaisoniceae, Rhodophyta) in Ireland, maintenance of an introduced species? *J. Appl. Phycol.* **17**, 103–110 (2005).
- Genovese, G., Tedone, L., Hamann, M. T. & Morabito, M. The Mediterranean red alga Asparagopsis: A source of compounds against Leishmania. *Mar. Drugs* 7, 361–366 (2009).
- Bouhlal, R. *et al.* Antiviral activities of sulfated polysaccharides isolated from Sphaerococcus coronopifolius (Rhodophytha, Gigartinales) and Boergeseniella thuyoides (Rhodophyta, Ceramiales). *Mar. Drugs* 9, 1187–1209 (2011).
- Haslin, C., Lahaye, M., Pellegrini, M. & Chermann, J.-C. In Vitro Anti-HIV Activity of Sulfated Cell-Wall Polysaccharides from Gametic, Carposporic and Tetrasporic Stages of the Mediterranean Red Alga Asparagopsis armata. *Planta Med* 67, 301–305 (2001).
- Paul, N. A., De Nys, R., Steinberg, P. D., Nys, R. De & Steinberg, P. D. Chemical defence against bacteria in the red alga Asparagopsis armata: Linking structure with function. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* **306**, 87–101 (2006).
- Kolanjinathan, K., Ganesh, P. & Govindarajan, M. Antibacterial activity of ethanol extracts of seaweeds against fish bacterial pathogens. *Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci.* 13, 173– 177 (2009).
- Pereira, L. MACOI Portuguese Seaweeds Website. (2008). Available at: http://macoi.ci.uc.pt/spec_list_detail.php?spec_id=336. (Accessed: 11th November 2019)
- 44. Barreto, M. do C. *et al.* Macroalgae from S. Miguel Island as a potential source of antiproliferative and antioxidant products. *Arquipelago. Life Mar. Sci.* 53–58 (2012).
- Plaza, M., Amigo-Benavent, M., del Castillo, M. D., Ibáñez, E. & Herrero, M. Facts about the formation of new antioxidants in natural samples after subcritical water extraction. *Food Res. Int.* 43, 2341–2348 (2010).
- Ibañez, E., Herrero, M., Mendiola, J. M. & Castro-Puyana, M. Extraction and Characterization of Bioactive Compounds with Health Benefi ts from Marine Resources: Macro and Micro Algae, Cyanobacteria, and Invertebrates. Marine Bioactive Compounds: Sources, Characterization and Applications (2012). doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-1247-2
- 47. Ibtissam, C. *et al.* Screening of antibacterial activity in marine green and brown macroalgae from the coast of Morocco. *African J. Biotechnol.* **8**, 1258–1262 (2009).
- Jadida-morocco, E., Boujaber, N., Oumaskour, K., Etahiri, S. & Assobhei, O. Cytotoxic Activity of Some Marine Algae Collected from the Coast of Sidi bouzid (El Jadida-Morocco). *Int. J. Adv. Pharm. Res.* 4, 2542–2547 (2013).
- 49. Grina, F. *et al.* In vitro enzyme inhibitory properties, antioxidant activities, and phytochemical fingerprints of five Moroccan seaweeds. *South African J. Bot.* **128**, 152–

160 (2020).

- Belattmania, Z. *et al.* Potential uses of the brown seaweed Cystoseira humilis biomass: 2-Fatty acid composition, antioxidant and antibacterial activities. *J. Mater. Environ. Sci.* 7, 2074–2081 (2016).
- Belitz, H.-D., Grosch, W. & Schieberle, P. Food Chemistry. Encyclopedia of Microbiology (© Springer-Verlag, 2009). doi:10.1016/B978-012373944-5.00127-9
- Lee, J. B., Hayashi, K., Hashimoto, M., Nakano, T. & Hayashi, T. Novel antiviral fucoidan from sporophyll of Undaria pinnatifida (Mekabu). *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* 52, 1091–1094 (2004).
- Shao, P., Chen, X. & Sun, P. In vitro antioxidant and antitumor activities of different sulfated polysaccharides isolated from three algae. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* 62, 155–161 (2013).
- 54. Tseng, C. K. Algal biotechnology industries and research activities in China. *J. Appl. Phycol.* **13**, 375–380 (2001).
- 55. Nelson, T. E. & Lewis, B. A. Separation and characterization of the soluble and insoluble components of insoluble laminaran. *Carbohydr. Res.* **33**, 63–74 (1974).
- 56. Neyrinck, A. M., Mouson, A. & Delzenne, N. M. Dietary supplementation with laminarin, a fermentable marine β (1-3) glucan, protects against hepatotoxicity induced by LPS in rat by modulating immune response in the hepatic tissue. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* **7**, 1497–1506 (2007).
- 57. Devillé, C., Damas, J., Forget, P., Dandrifosse, G. & Peulen, O. Laminarin in the dietary fibre concept. *J. Sci. Food Agric.* **84**, 1030–1038 (2004).
- Anbuchezhian, R., Karuppiah, V. & Li, Z. Prospect of Marine Algae for Production of Industrially Important Chemicals. in *Algal Biorefinery: An Integrated Approach* 195–217 (Capital Publishing Company, 2016). doi:10.1007/978-3-319-22813-6
- 59. Davis, T. A., Volesky, B. & Mucci, A. A review of the biochemistry of heavy metal biosorption by brown algae. *Water Res.* **37**, 4311–4330 (2003).
- Kadam, S. U., Álvarez, C., Tiwari, B. K. & O'Donnell, C. P. Extraction of biomolecules from seaweeds. Seaweed Sustain. Food Non-Food Appl. 243–269 (2015). doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-418697-2.00009-X
- 61. Vo, T. S. & Kim, S. K. Fucoidans as a natural bioactive ingredient for functional foods. *J. Funct. Foods* **5**, 16–27 (2013).
- 62. Andrade, L. R. *et al.* Ultrastructure of acidic polysaccharides from the cell walls of brown algae. *J. Struct. Biol.* **145**, 216–225 (2004).
- D'Ayala, G. G., Malinconico, M. & Laurienzo, P. Marine derived polysaccharides for biomedical applications: Chemical modification approaches. *Molecules* 13, 2069–2106 (2008).
- 64. Qin, Y. Alginate fibres: an overview of the production processes and applications in wound management. *Polym. Int.* **57**, 171–180 (2008).
- 65. Yang, J. S., Xie, Y. J. & He, W. Research progress on chemical modification of alginate:

A review. Carbohydr. Polym. 84, 33–39 (2011).

- García, M. C. Drug delivery systems based on nonimmunogenic biopolymers. in Engineering of Biomaterials for Drug Delivery Systems: Beyond Polyethylene Glycol 317– 344 (2018). doi:10.1016/B978-0-08-101750-0.00012-X
- 67. Tai, C. *et al.* Use of anionic polysaccharides in the development of 3D bioprinting technology. *Appl. Sci.* **9**, 1–13 (2019).
- 68. De Ruiter, G. A. & Rudolph, B. Carrageenan biotechnology. *Trends Food Sci. Technol.* **8**, 389–395 (1997).
- Navarro, D. A. & Stortz, C. A. Microwave-assisted alkaline modification of red seaweed galactans. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 62, 187–191 (2005).
- Usov, A. I. Structural analysis of red seaweed galactans of agar and carrageenan groups. Food Hydrocoll. 12, 301–308 (1998).
- 71. The European Parliment and the Council of the European Union. REGULATION (EU) No 1169/2011 OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL of 25 October 2011 on the provision of food information to consumers, amending Regulations (EC) No 1924/2006 and (EC) No 1925/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council, an. Off. J. Eur. Union 18–63 (2011).
- 72. Rupérez, P. & Saura-Calixto, F. Dietary fibre and physicochemical properties of edible Spanish seaweeds. *Eur. Food Res. Technol.* **212**, 349–354 (2001).
- Goñi, I., Gudiel-Urbano, M., Bravo, L. & Saura-Calixto, F. Dietary modulation of bacterial fermentative capacity by edible seaweeds in rats. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 49, 2663–2668 (2001).
- Kuda, T., Goto, H., Yokoyama, M. & Fujii, T. Effects of Dietary Concentration of Laminaran and Depolymerised Alginate on Rat Cecal Microflora and Plasma Lipids. *Fish. Sci.* 64, 589–593 (1998).
- Goñi, I., Valdivieso, L. & Garcia-Alonso, A. NORI Seaweed Consumption Modifies Glycemic Response in Healthy Volunteers. *Nutr. Res.* 20, 1367–1375 (2000).
- Gudiel-Urbano, M. & Goñi, I. Effect of edible seaweeds (Undaria pinnatifida and Porphyra ternera) on the metabolic activities of intestinal microflora in rats. *Nutr. Res.* 22, 323–331 (2002).
- Dawczynski, C., Schubert, R. & Jahreis, G. Amino acids, fatty acids, and dietary fibre in edible seaweed products. *Food Chem.* **103**, 891–899 (2007).
- Bocanegra, A., Bastida, S., Benedí, J., Ródenas, S. & Sánchez-Muniz, F. J. Characteristics and nutritional and cardiovascular-health properties of seaweeds. *J. Med. Food* 12, 236–258 (2009).
- 79. Catarino, M. D., Silva, A. M. S. & Cardoso, S. M. Phycochemical constituents and biological activities of Fucus spp. *Mar. Drugs* **16**, (2018).
- Mišurcová, L., Machů, L. & Orsavová, J. Seaweed minerals as nutraceuticals. *Adv. Food Nutr. Res.* 64, 371–390 (2011).
- 81. Osredkar, J. & Sustar, N. Copper and Zinc, Biological Role and Significance of

Copper/Zinc Imbalance. J. Clin. Toxicol. 1-18 (2011). doi:10.4172/2161-0495.s3-001

- 82. Circuncisão, A. R., Catarino, M. D., Cardoso, S. M. & Silva, A. M. S. Minerals from macroalgae origin: Health benefits and risks for consumers. *Mar. Drugs* **16**, (2018).
- Sunda, W. G. & Huntsman, S. A. Iron uptake and growth limitation in oceanic and coastal phytoplankton. *Mar. Chem.* 50, 189–206 (1995).
- 84. Yruela, I. Copper in plants. Brazilian J. Plant Physiol. 17, 145–156 (2005).
- 85. Blossom, N. Copper in the Ocean Environment. Am. Chemet Corp. 1-8 (2007).
- Xu, Y., Shi, D., Aristilde, L. & Morel, F. M. M. Weak Organic Ligands Enhance Zinc Uptake in Marine Phytoplankton: Possible role of weak complexes. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 57, 293– 304 (2012).
- Santos, S. C. R., Ungureanu, G., Volf, I., Boaventura, R. A. R. & Botelho, C. M. S. Macroalgae Biomass as Sorbent for Metal Ions. Biomass as Renewable Raw Material to Obtain Bioproducts of High-Tech Value (Elsevier B.V., 2018). doi:10.1016/B978-0-444-63774-1.00003-X
- Haug, A. The Affinity of Some Duvalent Metals to Different Types of Alginates. *Acta Chem.* Scand. 8, 1794–1795 (1961).
- Christensen, B. E., Indergaard, M. & Smidsrød, O. Polysaccharide research in Trondheim. Carbohydr. Polym. 13, 239–255 (1990).
- Van Vlierberghe, S., Graulus, G. J., Samal, S. K., Van Nieuwenhove, I. & Dubruel, P. Porous hydrogel biomedical foam scaffolds for tissue repair. Biomedical Foams for Tissue Engineering Applications (Woodhead Publishing Limited, 2014). doi:10.1533/9780857097033.2.335
- 91. Morris, E. R., Rees, D. A., Robinson, G. & Young, G. A. Competitive inhibition of interchain interactions in polysaccharide systems. *J. Mol. Biol.* **138**, 363–374 (1980).
- Rees, D. A. Polysaccharide shapes and their interactions Some recent advances. *Pure Appl. Chem.* 53, 1–14 (1981).
- Vasconcelos, M. T. S. D. & Leal, M. F. C. Seasonal variability in the kinetics of Cu, Pb, Cd and Hg accumulation by macroalgae. *Mar. Chem.* 74, 65–85 (2001).
- 94. Rupérez, P. Mineral content of edible marine seaweeds. *Food Chem.* **79**, 23–26 (2002).
- Whelton, P. K. Sodium, Potassium, Blood Pressure, and Cardiovascular Disease in Humans. *Curr. Hypertens. Rep.* 16, (2014).
- Mozaffarian, D. *et al.* Global sodium consumption and death from cardiovascular causes.
 N. Engl. J. Med. **371**, 624–634 (2014).
- European Comisson. Commission Recommendation (EU) 2018/464 of 19 March 2018 on the monitoring of metals and iodine in seaweed, halophytes and products based on seaweed. Off. J. Eur. Union 78, 16–18 (2018).
- Comission, E. COMMISSION REGULATION (EU) No 744/2012 of 16 August 2012 amending Annexes I and II to Directive 2002/32/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council as regards maximum levels for arsenic, fluorine, lead, mercury, endosulfan, dioxins, Ambrosia spp., di. Off. J. Eur. Union 219, 5–12 (2012).

- Ungureanu, G., Santos, S., Boaventura, R. & Botelho, C. Arsenic and antimony in water and wastewater: Overview of removal techniques with special reference to latest advances in adsorption. *J. Environ. Manage.* **151**, 326–342 (2015).
- Reis, V. A. T. & Duarte, A. C. Analytical methodologies for arsenic speciation in macroalgae: A critical review. *TrAC - Trends Anal. Chem.* **102**, 170–184 (2018).
- 101. Wei, M. *et al.* Carcinogenicity of dimethylarsinic acid in male F344 rats and genetic alterations in induced urinary bladder tumors. *Carcinogenesis* **23**, 1387–1397 (2002).
- 102. Mandal, B. K. & Suzuki, K. Arsenic around the world: a review. *Talanta* **58**, 201–235 (2002).
- 103. Huff, J., Lunn, R. M., Waalkes, M. P., Tomatis, L. & Infante, P. F. Cadmium-induced cancers in animals and in humans. *Int. J. Occup. Environ. Health* **13**, 202–212 (2007).
- 104. Mergler, D. *et al.* Methylmercury exposure and health effects in humans: A worldwide concern. *Ambio* **36**, 3–11 (2007).
- 105. Lobo, V., Patil, A., Phatak, A. & Chandra, N. Free radicals, antioxidants and functional foods: Impact on human health. *Pharmacogn. Rev.* **4**, 118–126 (2010).
- Halliwell, B. How to characterize an antioxidant: an update. *Biochem. Soc. Symp.* 61, 73– 101 (1995).
- Chew, Y. L., Lim, Y. Y., Omar, M. & Khoo, K. S. Antioxidant activity of three edible seaweeds from two areas in South East Asia. *LWT - Food Sci. Technol.* 41, 1067–1072 (2008).
- Duan, X. J., Zhang, W. W., Li, X. M. & Wang, B. G. Evaluation of antioxidant property of extract and fractions obtained from a red alga, Polysiphonia urceolata. *Food Chem.* 95, 37–43 (2006).
- Matanjun, P., Mohamed, S., Mustapha, N. M., Muhammad, K. & Ming, C. H. Antioxidant activities and phenolics content of eight species of seaweeds from north Borneo. *J. Appl. Phycol.* 20, 367–373 (2008).
- 110. Wijesekara, I., Kim, S. K., Li, Y. X. & Li, Y. X. Phlorotannins as bioactive agents from brown algae. *Process Biochem.* **46**, 2219–2224 (2011).
- Sulaiman, C. T. & Balachandran, I. Total phenolics and total flavonoids in selected indian medicinal plants. *Indian J. Pharm. Sci.* 74, 258–260 (2012).
- Borges, I., Ferreira, I., Gomez, H., Chen, C.-Y. & Lima, G. Phenolic Compounds: Functional Properties, Impact of Processing and Bioavailability. *Intech* 1–24 (2017). doi:10.1016/j.colsurfa.2011.12.014
- 113. Piazzon, A. *et al.* Antioxidant activity of phenolic acids and their metabolites: Synthesis and antioxidant properties of the sulfate derivatives of ferulic and caffeic acids and of the acyl glucuronide of ferulic acid. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **60**, 12312–12323 (2012).
- 114. Tsao, R. Chemistry and biochemistry of dietary polyphenols. *Nutrients* **2**, 1231–1246 (2010).
- 115. Koivikko, R., Loponen, J., Pihlaja, K. & Jormalainen, V. High-performance liquid chromatographic analysis of phlorotannins from the brown alga Fucus vesiculosus.

Phytochem. Anal. 18, 326–332 (2007).

- Schoenwaelder, M. E. A. & Clayton, M. N. Secretion of phenolic substances into the zygote wall and cell plate in embryos of Hormosira and Acrocarpia (Fucales, Phaeophyceae). J. Phycol. 34, 969–980 (1998).
- Lopes, G. *et al.* Can phlorotannins purified extracts constitute a novel pharmacological alternative for microbial infections with associated inflammatory conditions? *PLoS One* 7, 1–9 (2012).
- Velderrain-rodríguez, G. *et al.* Effect of dietary fiber on the bioaccessibility of phenolic compounds of mango, papaya and pineapple fruits by an in vitro digestion model. *Food Sci. Technol.* 36, 188–194 (2016).
- Francisco, J. *et al.* Bioaccessibility of antioxidants and fatty acids from Fucus Spiralis. Foods 9, 1–12 (2020).
- Parada, J. & Aguilera, J. M. Food Microstructure Affects the Bioavailability of Several Nutrients. *J. Food Sci.* 72, 21–32 (2007).
- 121. Desideri, D., Roselli, C., Feduzi, L., Ugolini, L. & Meli, M. A. Applicability of an in vitro gastrointestinal digestion method to evaluation of toxic elements bioaccessibility from algae for human consumption. *J. Toxicol. Environ. Heal. - Part A Curr. Issues* 81, 212– 217 (2018).
- 122. Hlel, T. Ben *et al.* Polyphenols bioaccessibility and bioavailability assessment in ipecac infusion using a combined assay of simulated in vitro digestion and Caco-2 cell model. *Int. J. Food Sci. Technol.* 1–10 (2018). doi:10.1111/ijfs.14023
- Wells, M. L. *et al.* Algae as nutritional and functional food sources: revisiting our understanding. *J. Appl. Phycol.* 29, 949–982 (2017).
- 124. Afonso, C. *et al.* Evaluation of the risk/benefit associated to the consumption of raw and cooked farmed meagre based on the bioaccessibility of selenium, eicosapentaenoic acid and docosahexaenoic acid, total mercury, and methylmercury determined by an in vitro digestion mo. *Food Chem.* **170**, 249–256 (2015).
- Versantvoort, C. H. M., Oomen, A. G., Van De Kamp, E., Rompelberg, C. J. M. & Sips, A. J. A. M. Applicability of an in vitro digestion model in assessing the bioaccessibility of mycotoxins from food. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* **43**, 31–40 (2005).
- Afonso, C. *et al.* Composition and bioaccessibility of elements in green seaweeds from fish pond aquaculture. *Food Res. Int.* **105**, 271–277 (2018).
- 127. Debon, S. J. J. & Tester, R. F. In vitro binding of calcium , iron and zinc by non-starch polysaccharides. *Food Chem.* **73**, 401–410 (2001).
- 128. The Digestive System. (Encyclopædia Britannica, Inc., 2011).
- 129. Lucas-González, R., Viuda-Martos, M., Pérez-Alvarez, J. A. & Fernández-López, J. In vitro digestion models suitable for foods: opportunities for new fields of application and challenges. *Food Res. Int.* 423–436 (2018). doi:10.1016/j.foodres.2018.02.055
- 130. Cardoso, C., Afonso, C., Lourenço, H., Costa, S. & Nunes, M. L. Bioaccessibility assessment methodologies and their consequences for the risk -benefit evaluation of food.

Trends Food Sci. Technol. 1–19 (2014). doi:10.1016/j.tifs.2014.08.008

- 131. Fernández-García, E., Carvajal-Lérida, I. & Pérez-Gálvez, A. In vitro bioaccessibility assessment as a prediction tool of nutritional efficiency. *Nutr. Res.* **29**, 751–760 (2009).
- 132. Calvo-Lerma, J., Fornés-Ferrer, V., Heredia, A. & Andrés, A. In Vitro Digestion of Lipids in Real Foods: Influence of Lipid Organization Within the Food Matrix and Interactions with Nonlipid Components. *J. Food Sci.* 1–9 (2018). doi:10.1111/1750-3841.14343
- Ferrero-Miliani, L., Nielsen, O. H., Andersen, P. S. & Girardin, S. E. Chronic inflammation: Importance of NOD2 and NALP3 in interleukin-1β generation. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 147, 227–235 (2006).
- 134. Zitvogel, L., Kepp, O. & Kroemer, G. Decoding Cell Death Signals in Inflammation and Immunity. *Cell* **140**, 798–804 (2010).
- Feghali, C. A. & Wright, T. M. Cytokines involved in Acute and Chronic Inflammation. Front. Biosci. 2, 12–26 (1997).
- 136. Fernando, I. P. S., Nah, J. W. & Jeon, Y. J. Potential anti-inflammatory natural products from marine algae. *Environ. Toxicol. Pharmacol.* **48**, 22–30 (2016).
- 137. Vane, J. R. *et al.* Inducible isoforms of cyclooxygenase and nitric-oxide synthase in inflammation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **91**, 2046–2050 (1994).
- Wolf, A. M. *et al.* The kinase inhibitor imatinib mesylate inhibits TNF-α production in vitro and prevents TNF-dependent acute hepatic inflammation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **102**, 13622–13627 (2005).
- 139. Murakami, A. & Ohigashi, H. Targeting NOX, INOS and COX-2 in inflammatory cells: Chemoprevention using food phytochemicals. *Int. J. Cancer* **121**, 2357–2363 (2007).
- 140. Yoon, W.-J. *et al.* Suppression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, iNOS, and COX-2 expression by brown algae Sargassum micracanthum in RAW 264.7 macrophages. *EurAsian J. Biosci.* 130–143 (2009). doi:10.5053/ejobios.2009.3.0.17
- 141. Coussens, L. M. & Werb, Z. Inflammation and cancer. Nature 420, 860–867 (2002).
- 142. Xu, H., Tartaglia, L. A. & Chen, H. Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesity-related insulin resistance. *J. Clin. Invest.* **112**, 1821–1830 (2003).
- 143. Yuan, G., Wahlqvist, M. L., He, G., Yang, M. & Li, D. Natural products and antiinflammatory activity. *Asia Pac. J. Clin. Nutr.* **15**, 143–152 (2006).
- Jaswir, I. & Monsur, H. A. Anti-inflammatory compounds of macro algae origin: A review. J. Med. Plants Res. 5, 7146–7154 (2011).
- 145. Singh, G. Recent Considerations in Nonsteroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drug Gastropathy. *Am. J. Med.* **105**, 31S-38S (1998).
- 146. Montero, L., Herrero, M., Ibáñez, E. & Cifuentes, A. Separation and characterization of phlorotannins from brown algae Cystoseira abies-marina by comprehensive twodimensional liquid chromatography. *Electrophoresis* **35**, 1644–1651 (2014).
- 147. Bruno de Sousa, C. *et al.* Cystoseira algae (Fucaceae): update on their chemical entities and biological activities. *Tetrahedron Asymmetry* **28**, 1486–1505 (2017).
- 148. Manilal, A. et al. Bioactivity of the red algae Asparagopsis taxiformis collected from the

southwestern coast of India. Brazilian J. Oceanogr. 58, 93-100 (2010).

- Vedhagiri, K. *et al.* Antimicrobial potential of a marine seaweed Asparagopsis taxiformis against Leptospira javanica isolates of rodent reservoirs. *Ann. Microbiol.* 59, 1–7 (2009).
- 150. Manilal, A., Sujith, S., Selvin, J., Panikkar, M. V. N. & George, S. Anticoagulant potential of polysaccharide isolated from the Indian Red alga, Asparagopsis taxiformis (Delile) Trevisan. *Thalassas* 28, 9–15 (2012).
- Roque, B. M., Salwen, J. K., Kinley, R. & Kebreab, E. Inclusion of Asparagopsis armata in lactating dairy cows' diet reduces enteric methane emission by over 50 percent. *J. Clean. Prod.* 234, 132–138 (2019).
- 152. Regal, A. L. *et al.* Drying process, storage conditions, and time alter the biochemical composition and bioactivity of the anti-greenhouse seaweed Asparagopsis taxiformis. *Eur. Food Res. Technol.* **246**, 781–793 (2020).
- 153. AOAC. Official Methods of Analysis of the Association of Official Analytical Chemists. *Agric. Chem. Contam. Drugs* **1**, (1990).
- 154. Saint-Denis, T. & Goupy, J. Optimization of a nitrogen analyser based on the Dumas method. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **515**, 191–198 (2004).
- 155. Angell, A. R., Mata, L., de Nys, R. & Paul, N. A. The protein content of seaweeds: a universal nitrogen-to-protein conversion factor of five. *J. Appl. Phycol.* **28**, 511–524 (2015).
- Welton, T. Solvents and sustainable chemistry. *Proc. R. Soc. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.* 471, (2015).
- Singleton, V. L. & Rossi, J. A. Colorimetry of Total Phenolics With Phosphomolybdic-Phosphotungstic Acid Reagents. *Am. J. Enol. Vitic.* 16, 144–158 (1965).
- Lamuela-Raventós, R. M. Folin-Ciocalteu method for the measurement of total phenolic content and antioxidant capacity. *Meas. Antioxid. Act. Capacit. Recent Trends Appl.* 107– 115 (2017). doi:10.1002/9781119135388.ch6
- 159. Blois, M. S. Antioxidant determinations by the use of a stable free radical. *Nature* **181**, 1199–1200 (1958).
- 160. Kedare, S. B. & Singh, R. P. Genesis and development of DPPH method of antioxidant assay. *J. Food Sci. Technol.* **48**, 412–422 (2011).
- Miliauskas, G., Venskutonis, P. R. & Van Beek, T. A. Screening of radical scavenging activity of some medicinal and aromatic plant extracts. *Food Chem.* 85, 231–237 (2004).
- 162. Benzie, I. F. F. & Strain, J. J. The ferric reducing ability of plasma (FRAP) as a measure of 'antioxidant power': The FRAP assay. *Anal. Biochem.* 239, 70–76 (1996).
- Klajn, V. M., Gutkoski, L. C., Fiorentini, Â. M. & Elias, M. C. Compostos antioxidantes em aveia. *R. Bras. Agrociência* 18, 292–303 (2012).
- Re, R. *et al.* Antioxidant activity applying an improved ABTS radical cation decolorization assay. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 26, 1231–1237 (1999).
- 165. Garcia-Leis, A. *et al.* Catalytic effects of silver plasmonic nanoparticles on the redox reaction leading to ABTS+ formation studied using UV-visible and Raman spectroscopy. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **18**, 26562–26571 (2016).

- 166. Versantvoort, C., Kamp, E. van de & Rompelberg, C. *Development and applicability of an in vitro model in assessing the bioaccessibility of contaminants from food. RIVM report 320102002* (2004).
- Gatellier, P. & Santé-Lhoutellier, V. Digestion study of proteins from cooked meat using an enzymatic microreactor. *Meat Sci.* 81, 405–409 (2009).
- EN 15111:2007 Foodstuffs Determination of trace elements Determination of iodine by ICP-MS. Available at: https://standards.iteh.ai/catalog/standards/cen/9d0d78ee-dc99-47d1-807a-a4f7328e94dc/en-15111-2007. (Accessed: 9th March 2021)
- 169. Pinto, E., Ramos, P., Vital, C., Santos, A. & Almeida, A. Iodine levels in different regions of the human brain. *J. Trace Elem. Med. Biol.* **62**, 126579 (2020).
- Pérez, M. J., Falqué, E. & Domínguez, H. Antimicrobial action of compounds from marine seaweed. *Mar. Drugs* 14, 1–38 (2016).
- 171. Kumar, M. *et al.* Minerals, PUFAs and antioxidant properties of some tropical seaweeds from Saurashtra coast of India. *J. Appl. Phycol.* **23**, 797–810 (2011).
- McDermid, K. J. & Stuercke, B. Nutritional composition of edible Hawaiian seaweeds. J. Appl. Phycol. 15, 513–524 (2003).
- 173. Vizetto-Duarte, C. *et al.* Proximate biochemical composition and mineral content of edible species from the genus Cystoseira in Portugal. *Bot. Mar.* **59**, 251–257 (2016).
- 174. Fonseca, I. *et al.* Undervalued Atlantic brown seaweed species (Cystoseira abies-marina and Zonaria tournefortii): influence of treatment on their nutritional and bioactive potential and bioaccessibility. *Eur. Food Res. Technol.* (2020). doi:10.1007/s00217-020-03620-x
- 175. Rodrigues, D. *et al.* Chemical composition of red, brown and green macroalgae from Buarcos bay in Central West Coast of Portugal. *Food Chem.* **183**, 197–207 (2015).
- 176. Nunes, N., Ferraz, S., Valente, S., Barreto, M. C. & Pinheiro de Carvalho, M. A. A. Biochemical composition, nutritional value, and antioxidant properties of seven seaweed species from the Madeira Archipelago. *J. Appl. Phycol.* **29**, 2427–2437 (2017).
- Gaidhani, K. A., Harwalkar, M., Bhambere, D. & Nirgude, P. S. Lyophilization/ Freeze Drying - A Review. *World J. Pharm. Res.* 4, 516–543 (2015).
- Chkhikvishvili, I. D. & Ramazanov, Z. M. Phenolic Substances of Brown Algae and Their Antioxidant Activity. *Appl. Biochem. Microbiol.* 36, 289–291 (2000).
- 179. Nunes, N., Valente, S., Ferraz, S., Barreto, M. C. & Pinheiro de Carvalho, M. A. A. Nutraceutical potential of Asparagopsis taxiformis (Delile) Trevisan extracts and assessment of a downstream purification strategy. *Heliyon* 1–28 (2018). doi:10.1016/j.heliyon.2018.e00957
- Pinteus, S. *et al.* Cytoprotective effect of seaweeds with high antioxidant activity from the Peniche coast (Portugal). *Food Chem.* **218**, 591–599 (2017).
- Demirel, Z., Yildirim, Z. D., Tuney, I., Kesici, K. & Sukatar, A. Biochemical Analysis of Some Brown Seaweeds from the Aegean Sea. *Bot. Serbica* 36, 91–95 (2012).
- 182. Fariman, G. A., Shastan, S. J. & Zahedi, M. M. Seasonal variation of total lipid, fatty acids, fucoxanthin content, and antioxidant properties of two tropical brown algae (Nizamuddinia

zanardinii and Cystoseira indica) from Iran. J. Appl. Phycol. 28, 1323–1331 (2016).

- Ling, A. L. M., Yasir, S., Matanjun, P. & Bakar, M. F. A. Effect of different drying techniques on the phytochemical content and antioxidant activity of Kappaphycus alvarezii. *J. Appl. Phycol.* 27, 1717–1723 (2015).
- Bischof, K. *et al.* Ultraviolet radiation shapes seaweed communities. *Rev. Environ. Sci. Bio/Technology* 5, 1–450 (2006).
- 185. Tagliazucchi, D., Verzelloni, E., Bertolini, D. & Conte, A. In vitro bio-accessibility and antioxidant activity of grape polyphenols. *Food Chem.* **120**, 599–606 (2010).
- Mrad, N. D., Boudhrioua, N., Kechaou, N., Courtois, F. & Bonazzi, C. Influence of air drying temperature on kinetics, physicochemical properties, total phenolic content and ascorbic acid of pears. *Food Bioprod. Process.* **90**, 433–441 (2012).
- Klein, B. P. & Kurilich, A. C. Processing Effects on Dietary Antioxidants from Plant Foods. *HortScience* 35, 580–584 (2000).
- 188. Rajauria, G., Jaiswal, A. K., Abu-Ghannam, N. & Gupta, S. Effect of hydrothermal processing on colour, antioxidant and free radical scavenging capacities of edible Irish brown seaweeds. *Int. J. Food Sci. Technol.* **45**, 2485–2493 (2010).
- Norra, I., Aminah, A., Suri, R. & Zaidi, J. A. Effect of drying temperature on the content of fucoxanthin, phenolic and antioxidant activity of Malaysian brown seaweed, Sargassum sp. *J. Trop. Agric. Fd. Sc* 45, 25–36 (2017).
- Campos, A. M. *et al.* Azorean macroalgae (Petalonia binghamiae, Halopteris scoparia and Osmundea pinnatifida) bioprospection: a study of fatty acid profiles and bioactivity. *Int. J. Food Sci. Technol.* 54, 880–890 (2019).
- Prior, R. L., Wu, X. & Schaich, K. Standardized Methods for the Determination of Antioxidant Capacity and Phenolics in Foods and Dietary Supplements. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 53, 4290–4302 (2005).
- Martysiak-Zurowska, D. & Wenta, W. A comparison of ABTS and DPPH methods for assessing the total antioxidant capacity of human milk. *Acta Sci. Pol. Technol. Aliment.* 11, 83–89 (2012).
- Alcalde, B., Granados, M. & Saurina, J. Exploring the Antioxidant Features of Polyphenols by Spectroscopic and Electrochemical Methods. *Antioxidants* 8, 1–10 (2019).
- 194. Kang, G.-J. *et al.* Sargaquinoic acid isolated from Sargassum siliquastrum inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced nitric oxide production in macrophages via modulation of nuclear factor-κB and c-Jun N-terminal kinase pathways. *Immunopharmacol. Immunotoxicol.* **35**, 80–87 (2012).
- 195. Ripol, A. *et al.* Composition, Anti-inflammatory Activity, and Bioaccessibility of Green Seaweeds from Fish Pond Aquaculture. *Nat. Prod. Commun.* **13**, 603–608 (2018).
- 196. Montalvão, S. *et al.* Large-scale bioprospecting of cyanobacteria, micro- and macroalgae from the Aegean Sea. *N. Biotechnol.* **0**, 1–8 (2016).
- 197. Yang, E. J. et al. Anti-inflammatory Effect of Petalonia binghamiae in LPS-Induced Macrophages is Mediated by Suppression of iNOS and COX-2. Int. J. Agric. Biol. 12, 754–

758 (2010).

- 198. Oh, S.-J. *et al.* Anti-inflammatory Effect of Ethanolic Extract of Sargassum serratifolium in Lipopolysaccharide-Stimulated BV2 Microglial Cells. *J. Med. Food* **19**, 1023–1031 (2016).
- 199. Oumaskour, K., Boujaber, N., Etahiri, S. & Assobhei, O. Anti-inflammatory and antimicrobial activities of twenty-tree marine red algae from the coast of Sidi Bouzid (El Jadida-Morocco). *Int. J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci.* 5, 145–149 (2013).
- Máximo, P., Ferreira, L. M., Branco, P., Lima, P. & Lourenço, A. Secondary Metabolites and Biological activity of invasive macroalgae of southern Europe. *Mar. Drugs* 265, 1–28 (2018).
- 201. García, P. A., Hernández, Á. P., San Feliciano, A. & Castro, M. A. Á. Bioactive Prenyland Terpenyl-Quinones/ Hydroquinones of Marine Origin. *Mar. Drugs* **292**, 1–52 (2018).
- Machado, L., Magnusson, M., Paul, N. A., de Nys, R. & Tomkins, N. Effects of Marine and Freshwater Macroalgae on In Vitro Total Gas and Methane Production. *PLoS One* 9, 1– 11 (2014).
- 203. Roque, B. M. *et al.* Effect of the macroalgae Asparagopsis taxiformis on methane production and rumen microbiome assemblage. *Anim. Microbiome* **1**, 1–14 (2019).
- 204. Manev, Z., Iliev, A. & Vachkova, V. Chemical characterization of brown seaweed -Cystoseira barbata. *Bulg. J. Agric. Sci.* **19**, 12–15 (2013).
- 205. Caliceti, M., Argese, E., Sfriso, A. & Pavoni, B. Heavy metal contamination in the seaweeds of the Venice lagoon. *Chemosphere* **47**, 443–454 (2002).
- 206. Taboada, C., Millán, R. & Míguez, I. Composition, nutritional aspects and effect on serum parameters of marine algae Ulva rigida. *J. Sci. Food Agric.* **90**, 445–449 (2010).
- Walwadkar, S. D., Suryakar, A. N., Katkam, R. V., Kumbar, K. M. & Ankush, R. D. Oxidative stress and calcium-phosphorus levels in rheumatoid arthritis. *Indian J. Clin. Biochem.* 21, 134–137 (2006).
- Kozakai, T., Katoh, K. & Obara, Y. Magnesium increases calcium absorption mediated by transcellular transport in small intestine of goats and rats. *J. Anim. Feed Sci.* **13**, 277–280 (2004).
- Boato, F., Wortley, G. M., Liu, R. H. & Glahn, R. P. Red grape juice inhibits iron availability: Application of an in vitro digestion/Caco-2 cell model. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **50**, 6935–6938 (2002).

8. Annexes

Annex I – Reference to submitted paper (Phycological Research)

The Effect of Drying Process on Undervalued Brown and Red Seaweed Species: Bioactivity Alterations

Julião, D. R.ab, Afonso, C.bc, Gomes-Bispo, A.bc, Bandarra, N. M.bc, Cardoso, C.bc*

^a Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia da Universidade Nova de Lisboa, Largo da Torre, 2825-149 Caparica, Portugal; ^b Division of Aquaculture, Upgrading and Bioprospection (DivAV), Portuguese Institute for the Sea and Atmosphere (IPMA, IP), Rua Alfredo Magalhães Ramalho, 6, 1495-006 Lisbon, Portugal; ^c CIIMAR, Interdisciplinary Centre of Marine and Environmental Research, University of Porto, Rua dos Bragas 289, 4050-123 Porto, Portugal;

* Corresponding author Carlos Cardoso, phone number: (+351) 213027062, e-mail address: carlos_l_cardoso@hotmail.com, ORCID: 0000-0001-7273-0676

Abstract

The effect of drying on two brown seaweed (*Cystoseira abies-marina, Cystoseira humilis*) and two red seaweed species (*Asparagopsis armata* and *Asparagopsis taxiformis*) was evaluated using as touchstone relevant biological activities, such as antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties. Moreover, some significant bioactives, such as polyphenols and beta-glucans were determined.

Seaweeds from the *Cystoseira* genus showed high polyphenol levels (176-678 mg GAE/100 g dw), which clearly exceeded those determined in the *Asparagopsis* genus regardless of drying process. This was partially reflected in the antioxidant activity as measured by DPPH and FRAP methods, which showed that extracts from the *Cystoseira* species were often more antioxidant than those from *Asparagopsis* species. The influence of the drying technique upon the antioxidant activity was relatively limited, since in many instances there was no effect. Concerning anti-inflammatory activity, in the case of shade-dried samples, *C. humilis* had a higher activity (>30 % COX-2 inhibition) than *A. armata*. However, this activity in *C. humilis* was not rendered bioaccessible. Indeed, only *A. taxiformis* displayed anti-inflammatory activity in the bioaccessible fraction, leading to bioaccessibility factors in the 90-100 % range. Therefore, though bioactivities were higher in the *Cystoseira* species, *Asparagopsis* species also had a positive bioactive potential. Sun-drying produced more negative effects than shade-drying, but these effects were not very extensive.

Keywords: Asparagopsis armata; Asparagopsis taxiformis; Cystoseira abies-marina; Cystoseira humilis; biological activities; bioaccessibility;

Figure 8.1. First page of the document submitted to the journal of Phycological Research for publication.





Figure 8.2. Gallic acid calibration curve for polyphenol quantification, for the aqueous extract, obtained through solutions with concentrations of 0.01 mg/mL, 0.025 mg/mL, 0.05 mg/mL, 0.1 mg/mL, 0.2 mg/mL and 0.3 mg/mL.



Annex III

Figure 8.3. Gallic acid calibration curve for polyphenol quantification, for the ethanolic extract, obtained through solutions with concentrations of 0.01 mg/mL, 0.025 mg/mL, 0.05 mg/mL, 0.1 mg/mL, 0.2 mg/mL and 0.3 mg/mL.

Annex IV



Figure 8.4. Ascorbic Acid calibration curve for the DPPH assay, for the aqueous extracts, obtained through solutions with concentrations of 5 mg/L, 10 mg/L, 15 mg/L, 20 mg/L and 25 mg/L.



Annex V

Figure 8.5. Ascorbic Acid calibration curve for the DPPH assay, for the ethanolic extracts, obtained through solutions with concentrations of 5 mg/L, 10 mg/L, 15 mg/L, 20 mg/L and 25 mg/L.

Annex VI



Figure 8.6. Iron(II) sulphate calibration curve for the FRAP assay, for the ethanolic and aqueous extracts, obtained through solutions with concentrations of 250 μ M, 500 μ M, 1000 μ M, 1500 μ M and 2000 μ M.







9. Additional Information

During the elaboration of this project, I was given the possibility of co-authoring an article (Figure 8.2) that, despite having no direct contribution to the present work, helped me with the better understanding and execution of techniques also performed in this work.





Proceedings

Biopotential of Sea Cucumbers (Echinodermata) and Tunicates (Chordata) from the Western Coast of Portugal for the Prevention and Treatment of Chronic Illnesses ⁺

Alessio Carletti ^{12,4}, Carlos Cardoso ^{3,44}, Diana Juliao ³, Jorge L. Arteaga ^{8,4}, Paula Chainho ⁷, Maria Ana Dionísio ⁷, Sabrina Sales ³, Maria J. Gaudêncio ⁵, Inês Ferreira ³, Cláudia Afonso ^{3,4}, Helena Lourenço ³, M. Leonor Cancela ^{12,89}, Narcisa M. Bandarra ^{3,4} and Paulo J. Gavaia ^{1,2,4}

- ¹ Faculty of Biomedical Sciences and Medicine FCBM, University of Algarve, Campus de Gambelas, 8005-139 Faro, Portugal; a carletti91@gmail.com (A.C.); lcancela@ualg.pt (M.L.C.)
- ² Centre of Marine Sciences, University of Algarve, Campus de Gambelas, 8005-139 Faro, Portugal
- ³ Division of Aquaculture, Upgrading and Bioprospection, Portuguese Institute for the Sea and Atmosphere, IPMA, Avenida Alfredo Magalhães Ramalho, 6, 1495-165 Algés, Portugal; carlos.cardoso@ipma.pt (C.C.); dr.juliao@campus.fct.unl.pt (D.J.); sabrinadesouzasales@gmail.com (S.S.); is.ferreira@campus.fct.unl.pt (LF.); cafonso@ipma.pt (C.A.); narcisa@ipma.pt (N.M.B.)
- Interdisciplinary Centre of Marine and Environmental Research (CIIMAR/CIMAR), University of Porto, Rua dos Bragas 289, 4050-123 Porto, Portugal
- ⁵ Division of Environmental Oceanography, Portuguese Institute for the Sea and Atmosphere, IPMA, Avenida Alfredo Magalhães Ramalho, 6, 1495-165 Algés, Portugal; jloboarteaga@gmail.com (J.L.A.); mgaudencio@ipma.pt (M.J.G.)
- Marine and Environmental Sciences Centre (MARE), NOVA University of Lisbon, 2829-516 Caparica, Portugal
- ⁷ Faculty of Science, University of Lisbon, Campo Grande, 1749-016 Lisbon, Portugal; pmchainho@fc.uLpt (P.C);
- * Algarve Biomedical Center ABC, University of Algarve, Campus de Gambelas, 8005-139 Faro, Portugal
- 9 Centre for Biomedical Sciences CBMR, University of Algarve, Campus de Gambelas, 8005-139 Faro, Portugal
- * Correspondence: pgavaia@ualg.pt
- † Presented at the The 1st International Electronic Conference on Nutrients Nutritional and Microbiota Effects on Chronic Disease, 2–15 November 2020; A vailable online: https://iecn2020.sciforum.net/.
- ‡ Both authors contributed equally.
- Published: 30 October 2020

Abstract: In the present work we aimed at exploring the potential of two group of marine invertebrates—sea cucumbers (Echinodermata) and ascidians (Chordata) as sources of anti-Inflammatory, anti-oxidant and osteogenic compounds with potential to be used as pharmaceuticals and nutraceuticals for the treatment and prevention of chronic diseases. 24 extracts (ethanol, water & ethyl acetate) from 4 species of sea cucumbers and 4 species of tunicates, were produced and screened in vitro for their anti-inflammatory, antioxidant activities and in vivo for osteogenic activity through an assay using zebrafish larvae. Our results showed that ethanolic extracts presented antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity, which revealed to be stronger in the ascidians. The osteogenic activity, that provide evidences of the bioactive potential of these organisms in preventing chronic disorders causing low bone density, was found to be strong in one species of ascidians and 3 of holothurians. This study evidences the high potential of extracts from these marine organisms for using as nutraceuticals in the prevention of chronic bone disorders.

Figure 9.1. First page of the article of my co-authoring collaboration, published in Sciforum.